C-MER Medical Holdings Limited

CMER #EEEZLERAT
% i"% % ﬁ (Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

(RSB EAMAIINBRAE])
Stock Code RZA{L5% : 3309

c’o RUIERROBER

SHENZHEN C.K.) STOMATOLOGICAL HOSPITAL




Contents
B 4%

2 Corporate information
NEIER
4 Financial highlights
MBHE
6 Chairman’s statement
FREmE
9 Management discussion and analysis
EIRE atam M AT

36  Profile of directors, senior management and company secretary
B SAERERAFMENEE

45  Report of the directors
ExgWmE

81  Corporate governance report
PERERBE

98 Independent auditor’s report
B AZ B R

107 Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
a2 ElEK

109 Consolidated statement of financial position
e MR R

111 Consolidated statement of changes in equity
SAMBBBE

113 Consolidated statement of cash flows
FeBHeRER

115 Notes to the consolidated financial statements
fra SRR M EE

248 Financial information summary

MBEMRE



Corporate Information
RAREHR

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Dennis

(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. LI Xiaoting
Dr. LEE Yau Wing Vincent

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Rex AUYEUNG Pak-kuen (Vice Chairman)
Mr. MA Andrew Chiu Cheung

Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen

Mr. YIN Ke

BOARD COMMITTEES
Audit Committee

Mr. MA Andrew Chiu Cheung (Chairperson)
Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen
Mr. YIN Ke

Remuneration Committee

Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen (Chairperson)
Ms. LI Xiaoting
Mr. MA Andrew Chiu Cheung

Nomination Committee

Dr. Rex AUYEUNG Pak-kuen (Chairperson)
Mr. MA Andrew Chiu Cheung
Mr. YIN Ke

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

Ms. LI Xiaoting
Mr. CHAN Wa Ping

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. CHAN Wa Ping

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
22/F, Prince’s Building

Central

Hong Kong

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED FHHEEHFIZERERA A

Exg
HITHE

IR HE
(EERITRAL)
FH LT
FhBEE

BAUFATESE

B RS L (8L E)
E Pl
BRA A

EEgZEY
ENESE
SR S (/)
EHB L

BRA %

FMEES
EHBEL (TE)
FHERL
REZRS

N LA e )

FRELE
BRI e

RERR
FH BTt
PR e

DNEAMWE
PRE T 54

B B

7B £ LG & o6 B 5
LB

3 2B 3t H AT
E5

h

KFAB2218



REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681 Grand Cayman
KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS AND HEAD
OFFICE IN HONG KONG

Suite 1535, Central Building
1-3 Pedder Street
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman, KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

The Bank of East Asia, Limited

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

LEGAL ADVISOR ON HONG KONG LAWS

Fangda Partners

26th Floor, One Exchange Square
8 Connaught Place

Central, Hong Kong

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.cmermedical.com

STOCK CODE
03309

Corporate Information

DREEHR

AMREE

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681 Grand Cayman
KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

EETREXMWHBRAS

B
I 1-35%
REKE1535%F

RHBFETHERE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman, KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

ERAROBEERSE
EBTABLEETLERAT
a5

i

SRARER183

B M
1711712171655 48

FEAEREBAT

RBRTERAT
ERTT (B8) BIRAT
RBRATRHERA T
B TR RIT RN B IRA A
5 L ELRTERA
BEBLEER
a3 EL L

it

FR44 815 8 9%
RGES 152612

DA

www.cmermedical.com

R4 155
03309

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 ==& F3f



4

Financial Highlights
TSR

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
C-MER Medical Holdings Limited (the “Company”) reports the
annual consolidated results of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the "Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024,
together with the comparative figures for the year ended 31
December 2023.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

mEEEERER AR ([A2F])EF
(BB g ((EEg)BEhRELARTR
HEMB AR (FEIAER])EHZE2024F 12
A3BLEFENEZFRAEE EREE
2023F 12 A3 BIEFEMLEEF -

Revenue Wz
— Core medical service — L BERE
revenue Was
~ Sale of COVID-19 related — 4% COVID-19
medical consumables 1ERE B B
revenue Wiz
Gross profit E7
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(EE), /7
(Loss)/profit for the year RRAFERFEA
attributable to equity holders of ~ FE{5FE A
the Company (&) /F 8
Non-HKFRS Measures: FEBUBERE
ERFE
Adjusted gross profit ICREER 7
Adjusted profit for the year AR FE N 2
Adjusted profit for the year ERAERFEA
attributable to equity holders of  JEEATHEFR
the Company b 3
EBITDA EBITDA 4
Adjusted EBITDA AT EE EBITDA 5
Gross profit margin (%) EME(%)
Net profit margin (%) FREE (%)
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BEEE
For the year ended
HEUTEHILEE
2024 2023
2024 5% 20234
HK$000 HK$°000
FET FHET
1,913,162 1,923,964 (0.6%)
1,913,162 1,904,531 0.5%
= 19,433 (100.0%)
527,619 618,962 (14.8%)
(108,314) 86,335 (225.5%)
(135,163) 61,998 (318.0%)
596,901 610,833 (2.3%)
89,410 79,916 11.9%
58,723 55,579 5.7%
146,487 343,491 (57.4%)
344,211 335,794 2.5%
27.6% 32.2% (4.6 ppfEE D)
N/ATEHR 4.5% N/A 7~ i



Note:

With significant non-cash impairments recognised in 2024, we
define “adjusted gross profit” as gross profit adjusted by (1) the
impairments on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and other intangible assets and (2) the gross profit of the sales of
medical consumables segment in which we ceased the business
in the second half of 2023 due to relaxation of requirements for
COVID-19 testing in Hong Kong.

We define “adjusted profit for the year” as (loss)/profit for the year
adjusted by (1) the impairments on goodwill, property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and other intangible assets and (2)
the profit after tax of the sales of medical consumables segment.

We define “adjusted profit for the year attributable to equity
holders of the Company” as (loss)/profit for the year attributable
to equity holders of the Company adjusted by (1) the impairments
on goodwill, property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and other intangible assets attributable to equity holders of the
Company and (2) the profit after tax attributable to equity holders
of the Company of the sales of medical consumables segment.

We define “EBITDA” as earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation
and amortisation. The impairments on goodwill, property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets and other intangible assets are
included in the EBITDA.

We define "adjusted EBITDA” as EBITDA adjusted by (1) the
impairments on goodwill, property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and other intangible assets and (2) the profit before tax
of the sales of medical consumables segment.
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Chairman’s Statement
FERE

On behalf of the Board, | hereby present to our shareholders of
the Company the annual report of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2024.

In 2024, we faced various challenges such as complex global
macroeconomic environment, fluctuating consumer confidence,
and intense industry competition. Against this backdrop, the
Group insisted on prudent operations and meticulously refined
our business strategies to identify new avenues for growth within
the ever-evolving market landscape.

Leveraging C-MER’s brand, and professional and quality services,
we focused our “Bright Eyes & Shiny Teeth” development
strategy, thereby enhancing our presence as one of the leading
Hong Kong medical groups within the Guangdong-Hong Kong-
Macau Greater Bay Area (the “GBA"). In addition, we prioritized
our core segments and strengthened our operations at locations
close to the borders between Hong Kong and Shenzhen to
capture the trend of cross-border spending by Hong Kong citizens.
Despite the complex and dynamic business environment, potential
opportunities remained.

As a result of the improvement of the quality of the overall
business operations and better cost control, excluding the effect
of the non-cash impairment losses of HK$182.7 million, and
the profit from the sales of medical consumables segment (of
which we ceased the business in the second half of 2023 due to
relaxation of requirements for COVID-19 testing in Hong Kong)
the profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company (the
"adjusted profit for the year attributable to equity holders
of the Company”) amounted to HK$58.7 million (2023: HK$55.6
million), representing a year-on-year increase of 5.7%. Our
core medical service revenue increased by 0.5% to HK$1,913.2
million from HK$1,904.5 million in 2023. To share the results
with shareholders, the Board has resolved to recommend a
final dividend of HK2.0 cents per share for 2024, subject to the
approval of the Company’s shareholders at the annual general
meeting to be held on Monday, 19 May 2025.

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED FHHEEHFIZERERA A

AANEREREFTEMAMARBEIREEZE
BEEZE2024F 12 A3 BILFERNFR -

20245 RPHGREZ B MEMNE
REBRBERE HEERE LKA
UTEBRF -HUEEST SEERER
RE - BLFHERBRE  WETEHEL
MMSRIETPSHHNERRE -

BREABOMENEXEERE  HMAE
R (PR RS B RS D - E— TR TT
BPERBERAER ([KEBE)) FELE
BEBRSENTZED I BAEEH
REZOFRBEE  WINBRABER DR
MEBKLE EEFETRESHEENBE
BEBERFERSE BEEREBDA
FE -

PR A B BE 275 4 5B T 2 FE M N ok AR AR
Hl MR 182.7E BB LIRS REE
BYERBERERM»T (AEERE
COVID-19% R E 5k - ZnE 2R 2023F T
FFEE)NAEE  AREREREARE
HAE ((RABRKATREREAELSE
R FIE]) A58 7B BB T (20234 1 556
BEBT)  AHEES7% - HFIHZDO
BEREWARH2023FH1,9045HEE T
BREOS5%E19132H& BT BERKRE
NERR EFTTHREHRE2024FE
RERR B FH 2.0l - BEARABRER
202555198 (B8 —) R|ITHREEASF
ARG LHEBRSAEE -



STRIVED TO ENHANCE THE OPERATION
EFFICIENCY OF OUR OPHTHALMIC BUSINESS

As Hong Kong’s largest and one of the GBA leading ophthalmic
medical services chains with national presence, C-MER’s
ophthalmic business had been making strategic optimization,
with revenue of HK$1.37 billion in 2024, representing a year-on-
year decrease of 4.3% because of the weakening of the demand
of the refractive surgeries while the demand for eye diseases
remained strong. Hong Kong's ophthalmic business delivered solid
results and remained our largest source of revenue and profit with
revenue of HK$820.8 million in 2024 (2023: HK$841.1 million),
representing a year-on-year decrease of 2.4%. Mainland China’s
ophthalmic division continued to improve in operational efficiency,
resulting in a significant decrease in the losses thereof. In 2024,
excluding the effect of impairment losses, our segment loss in
our Mainland China ophthalmic business decreased to HK$47.1
million from the loss of HK$75.7 million in 2023.

DENTAL BUSINESS IN SHENZHEN CONTINUED
TO GROW AND FURTHER SOLIDIFYING THE
DEPLOYMENT IN MEDICAL DEMAND IN GBA

C-MER’s dental business had another very successful year in 2024
with revenue amounting to HK$507.3 million, representing a year-
on-year increase of 18.5%. Our dental operation in Shenzhen,
Shenzhen CKJ, continues to expand at Luohu, Futian and Liantang
ports in Shenzhen, including the expansion of the existing dental
hospital in Luohu and the planned opening of one more dental
clinic at Futian Port, which will be only 200 meters away from
the border crossing. In addition, Shenzhen CKJ acquired a dental
clinic chain at Liantang Port in January 2025, extending our
service network to another key passenger port. This will provide a
strong momentum for the future development of Shenzhen CKJ.
Effective from 14 August 2024, the elderly of Hong Kong can use
the elderly health care vouchers for their dental services provided
in our Shenzhen C.K.J Stomatological Hospital (% I % FE fi& O g
# Bt) under the “Elderly Health Care Voucher Greater Bay Area
Pilot Scheme”, establishing its vital role as one of the leading
medical institutions in promoting medical services integration
between Shenzhen and Hong Kong.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement

EREHRE

In Shenzhen, our Luohu hospital, with dental and multi-specialty
medical services, named C+ Health CKJ (Shenzhen) Hospital (%
I 7 EE B EPR), had its soft opening on 15 January 2025.
On top of dental and ophthalmic services, the hospital will also
provide specialised medical services such as medical imaging
and traditional Chinese medicine in its phase one operation to
meet the demand of elderly patients from Hong Kong, which
has been increasing under an ageing population. It will set a new
benchmark for the development of quality cross-border medical
services and driving further growth in our business.

INVESTMENT IN INNOVATION

We aim to continue investing in innovative healthcare solutions.
Following our successful investment in Belkin Vision Ltd, we will
seek additional opportunities that align with our expertise and
can add value to our business. Our equity investment in Health
Hope Pharma Limited also has a fair value gain in the other
comprehensive income amounting to HK$111.1 million with
reference to the share price of the Series A round of investment
of Health Hope Pharma Limited, which approximately US$18.6
million has been raised through the Series A round of investment
up to the date of this report. We will continue to invest in
businesses where we can contribute expertise and can add value
to the target business.

Lastly, | would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to all our
customers, shareholders, employees and business partners for
their unswerving support and trust over past years. We remain
committed to our “patients come first” motto, as we strive to
deliver high-quality medical services and generate returns for our
shareholders. Looking forward, we will leverage new opportunities
from the medical services integration between Shenzhen and
Hong Kong.

Chairman
Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Dennis
21 March 2025, Hong Kong
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW
Overview

As a result of the improvement of the quality of the overall
business operations and better cost control, excluding the
effect of the impairment losses and the profit from the sales of
medical consumables segment of which we ceased the business
in the second half of 2023 due to relaxation of requirements
for COVID-19 testing in Hong Kong, the profit attributable to
the equity holders of the Company (the “adjusted profit for
the year attributable to equity holders of the Company”)
amounted to HK$58.7 million (2023: HK$55.6 million). Our core
medical service revenue increased by 0.5% to HK$1,913.2 million
from HK$1,904.5 million in 2023. The total revenue of the Group
amounted to HK$1,913.2 million in 2024, as compared to the
revenue of HK$1,924.0 million in 2023 including the sales of
medical consumables segment.

In 2024, non-cash impairment charges were made in respect
of the goodwill, property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and other intangible assets of HK$182.7 million and
HK$15.0 million for certain hospitals and clinics in our Mainland
China ophthalmic business segment, and the oncology centre
in our HK medical business segment, respectively. Due to the
aforementioned impairments, the Group recorded a loss for the
year ended 31 December 2024 of HK$108.3 million (2023: profit
of HK$86.3 million).

Our cash flows from operations were healthy in 2024 with the net
cash generated from operating activities amounted to HK$283.1
million (2023: HK$361.2 million).

In order to share the results with shareholders, the Board has
resolved to recommend a final dividend of HK2.0 cents per share
for 2024 (2023: nil). The proposed final dividend is subject to the
approval of the Company’s shareholders at the annual general
meeting to be held on Monday, 19 May 2025.

We prioritized our core segments and strengthened our operations
at locations close to the borders between Hong Kong and
Shenzhen to capture the trend of cross-border spending by Hong
Kong citizens. In Shenzhen, our Luohu hospital with dental and
multi-specialty medical services, named C+ Health CKJ (Shenzhen)
Hospital (Il % £ & FE 2 % Fr), had its soft opening on 15
January 2025. We acquired a dental clinic chain in Liantang port
(¥ O &) in January 2025 and planned to open a new dental

clinic at Futian port.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENRR TN

In addition, the Group has been closely monitoring the market
condition and adjusting its business strategies and operations to
focus our priorities on our core business segments. In addition,
the Group also prudently manages its working capital to ensure a
healthy balance sheet.

Our operations in Hong Kong

Under the brand of “C-MER Dennis Lam (35 #K )", we offer
ophthalmic services of international calibre in treating a wide
range of common to rare and complex eye problems. In addition,
the Group operated (i) Champion Eye Centre Limited ("Champion
Eye”) (B R B 0 A R 2 Al), which has over 20 years of
history for offering ophthalmic services in Hong Kong; and (ii)
The Optometry (OPT) Centre Limited (“OPT"), an optometry
group that offers services in Hong Kong in the areas of myopia
control, optometry assessments and spectacles and contact lens
prescriptions in Hong Kong. In total, the ophthalmic and related
services network mainly included our five day surgery centres,
eight satellite clinics and eight optometry centres.

Since 2021, we started our dental, oncology and other medical
services business in Hong Kong which included six dental clinics,
two general practice clinics and an oncology centre as at 31
December 2024. Further, we started our clinical research business
in July 2022, which may bring us opportunities for collaboration
with different biotech companies for, among other things,
research and clinical work.

In addition, the Group was a distributor of COVID-19 related
medical consumables in Hong Kong in prior years. The revenue
from the sales of COVID-19 related medical consumables
decreased to zero in 2024 from HK$19.4 million in 2023 due to
the relaxation of requirements for COVID-19 testing in Hong Kong
and the Group ceased to distribute the relevant products in the
second half of 2023.

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED FHHEEHFIZERERA A
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Our operations in Mainland China

In Mainland China, during the year ended 31 December 2024,
our ophthalmic service network included ten eye hospitals in
Shenzhen (Futian and Baoan), Beijing, Shanghai, Guangzhou,
Zhuhai, Kunming, Huizhou, Jieyang, Foshan, an eye clinic in
Shenzhen (Nanshan) and two satellite eye clinics in Shanghai
mainly under the brand of “C-MER Dennis Lam (7 35 K I j%5)".
To improve the overall profitability and operational efficiency
of our Mainland China ophthalmic business, we ceased the
operation of the eye clinic in Shenzhen (Nanshan) in December
2024 and the eye hospital in Foshan in November 2024 mainly
because the investment stage was longer than expected with the
weaker than expected market sentiment. In the meantime, we
continued to optimize our organizational structure and refined our
management in operations. During the year ended 31 December
2024, excluding the effect of impairment losses, our segment loss
in our Mainland China ophthalmic business decreased to HK$47.1
million from the loss of HK$75.7 million in 2023.

In February 2022, we completed our investment of 61.5% equity
interest of Shenzhen C-MER Aikangjian Dental Group Co., Ltd.
(previously known as Shenzhen Aikangjian Group Co., Ltd.) (ZJI]
FIBERBEAOEEBEAR A A, previously known as F I E
FEfEE R £ B B R 2AA]) (“Shenzhen CKJ"), which became
a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. Shenzhen CKJ
has a dental hospital and 11 dental clinics in Shenzhen as at 31
December 2024. Benefitting from the robust demand for quality
dental services and the trend of cross-border consumption by
Hong Kong citizens in Shenzhen, the revenue of Shenzhen CKJ
experienced significant growth by 20.8% in 2024 to HK$464.6
million from HK$384.7 million in 2023. The depreciation of
Renminbi ("RMB") has affected our revenue growth when
reporting in Hong Kong dollar terms. In RMB terms, our revenue
of Shenzhen CKJ increased by 23.2% in 2024 as compared with
2023.

Shenzhen CKJ continues to expand at Luohu, Futian and Liantang
ports in Shenzhen, including the expansion of the existing dental
hospital in Luohu and the planned opening of one more dental
clinic at Futian Port, which will be only 200 meters away from the
border crossing. In addition, Shenzhen CKJ acquired a dental clinic
chain at Liantang Port in January 2025, extending our service
network to another key passenger port. This will provide a strong
momentum for the future development of Shenzhen CKJ.

EEENWRDWN

TER i ER

HE2024F12A31HIEFE - HMAESP
Bl b 1Y BR Bk AR 75 A8 4 B2 FE AL AR I (B
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BN BEBLUTREARBIER AR
FIN(EIL) B —RREIZ T A RN E
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BEEFEHFIELRE  HFR2024F
RAFIEFRIN (B REZANES B
2024F 11 A B ILRRIZIRMES =
ZREARMBRARENRES WA
RIEAR - E R - RPEEE AR
e ITRELEEE - #HE2024F12 A
BTHIEFE  MBBREBENZE B
KR B N R B S 9 BPET B R 2023 FF Y
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2023 F NN T 23.2% ©
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ZERT IR AR O FE 200K o AN - R
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, our segment profit
in our Mainland China dental business increased to HK$96.1
million from HK$83.4 million in 2023. In addition, there were pre-
operating expenses of HK$1.0 million in 2024 for the new dental
clinic at Futian Port, and 2 clinics with losses of HK$4.1 million in
2024 were closed to enhance the overall profitability.

As part of Cross-boundary Medical Collaboration under 2023
Policy Address of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
Government (the “"HK Government”), and as announced by
the HK Government on 19 February 2024, our Shenzhen C.K.J
Stomatological Hospital (RYIE FE 2 O R EPT) (the “Shenzhen
CKJ Hospital”) has been selected under the “Elderly Health Care
Voucher Greater Bay Area Pilot Scheme” (the “Pilot Scheme”) as
one of the seven medical institutions and the only dental hospital
in the Pilot Scheme in the Guangdong- Hong Kong-Macau
Greater Bay Area as trial service points where the elderly health
care vouchers can be used to cover the dental services provided,
and the allowed usage of elderly health care vouchers for the Pilot
Scheme commenced from 14 August 2024. From 14 August 2024
to 31 December 2024, the revenue from the use of Elderly Health
Care Vouchers was HK$15.1 million and the additional spending
from patients using Elderly Health Care Vouchers was HK$18.3
million.

On 5 February 2024, the Group entered into a strategic
agreement with Shenzhen Luohu District Government (% 311 Z& 4
[ BAT) in relation to the construction of a “Hong Kong- style”
private hospital near Shenzhen’s Luohu port (&4 O &= # = O
FEBL). It is expected that this hospital, which is within a five-
minute walk from the Luohu border land crossing, shall become
the first port hospital adopting Hong Kong-style medical services,
bringing Hong Kong’s healthcare management systems, medical
technologies and healthcare services serving residents of both
Shenzhen and Hong Kong. The hospital shall have departments
including dentistry, ophthalmology, medical imaging, health
check-ups, gynecology, traditional Chinese medicine, internal
medicine, surgery and urology and the Group intends to introduce
more departments in subsequent phases. The hospital operates
within a seven-storey building, having a gross floor area of over
10,000 sg. m. and had its soft opening on 15 January 2025.

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED FHHEEHFIZERERA A

HE2024F12A31HBIEFEE - HMAF
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Revenue Overview

The total revenue in 2024 amounted to HK$1,913.2 million
(2023: HK$1,924.0 million), representing a mild decrease of 0.6%
from 2023, due to the combined effect of (i) increase in the core
medical service revenue (comprising of provision of ophthalmic
services, provision of dental and other medical services and sales
of vision aid products) by 0.5% from HK$1,904.5 million in 2023,
reaching a record high of HK$1,913.2 million in 2024, but is
partially offset by the (i) reduction in revenue generated from sale
of COVID-19 related medical consumables to zero in 2024 from
HK$19.4 million in 2023.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of our revenue by
segment for the years indicated as a percentage of total revenue:

EEENWRDWN

KR

2024 FEV4E WS A 1,913.2 888 T (2023
F:192408 88 T) 2023 F B &R
1L06%  TTEPRUTEENGATE:
() 2024 F M IZ D BERB G (BIERME
RERS  RBRHIBREMEZRSE AR
HESRNEWER) Bl THm  A2023F
#91,904.58 BB LB K0.5% £ 2024 F 1)
1,913.2 B & BT - M (i) #5% COVID-19 48
BEEREMOKEB2023FEM 194888
LR E2024FHTEHIEH NG ©

TEREJNEMANRZEFERD HBE DK
A (AE AR B D HEROR) ¢

Year ended 31 December

BEZNRANHLEE

2024 2023
2024 F 2023

HKS$'000 HK$000 HK$000

FET FET FET
HK medical business ABBEEL 901,589 47.1 932,087 485  (30,498) (3.3)
Mainland China ophthalmic business 73 i 4 3 7% 546,993 286 587,710 305 (40,717) (6.9)
Mainland China dental business A IF B 7 464,580 243 384,734 200 79,846 20.8
Sales of medical consumables HEBBREM = - 19433 1.0 (19,433)  (100.0)
1,913,162 100.0 1,923,964 1000  (10,802) (0.6)

In Hong Kong, our operations consisted of the provision of medical
services (comprising of provision of ophthalmic services, provision
of dental and other medical services) and the related businesses
(including the sales of vision aid products), and the distribution
of COVID-19 related medical consumables. With a more cautious
spending trend in Hong Kong, our revenue from medical services
and related businesses derived from our operation in Hong Kong
decreased by 3.3% to HK$901.6 million (2023: HK$932.1 million),
which mainly included revenue from our ophthalmic business in
Hong Kong (including ophthalmic services and sales of vision aid
products in Hong Kong), which decreased by 2.4% to HK$820.8
million in 2024 (2023: HK$841.1 million). The revenue from the
sales of COVID-19 related medical consumables decreased to zero
from HK$19.4 million in 2023 due to relaxation of requirements
for COVID-19 testing in Hong Kong.

BRMEEEHESBRIERHEEERS (25
RERE - IREIRREMEERS) KE
BES (RIEEERTHPER) UED
$HCOVID-19IEREE B REN - (EZ R A HE
BEFEEE RAEBEBENEERS
LB EBWZERAD33%E01.6868E
JC (2023 : 93218 &EBT) - HHP &
BE24FKREAEARVEL (BREES
BIRERERS MEER W E D) AUk
R 2.4% F820.8F B T (20234 -
SAMTEBEBIIL) - AR EBMECOVID-19
B E Sk Rk E % COVID-19 iR B B A%
MHWEZEB2023FMI194FEB LRI E

S
=
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EEEFWE DN

Our revenue in the Mainland China was mainly derived from
our provision of ophthalmic services and dental services, and we
recorded an increase of 4.0% in 2024 to HK$1,011.6 million from
HK$972.4 million in 2023. In RMB terms, the revenue increased
by 6.1%.

We provided our ophthalmic services in Mainland China in our eye
hospitals, eye centres and clinics. The following table sets forth a
breakdown of our revenue of ophthalmic services by location for
the years indicated with changes in HK$ and RMB terms.

RMEERRAMOWZS EZREZMEEA
B RIRRE 815 Hﬂz/\mzowi
9724 H & L n4. o%izoz4¢E’J

1016 EEBITL UARBE Wit
T 6.1% °
RMEPEAMAREIEER - BEA LKL

THIRHERBMRE - TREIRARFE
BwE B D W RBHRG SR - A RA
BTTRAREIIRNES

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE

2024 2023 Change (%)

Location 2024 5 20234 28 (%)
(Date of commencement ith B HK$'000 HK$'000 in HKS terms in RMB terms
of operations) (I3 A #) FET FEL  WETIT UAREST
Shenzhen (March 2013) mﬂl\ (2013%3A) 239,717 276,631 (13.3) (11.6)
Beijing (January 2018) tR (201891 A) 97,386 100,166 2.8) (0.8)
Kunming (June 2019) H(2019¢6H) 67,555 67,614 .1 1.9
Shanghai (November 2019) 8201911 A) 44,541 53,107 (16.1) (14.5)
Zhuhai (December 2020) B (202012 A) 45,895 42,751 7.4 95
Guangzhou (April 2022) | (20224 A8) 26,921 22,697 18.6 21.0
Huizhou (March 2021) J 1(2021%3 A7) 12,337 12,017 2.7 4.7
Jieyang (August 2022) %Eﬁay—l (202248 A) 9,428 7,672 229 253
Foshan (August 2023) a%m (202348 A) 3,213 917 250.4 257.4
Fuzhou (March 2022) &M (202243 A) - 4,138 N/A N/A

546,993 587,710 (6.9) (5.1)

In Mainland China, local consumer spending remained subdued,
which mainly impacted our revenue from the refractive surgeries.
The revenue from our ophthalmic services in Mainland China
decreased by 6.9% in 2024 to HK$547.0 million from HK$587.7
million in 2023. In RMB terms, the revenue decreased by 5.1%.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, we provided our dental
services in Mainland China in the dental hospital and clinics in
Shenzhen under Shenzhen CKJ. Following the trend of cross-
border consumption by Hong Kong citizens in Shenzhen, the
growth was very strong and the revenue of Shenzhen CKJ soared
by 20.8% to HK$464.6 million in 2024 from HK$384.7 million in
2023.

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED FHHEEHFIZERERA A

PR AR A EER S IAKSS - Ex
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

We are an ophthalmic, dental and other medical service provider
in Hong Kong and Mainland China. Our ophthalmologists/
physicians are specialised in the fields of cataract, glaucoma,
strabismus and refractive surgeries and external eye diseases. Our
dentists have expertise and qualifications across a wide range
of specialty areas, covering general dentistry, orthodontics and
implantology. Our revenue is derived from our fees charged to our
clients on consultation, procedures, surgeries, and other medical
services, as well as the sales of vision aid products, including
glasses and lens, and medical consumables. The following table
sets forth our revenue by nature for the years indicated as a
percentage of total revenue:

EEETWR D
B %5 B B8
&
B R — RN B Kb B At 8 R R -

FRINEMERRGREMRE - RFAOREY
BE/BEERAANE BAR RREK
Et?ﬁ&ﬁﬁ%fﬁ%ﬁ°ﬁ1FﬁE’J§F%E:
BEREXAENEINER  RELRE
R ERMEEER - ﬁszﬁE’]H& =
RPE RBF FHEAEMBERBRR
FYER BRI R HER N HBE m (AR
BRER) RBEEEM o TREHHFINAT
REEMREGE R b akEa
palvE

Year ended 31 December
Z12ANBLEE

2024 2023
2024 F 20234

HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000

FET FET FET
Provision of ophthalmic services TR ER BLBR 7S 1,211,349 63.3 1,266,248 65.7 (54,899 4.3)
Provision of dental services RAL TR 507,292 265 428,098 23 79,194 185
Provision of other medical services 12 £ th 2 B iR 7% 38,124 20 47,5580 2.5 (9,456) (19.9)
Sales of vision aid products HERNBHER 156,397 82 162,605 8.5 (6,208) (3.8)
Sales of medical consumables HEBRBRM = = 19,433 1.0 (19,433)  (100.0)
1,913,162 100.0 1,923,964 100.0 (10,802) (0.6)

Our total revenue in 2024 recorded a slight decrease of 0.6%
as compared with our total revenue in 2023. The decrease was
primarily driven by (i) the decrease in the revenue generated from
the provision of ophthalmic services to HK$1,211.3 million in
2024 from HK$1,266.2 million in 2023, representing a decrease
of 4.3%, which was primarily attributable to the decrease in the
number of surgeries performed by us in Hong Kong and decrease
in the average surgery fee in Mainland China, (ii) the absence
of revenue generated from the sales of medical consumables in
2024 compared to HK$19.4 million in 2023, but is partially offset
by (iii) the increase in the revenue generated from the provision
of dental services to HK$507.3 million in 2024 from HK$428.1
million in 2023, representing an increase of 18.5%, which was
primarily attributable to the trend of cross-border consumption by
Hong Kong citizens in Shenzhen for dental services leading to the
significant growth in business volume for Shenzhen CKJ.

FAPIR 2024 F K 4R YL 25 82 2023 G 48 i 25 BT
W 206% - BMALEERUTHEESH
() FR L AR B BR 75 19 U 25 B 2023 FF #9 1,266.2
BEBITTIHKAII%E2024F891,211.38
EAET FTEHRBEMREBETHFIN
B R R Bt A S F T B R
FrE (2024 F W MR B E B BEREM K
e M2023F Al B1948 BB 7T
AT HEZE D HE S - (i) 52 4 77 BF IR 75 89 U
ZFH2023F /4281 A BB T N18.5%
Z2024F 5073 EEBIL TEARNB
AR ETERFRREEENES

BERYERENEFEREEEER -
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The following table sets forth our revenue according to
geographical markets as a percentage of total revenue:

TREIIBMIBREUIE 525 6K PR
HRdEA DL

Year ended 31 December

BE12A31BLEE
2024 2023 Change
2024 F 2023 2E)

HKS$000 HK$'000 HK$ 000

FET FET FET
Hong Kong BE 901,589 471 951,520 495  (49,931) (5.2)
Mainland China FEIR 1,011,573 52.9 972,444 505 39,129 4.0
1,913,162 100.0 1,923,964 1000  (10,802) (0.6)

The revenue generated by our business operations in Hong Kong
accounted for 47.1% of our total revenue. As a percentage of our
total revenue, revenue from Hong Kong decreased from 49.5% in
2023 to 47.1% in 2024 due to the decrease in revenue in Hong
Kong and the faster growth in revenue from our dental services in
Mainland China.

As a percentage of our total revenue, revenue from Mainland
China increased to 52.9% in 2024 from 50.5% for 2023, due to
the growth of revenue from our dental services in Mainland China
by 20.8%.

Provision of ophthalmic services

Our revenue generated from the provision of ophthalmic
services may be broadly divided into two categories, namely (1)
consultation and other medical service fees and (2) surgery fees.
The following table sets forth our revenue by category for the
years indicated as a percentage of total revenue generated from
the provision of ophthalmic services:

KMEEAREEREENREGHAW
mMAT 1% - BEHMRTEBAREZNE
D EL B 2023 F H949.5% )5, D B 2024 F 1)
47.1% * YR BB ER LD - BEHRER
1 F BHR TS R U 2518 R IR FTER ©

o Pt U s (R A EE Y B 9 b R 2023
1) 50.5% 8 E 2024 F #52.9% * JI P
R B P 2t F Bk AR A A M 2 388 DN 20.8% FTER ©

RALR B AR %S

HAREREHBRREOREAIANERD B
iR (2 MEMBERFERQ)F
M2 o TR & ARFEIRIRFE 5 o
BTG RERMREAFAKREE DL

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLEE
2024 2023 Change
20234 2E)

HK$'000 HK$000

2024
HKS$'000
TET TR THT

Consultation and other medical PR HEMEERKE

service fees
- Hong Kong —-B% 294,726 243 321,524 254 (26,798) (8.3)
- Mainland China —FER 157,139 13.0 146,064 11.5 11,075 7.6
451,865 37.3 467,588 36.9 (15,723) (3.4)
Surgery fees FME
- Hong Kong -5k 487,458 40.2 483,838 382 3,620 0.7
- Mainland China —FER 272,026 225 314,822 249 (42,796) (13.6)
759,484 62.7 798,660 63.1 (39,176) (4.9)
Total @5t 1,211,349 100.0 1,266,248 100.0 (54,899) (4.3)

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED HEEEZERERAD T



Management Discussion and Analysis

The ophthalmic services provided by us focused on surgeries for
the treatment of not only cataract, glaucoma and strabismus,
but also eye diseases including corneal and vitreoretinal diseases.
Generally speaking, ophthalmic services provided by us are
outpatient or day care procedures, performed under local
anaesthesia. Hence, unlike other hospitals, clinics or nursing
homes, we are not constrained by bed capacity and do not focus
on providing large inpatient facilities at our eye centres, hospitals
or clinics.

Our revenue generated from our eye hospitals, eye centres,
eye clinics and optometry centres can be broadly divided into
different categories, namely (1) consultation, examination, laser
procedures and other procedures, (2) refractive surgeries, (3)
cataract surgeries, (4) other surgeries and (5) sales of vision aid
products which included our optometry services, which accounted
for 33.0%, 20.5%, 20.9%, 14.2% and 11.4% (2023: 32.7%,
24.6%, 20.1%, 11.2% and 11.4%), respectively, as a percentage
of the total revenue for the Group derived from our ophthalmic
business during the year ended 31 December 2024.

The following table sets forth the total surgery fees, the total
number of surgeries performed by us and the average fee per
surgery:

For Hong Kong BB
Total surgery fee (in HK$'000) FirBgEE(TAT)
Number of surgeries performed by us #7175 F 1781 B

Average surgery fee (HK$) FHFME (BT)
For Mainland China Bl Ry it
Total surgery fee (in HK$'000) FirBHEE(TAT)

Number of surgeries performed by us FFIsE1TE F 1T & A
Average surgery fee (HK$) FHFME (BT)

EEENWRDWN

HPRHEAOBRMBRBEIIORARNE -
BAREFNEOFMAL AE - WHES
BIRABERBKRR - — &R s - HAFIR
HORMRE AN BEME T ETHMD
AMERRE -Hgt BEMBER 2
P& AR RATIKRUETERS -
IFFTRNRPNRBA L - BlRKD AT
RERIVEF R

RAKBBRRER RBRIG.L BR2M
MEREHE R OB KB 5 BT R
AAER BI(MHBH RE - Bk aERE
fEE - (B FM : 3) B AEFT: (4)
EmFM: ROEERNBHER (B
BB IR - REE2024F12 A 31
BIEFE  2MhASEBRERE RS A
B 2 %EH33.0% ~ 20.5% * 20.9% -
14.2% K 11.4% (20234 :32.7% -
24.6% ~20.1% ~ 11.2% & 11.4%) °

TR FMELRE BIETHFMR
L EBHFMEOFHER

Year ended 31 December

BZ12B31BLFE

2024 2023
2024 & 2023

487,458 483,838 0.7
15,883 17,358 (8.5)
30,691 27,874 10.1

272,026 314,822 (13.6)
26,565 25,528 4.1
10,240 12,332 (17.0)
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In Hong Kong, the average surgery fee increased by 10.1% due
to change of surgery mix. The surgery volume decreased by 8.5%
to 15,883 in 2024 which was mainly attributable to the decrease
in number of refractive surgeries performed, while the number of
surgeries performed for eye diseases remained stable.

In Mainland China, the average surgery fee in Hong Kong dollar
terms decreased by 17.0% due to the downward price adjustment
in response to the market conditions and the depreciation
of RMB against Hong Kong dollar in 2024. In RMB terms,
the average surgery fee decreased by 15.3%. The number of
surgeries increased by 4.1% to 26,565 in 2024, which was mainly
attributable to the increase in the number of surgeries performed
in the eye hospitals in Guangzhou and Zhuhai.

Provision of dental services

The following table sets forth the total revenue from dental
services, the total number of patient visits, total number of dental
chairs, visits per dental chair and revenue per dental chair:

EEE BRFMEANES  FHHFI
BILIN10.1% o F 1T & B 72024 F 5
8.5% = 15,8831 + £ E MM E ¢ F T8y 2k
BiRd  mRERRF ISR BIRISETE -

FERBERH - 2024 F W FHFMEBUE T
FIER T EK17.0% » Lt T5 B A A T 00 M 3 17
BERTARARELBITEBERE - LAA
REFTE  FHFMETEK153% 2024
FHITHFMEE 1L IN4L.1% £ 26,565 ]
T EFERCIR BN K& IR G R R R 88 b
TRIFMEE 80 o

RAETRRSE
TREINFMRE B WRE A2 BE
MEas SRAMERDRERTRF
Rha et

Year ended 31 December
BE12A31BILEE

Total revenue (in HK$'000) iz (F&7T)
Total patient visits P HBE
Total number of dental chairs TR B8

Visits per dental chair BRI RHE L2 IR

Revenue per dental chair (in HK$'000) & 3R F &HF U (T8 7T)

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
507,292 428,098 18.5
336,894 257,387 30.9
259 235 10.2
1,301 1,095 18.8
1,959 1,822 75

Our revenue generated from dental services recorded a significant
increase of 18.5% in 2024, which amounted to HK$507.3 million
(2023: HK$428.1 million), representing 26.5% (2023: 22.3%) of
our total revenue.

The number of patient visits for dental services increased by
30.9% from 257,387 to 336,894 in 2024. Visits per dental chair
increased by 18.8% from 1,095 to 1,301, while revenue per
dental chair recorded an increase of 7.5% to HK$1,959,000
in 2024 (2023: HK$1,822,000). The increase was primarily
attributable to the increase in demand for dental services of
Shenzhen CKJ.

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED FHHEEHFIZERERA A

AR B IF BHR S 8 W am 74 2024 F K 1R 35
N18.5% Z=507.3 B & BT (20234 : 428.1
BEBIT) (U E26.5% (2023 4F :
22.3%) °

FRIREFLZ N B /H 257,387 X1 030.9%
Z 20244 #9336,894 % - IR F RIE L2
KB 1,095 01 118.8% £ 1,301 % -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Provision of other medical services

Our revenue generated from oncology, medical aesthetics,
general practice and other services during 2024 amounted
to approximately HK$38.1 million (2023: HK$47.6 million),
representing approximately 2.0% (2023: 2.5%) of our total
revenue. The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in revenue
from the oncology services.

Sales of vision aid products

We also generated revenue from the sales of vision aid products
including glasses and lens. The sales were conducted by us
through the assessment of the optometrists employed by us
in Hong Kong and Mainland China. During 2024, our revenue
generated from the sales of vision aid products amounted to
HK$156.4 million, representing a decrease of 3.8% as compared
to 2023 mainly due to the decrease in demand of vision aid
products in Mainland China.

Sales of medical consumables

The Group had been a distributor of COVID-19 related medical
consumables in Hong Kong since February 2022, and no revenue
was recorded from this segment in 2024 (2023: HK$19.4 million).
The decrease in revenue from this segment was mainly attributable
to relaxation of requirements for COVID-19 testing in Hong Kong
and the Group ceased to distribute the relevant products in the
second half of 2023.

EEENWRDWN

RUHEMERERE
R2024FHMREERER  BEXARE
BRI MEMREONRZNAEIBIEEDST
(2023 :47.6 BEBTT) HRWZEL2.0%
(20234 : 2.5%) < WP EEHRIE

BERL RIS U 28 T B AT B

HERNHYER

BAMHEER N EER (RENMER)
RERWE - RMBEBREBSRPE AL
EARR ARSI ETTHE - 7R 2024 5 -
BPKEEERNEYE RN A 156.4
BEET ®2023FHP3.8% TERARN
AR B A AR D B B E

AT K T RRATER -

HEBEREM

B2022%2 A% ' K& & ACOVID-194H
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Cost of revenue $HE A

The following table sets forth an analysis of our cost of revenue TEREFEHNKRMAFRFEHEERA (5
for the years indicated, both in terms of Hong Kong dollars and as BTTA RS B EB D LLTIR) BT
a percentage of total revenue:

Year ended 31 December

BZENAMALEE
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
% to % to
HKS'000 revenue HK$'000  revenue  HK$'000
iz iz
FELT BAR  FET Bt FEX
Doctors' consultation fees BiYe 405,834 21.2 400,902 20.8 4,932 12
Cost of inventories and FEREVRA
consumables 344,204 18.0 395,133 20.5 (50,929) (12.9)
Staff salaries and allowance BIHeREH 370,363 194 312,116 162 58,247 18.7
Depreciation of right-of-use assets Il L EN & 85,810 45 87,722 46 (1,912) 2.2)
Depreciation of property, plantand #1% - FiE kR ETE
equipment 49,871 2.6 55,201 2.9 (5,330 9.7)
Impairment of non-current assets ~ JEREIEEHRE 69,282 3.6 - - 69,282 N/A
Others Hip 60,179 3.1 53,928 2.8 6,251 1.6
Total st 1,385,543 72.4 1,305,002 67.8 80,541 6.2

Our cost of revenue increased by 6.2% from HK$1,305.0 million HAFIEH S ERKAH 2023 F/91,305.0 A &8
in 2023 to HK$1,385.5 million in 2024, primarily as a result of TCIENN6.2% £ 2024 F#)1,385.5 B EE T
(i) the impairment of non-current assets, including the property, EFE2HRO2024FHENATEREEE
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and other intangible (BEDE BELRRE CAEEERE
assets, under the cost of revenue of HK$69.3 million in 2024, MEREE)REEIBEEERT  (BESE

(i) an increase in doctors’ consultation fees of HK$4.9 million in BEADLEMNIIEES T R(NE T
Hong Kong, and (iii) an increase in staff salaries and allowance e MRS 2EE BT (EBREF
of HK$58.2 million mainly attributable to Shenzhen CKJ, but was JEFER) HERWTFEREHEEER
partially offset by (iv) a decrease in cost of inventories and medical MERAR LS00 BE B T EE £
consumables sold of HK$50.9 million mainly due to the change in AR mES HIEE B TR -

revenue mix.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DN
Gross profit and gross profit margin and adjusted EFREMNEREAZENREAR
gross profit and adjusted gross profit margin EFMNRCGEERUBRELEATE)
(non-HKFRS measure)
The following table sets forth our gross profit and gross profit TREINKMAMRFEELRES D FE D
margin according to our business segments for the years HER R EFE
indicated:

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE

2024 2023 Change
20245 2023F &
Gross Gross Gross
Profit Profit Profit
ER EA EM
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FET
HK medical business BEREHEER 243,265 27.0 251,248 27.0 (7,983) 3.2)
Mainland China W AR B E T
ophthalmic business 114,531 20.9 207,510 353 (92,979) (44.8)
Mainland China dental Wit FRIZE#%
business 169,823 36.6 152,075 395 17,748 11.7
Sales of medical HEBBREN
consumables - N/A 8,129 418 (8,129) (100.0)
527,619 27.6 618,962 322 (91,343) (14.8)

The following table sets forth our adjusted gross profit and TREINKMAARFEEIREL D ELE
adjusted gross profit margin according to our business segments BV TR AR EF =
for the years indicated:

|53

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

2024 2023
2024 2023%F
Adjusted Adjusted
gross gross
profit  Adjusted profit Adjusted
BREEFR KRR CHEEN TRE
HK$'000 GP % HK$000 ) HK$'000
FET ZHF FHET EfE FHET
HK medical business BEBREK 244,130 271 251,248 27.0 (7,118) 2.8)
Mainland China P R
ophthalmic business 182,948 334 207,510 353 (24,562) (11.8)
Mainland China dental P 7F BHE
business 169,823 36.6 152,075 395 17,748 1.7
596,901 31.2 610,833 32.1 (13,932) (2.3)
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DN

Our gross profit in 2024 amounted to HK$527.6 million,
representing a decrease of 14.8% from HK$619.0 million in 2023.
Excluding the effect of impairments on non-current assets and
sales of medical consumables segment, our adjusted gross profit
in 2024 amounted to HK$596.9 million, representing a decrease
of 2.3% from HK$610.8 million in 2023.

Our gross profit margin and adjusted gross profit margin were
27.6% and 31.2% respectively in 2024, as compared with 32.2%
and 32.1% in 2023. The gross profit margin and adjusted gross
profit margin for our HK medical business segment are stable at
around 27% for both 2024 and 2023. The gross profit margin and
adjusted gross profit margin for our Mainland China ophthalmic
business segment decreased to 20.9% and 33.4% respectively
in 2024 from 35.3% and 35.3% in 2023, primarily due to the
impairment of non-current assets charged in 2024 (insofar as gross
profit margin is concerned) and the downward price adjustment.
The gross profit margin and adjusted gross profit margin for our
Mainland China dental business segment decreased to 36.6% and
36.6% from 39.5% and 39.5% respectively in 2023, which was
mainly attributable to the increase in staff salaries and allowance
in Shenzhen CKJ. The gross profit margin for our sales of medical
consumables segment was nil in 2024 as we ceased the business
in the second half of 2023.

Selling expenses

Our selling expenses had a decrease of 9.8% and amounted to
HK$133.4 million during 2024 (2023: HK$147.8 million). The
amount of selling expenses, as a percentage of our total revenue,
decreased from 7.7% in 2023 to 7.0% in 2024. The fees paid to
online platforms represented the major component of our selling
expenses.

Administrative expenses

Our total administrative expenses in 2024 amounted to HK$342.6
million and had a decrease of 3.5% as compared with HK$354.9
million in 2023. The decrease in our administrative expenses in
2024 was primarily driven by the decrease in our staff salaries and
allowances as a result of better human resources management.

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED FHHEEHFIZERERA A

2024 F ) EF A527.6 8 &8 T 0 #2023
FH619.0E BB TR 14.8% ° MR IER
PBEEREREESERM DN EE
2024 FE A EF B596.9H E BT W
2023 FH610.8 B EB TR 2.3% °

Q02AF EFERLEABEFNE SR A
27.6% N 31.2% * M20234F 8] A32.2%
K32.1%  BEHEEBREBHIANEFNER
B F R R 2024 F K 2023 F M F 4
BEE  BH27% RMBERZBESIHE
PR REHBEEFNEH2023F M 35.3%
}35.3% % Bl B 2 2024 F 1K 20.9% &
33.4% * E B HMNE 2024 F B K IER D
BERERENEMES) REE TR -
PRI RIS D A EF = KR
FF = 20239 #939.5% . 39.5% 75 Bl 8
£36.6% M36.6% ' EEHRNFINEFEE
METHS REMEMAH - HEBER
MO ERNERR2024F AT - IR
972023 F T HF 4R IFZETSPTE -

HEMX

BFHEEM ML 9.8% FE2024F &
1334 B &ETL(2023F 1 1478EEB L) °
HEMT S BEBWENE D LR 2023F
B7.7% 8 > E2024F 897.0% - E 4R £
FEMNEBERGHERIH AR -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Other income

Our other income in 2024 consisted primarily of the management
fee income and government grants, and increased to HK$8.9
million from HK$8.4 million in 2023. The increase was mainly
contributed by the increase in miscellaneous income.

Other gains/(losses), net

Our other gains/(losses), net in 2024 amounted to HK$1.8 million
and mainly consisted of gain on financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss and gain on early termination of lease
contracts, but partially offset by loss on write-off of non-current
assets and loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment.

Impairment losses on non-current assets

Non-cash accounting impairments on goodwill, property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets and other intangible assets
of HK$182.7 million and HK$15.0 million were recorded for our
segments of Mainland China ophthalmic business and HK medical
business, respectively.

The impairments of Mainland China ophthalmic business consisted
of impairments of (i) goodwill amounted to HK$63.8 million, (ii)
property, plant and equipment amounted to HK$60.3 million, (iii)
other intangible assets amounted to HK$1.9 million, and (iv) right-
of-use assets of HK$56.7 million, mainly from our eye hospitals
and clinics in Shanghai, Guangzhou, Huizhou, Jieyang, Foshan and
an eye clinic in Shenzhen as the performances were not as good
as expected due to the fierce competition and overall weakening
of consumer sentiment in 2024. The aforementioned eye hospitals
and clinics were operating at a loss in 2024.

The impairment of HK medical business consisted of impairments
of goodwill and right-of-use assets of the oncology centre in
Hong Kong amounted to HK$14.1 million and HK$0.9 million
respectively, the business of which was underperforming in 2024
with a downward trend in terms of revenue and no sign of timely
improvement. The oncology centre recorded a loss in 2024.

Finance (costs)/income, net

Our finance (costs)/income, net in 2024 amounted to HK$9.1
million in finance costs, net and mainly consisted of interest
expenses on leases netted off by bank interest income (2023:
finance income, net of HK$1.8 million).

EEENWRDWN

Ht A

R2024F - B EMBAFEBIEE R
BIRARBS#HE) - 8202341848 B
BTN ES OB E BT - WINEZT RN
TE U A NPT ER

Hitle s (B18) F8

R2024%F - B E MU Es (B518) F 5
BIBEERAET  TEBREAFENAR
A BB A W e MR AT AR LT A Y U es
HHRIERDEEMBENERLHEYE
MR E KR E R D HH -

FRBEEMNMERR

FEINERB EHRBEBERFNEE
ME BMELEE ERAEEEREME
FMEESREBIIFREEREIS2TES
BITKRIS.0BEEETT -

FEAHRR EBARERE()EERE
63.8EEEIL (VM WEREZBERE
603 B BB (I AEMEFEEERE 198
ERTR(VERREEEREBESTEEBT
FERLEF - BN =N 1865 - #IL A
REIER M2 R —BREZ AT
AR 2024 F M B FHR L HBE S EEE
WISABZE B N2 MR AR INIERE -
L ARBIEE BT R Pt 2024 F 8RS E1E -

EAERERBREREEEERTLNA
ERFERAEEEZREDNA141EES
TTROIBEBBIL  ZEKN2024F K1
RE-WHFSTHRBE BRI M
WE o BRI LN 2024 FER15E18 -

B (RA) AR

20244 - BRI BT (BRAS) I HEE
ABUBKAFEIIEERS L TEAHEMR
EMNERT - WRTHA B AFTIE (2023
FPBWAEEISEEET) -
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DN

Income tax expense

Our income tax expense in 2024 amounted to HK$32.1 million,
representing a decrease of 15.4% from HK$37.9 million in 2023.
The decrease was primarily due to the decrease in the taxable
profits in Hong Kong and Mainland China.

(Loss)/profit for the year and adjusted profit
(non-HKFRS measure)

As a result of the foregoing, our loss in 2024 amounted to
HK$108.3 million (2023: profit of HK$86.3 million). Excluding (i)
the aforementioned impairment losses and (ii) the profit after tax
of the sales of medical consumables segment, our adjusted profit
in 2024 would be amounted to HK$89.4 million, representing an
increase of 11.9% from HK$79.9 million in 2023, the increase was
primarily due to the increase in profits derived from the Mainland
China dental business segment and savings in operating expenses
from cost control measures that have been implemented, which
was partially offset by decrease in profits derived from the HK
medical business segment and sales of medical consumables
segment.

Change in fair value of financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI")

Our fair value gain in other comprehensive income on financial
assets at FVOCI in 2024 amounted to HK$135.4 million (2023:
HK$0.04 million). The amount mainly represented (i) fair value
gain on our equity investment in Health Hope Pharma Limited
amounting to HK$111.1 million with reference to the share price
of the Series A round of investment of Health Hope Pharma
Limited. According to Health Hope Pharma Limited, approximately
US$18.6 million has been raised through the Series A round of
investment up to the date of this report. For more details, please
refer to the Company’s announcement dated 31 December 2024;
and (i) fair value gain on our equity investment in BELKIN Vision
Ltd. amounting to HK$26.0 million based on the consideration of
disposal of the investment during the year ended 31 December
2024.

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED FHHEEHFIZERERA A
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Capital expenditure and commitments

During 2024, the Group incurred capital expenditures of
HK$444.7 million, primarily due to addition of right-of-use assets,
addition of investment properties and purchase of equipment and
leasehold improvements for our hospitals, centres and clinics.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total capital
commitment of approximately HK$31.9 million (2023: HK$107.2
million), mainly comprising the related contracts of capital
expenditure for construction of our property in Pingshan,
Shenzhen and leasehold improvements for our hospitals.

Gearing ratio

As at 31 December 2024, the gearing ratio, which is calculated as
net debt divided by total capital, is not applicable due to net cash
position (2023: same).

Contingent liabilities

The Group had no material contingent liability as at 31 December
2024.

Pledge of assets

The Group had buildings of HK$61.0 million in Mainland China
which were pledged as security for bank borrowings as at 31
December 2024.

Save for the above, the Group had no pledge of assets as at 31
December 2024.

Financial instruments

Our major financial instruments include trade receivables, other
receivables excluding prepayments, cash and cash equivalents,
bank deposits, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income,
trade payables, other payables excluding non-financial liabilities,
amount due to non-controlling interests and a related party, bank
borrowings and lease liabilities. Our management manages such
exposure to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.

EEENWRDWN

BERFXRARE

R2024F AEEELEARFT44478
EBT FTEEHARABEFEAEEE A
ENEMENBEREBELER A LED
Fren il E IS PR -

BR2024F 12 A318  REEHE REE
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EEENWR DN

Foreign exchange risk

Our subsidiaries mainly operate in Hong Kong and Mainland
China with most of the transactions settled in HK$ and RMB,
respectively. Foreign exchange rate risk arises when recognised
financial assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency that is
not the entity’s functional currency.

As at 31 December 2024, the financial assets and liabilities of our
subsidiaries in Hong Kong and Mainland China were primarily
denominated in HK$ and RMB, respectively. Currently, the Group
has not entered into agreements or purchased instruments to
hedge the Group's foreign exchange rate risks. Any material
fluctuation in the exchange rates of HK$ or RMB may have an
impact on the operating results of the Group. The Group manages
foreign currency risk by closely monitoring the movement of the
foreign currency rates.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s income and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates. We do not
anticipate significant impact resulted from the reasonable possible
change in interest rates.

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk mainly arises from lease
liabilities at fixed interest rates.

Credit risk

Our credit risk mainly arises from trade receivables, deposits and
other receivables and cash and cash equivalents. The maximum
exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of
each financial asset in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

The credit risk of cash and cash equivalents are limited because
the counterparties are state- owned or reputable commercial
banks which are high-credit-quality financial institutions located in
Hong Kong or Mainland China.

We have a highly diversified source of patients, without any
single patient contributing material revenue. Moreover, some
of our revenue is settled by reputable commercial companies
and local government on behalf of patients. We have controls
to closely monitor the patients’ billing and payment status by
communication with commercial companies and local government
to minimise the credit risk.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Employees and remuneration policies

As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed a total of 2,041
employees (2023: 1,979 (restated)). The increase in the number
of employees was mainly due to the increase in the scale of the
Group’s business.

The Group ensures that its remuneration packages are
comprehensive and competitive from time to time. When
determining the emolument payable to the Directors (including
the executive Directors), we take into account the experience
of the Directors, their level of responsibility and general market
conditions. Any discretionary bonus and other merit payments of
the Directors are linked to the profit performance of the Group
and the individual performance of the Directors. Employees
are remunerated with a fixed monthly income plus annual
performance related bonus. Share options and/or awards are
granted to selected employees to reward their contributions
under the share option scheme and the share award scheme of
the Company, details of which will be set forth in the Company’s
2024 annual report. The Group also sponsors selected employees
to attend external training courses that suit the needs of the
Group's business.

Events after the date of statement of financial
position

There were no significant events affecting the Group which have
occurred after 31 December 2024 and up to date of this report.

EEENWRDWN
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OUTLOOK AND STRATEGIES

The outlook for our various businesses is varied. The demand
for ophthalmic services in relation to eye diseases in Hong Kong
remains solid with the aging population while the ophthalmic
business in Mainland China faces challenges due to changes in
consumer consumption patterns. In addition, the trend of cross-
border consumption by Hong Kong citizens will continue and
this may bring us opportunities, especially in our dental business
in Shenzhen under Shenzhen CKJ and our medical business in
Luohu, Shenzhen.

The Group is prepared to exploit the business opportunities by
implementing the following strategies:

o focusing on our ophthalmic services in Hong Kong and
the cities where our hospitals are located in Mainland
China, while performing strategic review on performances
on our operations and seeking opportunities to grow
by recruitment of new doctors and setting up new
establishments;

o further developing our cross-border medical business
in Shenzhen under Shenzhen CKJ for dental business,
and developing our hospital in Luohu with departments
including dentistry, ophthalmology, medical imaging,
health check-ups, gynecology, traditional Chinese
medicine, internal medicine, surgery and urology;

o continuing to improve our operational efficiency and
service capability. For our ophthalmic business in Mainland
China, we will continue to adopt stringent cost control
policy to streamline and improve its overall performance
and profitability; and

o investing in innovation. Following our success in the
investment in Belkin Vision Ltd, we will continue to invest
in businesses where we can contribute expertise and can
add value to the target businesses.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our liquidity requirements are primarily used to satisfy the working
capital needs for our business operations. Our principal sources
of liquidity are cash generated from our business operations,
our bank deposits and our bank borrowings. The Group aims to
maintain flexibility in funding by keeping sufficient bank balances,
committed credit lines available and interest bearing borrowings
that would enable the Group to implement its business strategies
while maintaining its continued provision of medical services to
our customer base. As at 31 December 2024, we had cash and
cash equivalents of HK$423.1 million, short-term bank deposits of
HK$29.0 million and bank borrowings of HK$29.2 million, most of
which were denominated in either US dollars, Renminbi or Hong
Kong dollars.

As at 31 December 2024, all of the Group’s borrowings of
HK$29.2 million (2023: HK$1.7 million) are either repayable on
demand or repayable within one year and the effective interest
rate of borrowings was 3.24% per annum (2023: 2.75%). All
of these borrowings were denominated in either Renminbi or
Hong Kong dollars, and were subject to either fixed interest rates
or floating interest rates. For details of repayment schedule of
other borrowings, please refer to note 3.1(c) to the consolidated
financial statements. During the year ended 31 December
2024, the Group did not use any financial instruments, currency
borrowings or other hedging instruments for hedging purposes.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital
on the basis of the gearing ratio. As at 31 December 2024, the
gearing ratio is not applicable due to net cash position (2023:
same).

The current ratio (calculated as current assets over current
liabilities) was 1.56 times as at 31 December 2024 compared with
1.85 times as at 31 December 2023.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group reported net current assets
of HK$230.5 million, as compared with HK$330.8 million as at 31
December 2023.
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Net cash generated from operating activities was HK$283.1
million during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
HK$361.2 million). The decrease was mainly attributed to the
increase in income tax paid and increase in working capital during
the year ended 31 December 2024.

Net cash used in investing activities amounted to HK$174.7
million during the year ended 31 December 2024 as compared
to HK$245.4 million during the year ended 31 December 2023.
The net cash used in investing activities mainly included HK$258.6
million paid on acquisition of investment property and property,
plant and equipment, and partially offset by HK$42.5 million
received from the disposal of an financial assets at FVOCI and
HK$28.1 million dividend received from an associate during the
year ended 31 December 2024.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, net cash used in
financing activities amounted to HK$194.9 million, as compared
to net cash used in financing activities of HK$242.9 million during
the year ended 31 December 2023. The cash used in financing
activities for the year ended 31 December 2024 was mainly for the
lease payments of HK$136.2 million and on-market repurchases
of the Company’s shares of HK$59.1 million for cancellation and
purchase of shares for future grants under share award scheme by
the scheme trustee.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS

The Group did not have any other significant investments,
acquisitions or disposals for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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UPDATES ON THE RESULTS OF REVENUE
GUARANTEES AFTER ACQUISITIONS

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement on 28 August
2020 in relation to acquisition of a satellite clinic (the “Acquired
Practice”) in Central from an ophthalmologist. The Company
prepared the management accounts of the Acquired Practice
for the fourth twelve months after the closing of the acquisition
(i.e. from September 2023 to August 2024) and the revenue
guarantee of not less than HK$12.0 million for the said period had
been met.

Reference is made to the Company's announcement on 10
February 2021 in relation to acquisition of 60% of the equity
interests in CAD/CAM Restorative Dental Centre Limited. The
Company prepared the management accounts of the CAD/CAM
Restorative Dental Centre Limited for the third twelve months
after the closing of the acquisition (i.e. from April 2023 to March
2024) and the revenue guarantee of not less than HK$7.2 million
for the same period had been met.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL OFFERING

The shares of the Company were listed (the “Listing”) on the
Stock Exchange since 15 January 2018 (the “Listing Date”),
and the net proceeds from the global offering (the “Global
Offering”) amounted to HK$609.8 million.

To maximise the flexibility of the Group in capturing potential
acquisition opportunities as and when such opportunities arise,
the Board has resolved and announced on 29 March 2022 to
expand the use of the unutilised net proceeds from the Global
Offering towards possible acquisition(s), and/or establishment of
eye clinic(s), eye centre(s) and eye hospital(s) in Hong Kong and
Mainland China.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, net proceeds in
the amount of approximately HK$30.3 million were used for
establishing our new hospital with ophthalmic, dental, medical
imaging and other medical services in Luohu Port area, Shenzhen.
The net proceeds from Global Offering have been fully utilised as
of 31 December 2024.
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The table below sets out the actual use of unutilised net proceeds
from the Global Offering during the year ended 31 December
2024:

Planned
application
of net
proceeds

Use of net proceeds
from the Global Offering

FiB5E
BEN
BRERR
HK$000
FET

151,121

ERBEMERARERE

RN AR EE kP ER R
BR/IRIBRBDH - R
Bt RRRIE R

Possible acquisition(s), and/or
establishment of eye clinic(s), eye
centre(s) and eye hospital(s) in
Hong Kong and Mainland China

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE 2022 FIRST
SUBSCRIPTION

On 13 January 2022, the Company entered into a placing and
subscription agreement with C-MER Group Limited (the “Seller”),
Dr. Lam and UBS AG Hong Kong Branch, as the placing agent,
in respect of the placing of an aggregate amount of 90,000,000
existing ordinary shares of the Company (the “Placing Shares”)
at the price of HK$6.48 per Placing Share to not less than six
independent professional, institutional and/or individual investors
(the “2022 Placing”). The aggregate nominal or par value of
the Placing Shares is HK$9,000,000, and the closing price of the
Company as stated in the daily quotation sheet issued by the
Stock Exchange on 12 January 2022, being the last full trading
date prior to the date of the placing and subscription agreement,
was HK$7.18 per Placing Share. The Seller then subscribed (the
“2022 First Subscription”) for 76,500,000 ordinary class of
Shares (the “Subscription Shares”) that were subsequently
issued by the Company at the subscription price of HK$6.48
per Subscription Share (collectively, “the 2022 Placing and the
2022 First Subscription”). The Directors considered that the
2022 Placing and the 2022 First Subscription represented an
opportunity to strengthen the financial position of the Group and
raise capital to provide working capital for the Group, on, among
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forward
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1 January
2024
R2024
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B
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30,284
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net proceeds
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31 December
2024

12024 F
12A3181
AEA
FRBRE
B

Actual

usage up to
31 December
2024
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others, merger and acquisition and/or expansion of our hospital
and service network while broadening its shareholder and capital
base. The 2022 Placing and the 2022 First Subscription were
completed on 17 January 2022 and 20 January 2022, respectively.
The aggregate nominal or par value of the Subscription Shares
is HK$7,650,000. The net subscription price (after deduction of
the expenses incurred by the Seller in relation to the 2022 Placing
and the 2022 First Subscription) of each Subscription Share was
approximately HK$6.41. The net proceeds from the 2022 First
Subscription (after deducting relevant fees and expenses borne or
incurred by the Company) were approximately HK$490.6 million.
The table below sets out the planned applications of the net
proceeds and their actual usage up to 31 December 2024:

Planned

Use of net proceeds applications

from the 2022 of net
proceeds

First Subscription

FERE
WNEE-RABER FEN
FERERERZ RERE
HK$000
THT
For funding merger and acquisition; ~ FIRMHEEMIE & ¢ B
expansion of our hospital and service 5 FE) B R AR 75 4843
network; and as general working RERAEER
capital for the Group —REELS

490,600

During the year ended 31 December 2024, net proceeds from
the 2022 First Subscription in the amount of approximately
HK$45.9 million were used, consisting of (1) HK$44.0 million
for construction of our property in Pingshan, Shenzhen; and
(2) HK$1.9 million for the working capital on our hospitals at
investment stage in Mainland China and some of the clinics in
Hong Kong.

The net proceeds from the 2022 First Subscription have been
utilised in accordance with the planned applications as announced
in the announcements of the Company dated 13 January 2022
and 20 January 2022 respectively and have been fully utilised as of
31 December 2024.

Percentage

BHERE
FEAR

EEENWRDWN
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM DECEMBER 2022
SUBSCRIPTION

On 2 December 2022, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement with a strategic investor in respect of the subscription
of an aggregate amount of 30,056,000 new ordinary shares of
the Company at the price of HK$3.87 per share to the strategic
investor (the “December 2022 Subscription”). The aggregate
nominal or par value of the shares was HK$3,056,000, and the
closing price of the Company as stated in the daily quotation sheet
issued by the Stock Exchange on 2 December 2022, being the last
full trading date prior to the date of the subscription agreement,
was HK$4.07 per share. The strategic investor is Ginkgo Capital
Global Fund SPC — Ginkgo Capital Global Fund | SP, a segregated
portfolio of Ginkgo Capital Global Fund SPC, and as at the date
of the subscription, all the participating, redeemable, non-voting
shares in Ginkgo Capital Global Fund SPC attributable to Ginkgo
Capital Global Fund | SP were issued to Wealth Strategy Holding
Limited, which was in turn wholly owned by Mr. Kung Hung Ka
(B2 4] 5 % 4). The Directors considered that the subscription
represents an opportunity to introduce a long-term and highly
respected strategic shareholder with strong background in
healthcare industry in Mainland China, and will help accelerate
our network expansion in the Greater Bay Area and our research
and development in relevant medical devices and therapeutics.
The Group may also enter into business cooperation with the
strategic investor when suitable opportunities arise. The December
2022 Subscription was completed on 8 December 2022. The net
subscription price (after deduction of the expenses incurred by
the Company in relation to the subscription) of each share was
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approximately HK$3.86. The net proceeds from the December
2022 Subscription (after deducting relevant fees and expenses
borne or incurred by the Company) were approximately HK$116.2
million. The table below sets out the planned applications of the
net proceeds and their actual usage up to 31 December 2024:

Net proceeds
brought Unutilised
forward  Actual usage  net proceeds
Percentage as at up to as at
of total 1January  31December 31 December
net proceeds 2024 2024 2024
R20245 R2024 5
BHEHE 1A188 1283188
REAR gamE XBARE

Planned

Use of net proceeds applications

from the December 2022 of net
Subscription

proceeds

FieHE
W2E12AREEE FEN

BZ201F
1283188

FEREREAE RERZ
HK$ 000

b
T/’E?/L

For the expansion of our ophthalmic ~ EEH XA EZEMBR R 116,161
service network in the Greater Bay B4 : ARtEREES:

Area; the funding of mergerand ~ REZAKEMN K= E

acquisition; and as general working &%

capital for the Group

During the year ended 31 December 2024, net proceeds from
the December 2022 Subscription in the amount of approximately
HK$116.2 million were used, consisting of (1) HK$26.4 million
for establishing a hospital with ophthalmic, dental, medical
imaging and other medical services in Luohu Port area, Shenzhen;
(2) HK$5.7 million for establishing a refractive eye centre in
Mongkok, Hong Kong; (3) HK$16.1 million for construction of
our property in Pingshan, Shenzhen; (4) HK$51.0 million for the
working capital of our hospitals in Mainland China and some of
the clinics in Hong Kong, and (5) HK$17.0 million for enhancing
the facilities of our medical centres and clinics in Hong Kong. The
net proceeds from the December 2022 Subscription have been
used in accordance with the planned applications as disclosed in
the announcement dated 2 December 2022 and have been fully
utilised as of 31 December 2024.
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HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
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EE  SREERBRATIMENEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Dennis JP (# )i 8 & 4 ), aged 65, is the
Chairman of the Board, our Chief Executive Officer and our
executive Director. Dr. LAM is also a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Company. Dr. Dennis LAM is our founder and has been
leading our business growth for over ten years. Dr. Dennis LAM
obtained a Bachelor of Medicine and Bachelor of Surgery from the
University of Hong Kong in November 1984. Dr. Dennis LAM has
become a Fellow of The Royal College of Surgeons of Edinburgh
since 1988, Fellow of The Royal College of Ophthalmologists
since 1990 and a Fellow of The College of Ophthalmologists of
Hong Kong since 1994. Dr. Dennis LAM obtained the Doctor of
Medicine degree from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in
2003. Dr. Dennis LAM has been a registered medical practitioner
in Hong Kong since 1984, and a Fellow of the Hong Kong
Academy of Medicine in the speciality of ophthalmology since
1998.

Dr. Dennis LAM is the Past President of the Asia-Pacific Academy
of Ophthalmology (APAO) and the Asia-Pacific Vitreo-Retina
Society (APVRS), and the Founding President of the Asia-Pacific
Society of Eye Genetics (APSEG). He is currently the Editor-in-Chief
of the Asia-Pacific Journal of Ophthalmology (APJO), the Former
Secretary-General and current council member of the Academy of
Asia-Pacific Professors of Ophthalmology (AAPPO), the Secretary-
General of the Asia-Pacific Myopia Society (APMS) and the Asia-
Pacific Artificial Cornea Society (APACS), a Executive Committee
Member of the World Glaucoma Association (WGA), a Lifelong
Fellow of the Academia Ophthalmologica Internationalis (AOI) (AQI
Fellows are the world's leading ophthalmologists (the number
of Fellows is limited to 70 worldwide)), a Council Member of
the World Glaucoma Association (WGA), and a member of the
board of trustee of the International Council of Ophthalmology
(ICO). Dr. Dennis LAM was the Associate Dean (External Affairs)
of the Faculty of Medicine, The Chinese University of Hong Kong
from 2004 to 2009, and the Chairman of the Department of
Ophthalmology & Visual Sciences, The Chinese University of
Hong Kong for 13 years (from 1998 to 2011). Over the years,
a number of awards have been bestowed to Dr. Dennis LAM,
including: on the “Top 100 Power List of The Ophthalmologist”
for 7 consecutive years and ranked No. 1 in Asia and No. 6 in
the world in 2024, the Naumann Award for Global Leadership
in Ophthalmology and “ICO Mark Tso Golden Apple Award”
(Best Clinical Professor Award in Asia-Pacific Ophthalmology)
from the International Council of Ophthalmology (ICO), “De
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Ocampo Lecture” (Highest Academic Achievement Award in Asia-
Pacific Ophthalmology), “JoseRizal Medal” (Most Outstanding
Achievement Award in Asia-Pacific Ophthalmology) and “Arthur
Lim Award” (Most Outstanding Training and Teaching Leader
Award in Asia-Pacific Ophthalmology) from the Asia-Pacific
Academy of Ophthalmology (APAO), “Senior Achievement
Award” from the American Academy of Ophthalmology (AAO),
Hundred “Global Leader for Tomorrow"” by the World Economic
Forum, “Ten Outstanding Young Persons of the World”, “Hong
Kong Humanity Award”, “World Outstanding Chinese Award”
and many more. Dr. Dennis LAM has been appointed as a “Justice
of the Peace” in Hong Kong since 2004. Dr. Dennis LAM has been
serving as a Deputy of the National People’s Congress of China
since 2008. Dr. Dennis Lam has been elected as a member of
the Legislative Council of Hong Kong for the Election Committee
Constituency in December 2021.

Dr. Dennis LAM is the spouse of Ms. LI Xiaoting, an executive
Director. Dr. Dennis LAM is also a director of C-MER Group
Limited, the controlling shareholder of the Company. Dr. Dennis
LAM has not held any directorship in other listed public companies
in the last three years.

Ms. LI Xiaoting (ZH &z L), aged 46, is our executive Director
since June 2017. Ms. LI is also a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Company. Ms. LI is a member of the remuneration
committee of the Company. Ms. LI obtained a Bachelor of
Tourism Management from Shenyang University in China in July
2001 and a Postgraduate Diploma in Business and Administration
in Management from Massey University in New Zealand in 2004.
Ms. LI was the project coordinator and executive officer Il at The
Chinese University of Hong Kong from 2005 to 2007 and from
2007 to 2009, respectively. Ms. LI has been the general manager
of our eye centre in Hong Kong since January 2012 and the
general manager of the Shenzhen C-MER Hospital since March
2013. Ms. LI was elected as a member of the National Committee
of Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of Pingshan,
Shenzhen in November 2021.

Ms. Ll is the spouse of Dr. Dennis LAM, an executive Director.
Ms. Ll is also a director of C-MER Group Limited, the controlling
shareholder of the Company. Ms. LI has not held any directorship
in other listed public companies in the last three years.
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EX  SREEERARNENEE

Dr. LEE Yau Wing Vincent (Z{h 8 8 4 ), aged 56, is our
executive Director. Dr. LEE has been practicing for us since
January 2012 and is our Head of Hong Kong Operation. Dr. LEE
obtained a Bachelor of Medicine and Bachelor of Surgery from
the Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 1993. Dr.
LEE completed the Postgraduate Diploma in Epidemiology and
Biostatistics in 2008 and was awarded a Master of Science degree
in Epidemiology and Biostatistics in 2009 all from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong. Dr. LEE has been a registered medical
practitioner in Hong Kong since 1994.

Dr. LEE has been a Fellow of Royal College of Surgeons of
Edinburgh since 1998, Fellow of College of Ophthalmologists of
Hong Kong since 1998, a Fellow of College of Surgeons of Hong
Kong since 1998 and a Fellow of the Hong Kong Academy of
Medicine in the specialty of ophthalmology since 2002.

Dr. LEE was the President of the Hong Kong Ophthalmological
Society (“HKOS"). Dr. LEE was the Chief Editor of the Newsletter
of the HKOS called Eye Opener. Dr. LEE was elected as the
regional secretary of Hong Kong and has represented Hong Kong
in the Asia-Pacific Academy of Ophthalmology. Dr. LEE holds
two ophthalmic patents as an inventor. He was awarded “Ten
Outstanding Young Person of Hong Kong” in 2009.

Prior to joining us, Dr. LEE was the Honorary Clinical Assistant
Professor (from 2003 to 2007) and later the Honorary Clinical
Associate Professor since March 2011 in the Department of
Ophthalmology and Visual Sciences, Faculty of Medicine, The
Chinese University of Hong Kong. Dr. LEE was the Assistant
Professor, the Department of Ophthalmology and Visual Sciences,
Faculty of Medicine, The Chinese University of Hong Kong,
the Visiting Professor, Shantou University Medical College and
the Consultant, the Department of Ophthalmology and Visual
Sciences, New Territories East Cluster, Hospital Authority.

Dr. LEE has no relationship with any Directors, senior management
or substantial shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) or
controlling shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the
Company.

Save as disclosed above, Dr. LEE does not hold any other positions
with the Company or other members of the Group.

Dr. LEE has not held any directorship in other listed public
companies in the last three years.
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As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 2 September
2020, Dr. LEE was ordered to be reprimanded by the Inquiry Panel
of the Medical Council of Hong Kong for his failure to prevent the
use of a title, which was not a quotable qualification approved by
the Medical Council of Hong Kong and/or was misleading to the
public, but which was contained in an advertisement or article
published by a local newspaper on 24 September 2018.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Rex AUYEUNG Pak-kuen GBS JP, (B 5 A # 18 ), aged
72, is our independent non-executive Director since November
2020 and vice chairman since November 2021. Dr. AUYEUNG
is a chairperson of the nomination committee of the Company.
He is currently the chairman and non-executive director of MTR
Corporation Limited (stock code: 0066), an independent non-
executive director of China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation
Limited and an advisor to Nippon Life Asia Pacific (Regional HQ)
Pte. Ltd (a company incorporated in Singapore). Dr. AUYEUNG
has over 40 years of experience in the insurance industry in
Canada and Hong Kong. Dr. AUYEUNG was Chairman — Asia
of the Principal Financial Group Inc. (“PFG"), a Fortune 500
company, responsible for PFG’s overall businesses in Asia. During
his time with PFG, Dr. AUYEUNG represented PFG and its
member companies across Asia in building and expanding PFG's
relationship with clients, joint venture partners and strategic
investors, and assisting in business development across all product
lines of PFG. Dr. AUYEUNG also actively serves the public sector
and is currently a board member of Bo Charity Foundation (Food
Angel), a convenor of the Advisory Committee of the Jockey Club
Community eHealth Care Project, and a member of the Board
of Advisers of Healthcare Dispute Resolution Centre Limited. Dr.
AUYEUNG was previously the chairman of Hong Kong Strategy for
Financial Literacy Sub-committee on Stakeholder Coordination and
Collaboration, a member of the Board of Directors of the Investor
and Financial Education Council under the Securities and Futures
Commission, an observer of the Independent Police Complaints
Council Observers Scheme and a member of the Independent
Review Committee on Hong Kong's Franchised Bus Service. Dr.
AUYEUNG holds a Bachelor of Environmental Studies (Urban
and Regional Planning) Honours Degree from the University of
Waterloo, Canada. He was awarded an Honorary Fellowship by
the City University of Hong Kong in 2013 and conferred a Doctor
of Business Administration, honoris causa, by Lingnan University in
2020.
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Dr. AUYEUNG has no relationship with any Directors, senior
management or substantial shareholders (as defined in the Listing
Rules) or controlling shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules)
of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, Dr. AUYEUNG does not hold any other
positions with the Company or other members of the Group.

Save as disclosed above, Dr. AUYEUNG has not held any
directorship in other listed public companies in the last three years.

Mr. MA Andrew Chiu Cheung (55 B # 5t &), aged 83, is our
independent non-executive Director since December 2017. Mr.
MA is the chairperson of the audit committee and a member of
the remuneration committee and the nomination committee of
the Company.

Mr. MA holds a Bachelor’s degree in Economics from The London
School of Economics and Political Science (The University of
London). Mr. MA is the Fellow Member of each of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England & Wales, the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, The Taxation Institute
of Hong Kong, The Hong Kong Institute of Directors and a full
member of The Hong Kong Management Association.

Mr. MA has over 40 years of experience in accounting, auditing
and finance. Mr. MA is a founder and served as a director of
Mayee Management Limited until his retirement on 1 January
2024. He is the founder and former director of AMA CPA Limited
(formerly known as Andrew Ma DFK (CPA) Ltd).

Mr. MA is also an independent non-executive director of Asiaray
Media Group Limited (Stock code: 01993), and S.A.l. Leisure
Group Company Limited (Stock code: 01832) all of which are
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Mr. MA previously served as an
independent non-executive director of Chong Hing Bank Limited
(former Stock code: 01111), the listing of the shares on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange of which has been withdrawn on 30
September 2021, and China Resources Power Holdings Company
Limited (Stock code: 00836), the shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, until his retirement on 14 May
2021 and 15 September 2021, respectively.
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Mr. MA has no relationship with any Directors, senior
management or substantial shareholders (as defined in the Listing
Rules) or controlling shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules)
of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. MA does not hold any other positions
with the Company or other members of the Group.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. MA has not held any directorship in
other listed public companies in the last three years.

Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen GBS JP, (& 2 5t 4£) aged 73, is
our independent non-executive Director since November 2020.
Mr. IP is the chairperson of the remuneration committee of the
Company and a member of the audit committee of the Company.
Mr. IP graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a
degree in social sciences in 1973 and completed the Program
for Management Development of the Harvard Business School
in 1986. Mr. IP joined the Hong Kong Government in November
1973 and was promoted to the rank of Director of Bureau in
April 1997. He worked in the Hong Kong Government as a
Principal Official from July 1997 to June 2007. Senior positions
held by Mr. IP in the past include Commissioner of Insurance,
Commissioner for Labour, Secretary for Economic Services and
Secretary for Financial Services. Mr. IP took up the position of
Secretary for Economic Development and Labour in July 2002. His
portfolio in respect of economic development covered air and sea
transport, logistics development, tourism, energy, postal services,
meteorological services, competition and consumer protection. He
was also responsible for labour policies including matters relating
to employment services, labour relations and employees rights.

In his capacity as Secretary for Economic Development and Labour,
Mr. IP was a member of the Hong Kong Airport Authority Board,
the Mandatory Provident Fund Authority Board, the Hong Kong
International Theme Parks Company Board as well as the Chairman
of the Logistics Development Council, Port Development Board,
Maritime Industry Council and Aviation Development Advisory
Committee. Mr. IP retired from the Hong Kong Government in
July 2007. Mr. IP received the Gold Bauhinia Star award from the
Hong Kong Government in 2001, and is an unofficial Justice of the
Peace since 2007. Mr. IP has been appointed as an independent
non-executive director of six other listed companies on the main
board of the Stock Exchange, namely, China Resources Building
Materials Technology Holdings Limited (formerly known as China
Resources Cement Holdings Limited) (stock code: 1313) since
August 2008, Lai Sun Development Company Limited (stock

EX  SREEERARNENERE

FSREHREAES ARASREEEX
TERR(ERER ETRAD SHERBR (G
EREMRA) WERK

R EXFBEEIN  FRELEBRARA
SAEBH M B R R E A E MR -

BREXPEEEIN BEAENBE=ZFL
BHEEMAR EHAREEERESRS -

ERBEAE (LM ES K F#HLE) 73
B% B2020F 11 B BB IERITES o
BEEEBARRABYTMEZEESERREX
ZEERE - EREMIIBFREERE S
RE FBELERBELTERL - WK 1986
FERBHEERNEERRERERE B
HERN1973F 11 AMABRBEAT - WK 1997
FA4RERBRE -HRI1997F7/8 =
2007 F6 AHMETESBNNEEES -
EEENBEEINSERBTRE  RE
EEES LTRER LERRBRELY
KEHRBR -ELEN2002F7 BEE
KESXREIETITRBREME - BABELE
BERABSRENE LE LB WIRER
IREE - BE0R - BERE C fRR%  BFK
HEERE-FITEBELSITEHE  BER
¥R S TIBEMMEEERFNEEEE -

HAEEEAREERLSTIRRREM
BARBRISEERERS  BHMEARE
CHETERESY BEEBRIEAE
NAIEECHHREURYRERER B0
BER MEBLXERBAMERERNZE
SR ELEAR2007F7ARETBR
FFIR UK o BE S £ 122001 F 2 EF B T B
EHNEERAESE  WH2007FREFEET
KNPt EELECEZTANREME
BERXFTER EMA AR B IENITES -
BnEEEaEm BRI AR AR (AT fEEH
ACRIER AR AR (BRMmHRSE : 1313) (B
20088 A BFERARRA (KH
R 5% - 0488) (B2009F 12 A #E) - BIEME
EBiRERERAR (KK 1888) (B

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 —Z_UFFR

41



42

Profile of Directors, Senior Management and Company Secretary

EX  SREEERARNENEE

code: 0488) since December 2009, Kingboard Laminates Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1888) since May 2011, Luk Fook Holdings
(International) Limited (stock code: 0590) since October 2011,
Nameson Holdings Limited (stock code: 1982) since April 2018
and Million Cities Holdings Limited (stock code: 2892) since June
2018. Mr. IP retired as an independent non-executive director of
China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited
(EMEMBEZERAR R A) (Stock code: 01313) with effect
from 24 May 2024.

Mr. IP has no relationship with any Directors, senior management
or substantial shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) or
controlling shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the
Company.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. IP does not hold any other positions
with the Company or other members of the Group.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. IP has not held any directorship in
other listed public companies in the last three years.

Mr. YIN Ke (B% @), aged 61, is our independent non-executive
Director since July 2023. Mr. YIN is the member of the audit
committee and nomination committee of the Company.

Mr. YIN graduated with a bachelor’s degree in electrical
engineering and a master’s degree in economics from Zhejiang
University, the PRC.

Mr. YIN previously worked as a Secretary to the President of the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange. He also served as the Deputy General
Manager and an Executive Director of Jun’an Securities Co., Ltd.,
a Board Director of Guotai Junan Securities Co., Ltd., the President
and an Executive Director of China United Securities Co., Ltd., a
Director and the Deputy Chief Executive Officer of CITIC Capital
Holdings Limited, a Non-executive Director of CITIC Dameng
Holdings Limited, an Independent Director of CCB Principal Asset
Management Co., Ltd., the Chief Executive Officer of CITIC
Securities International Limited and an Executive Director and the
Vice Chairman of CITIC Pacific Limited and an Independent Non-
Executive Director of Morgan Stanley Securities (China) Co., Ltd. In
addition, Mr. YIN served as the Vice Chairman of CITIC Securities
Company Limited (Stock Code: 6030) from 2011 to 2016 and
its Executive Director from 2009 to 2017, and a Non-executive
Director of CITIC Limited (formerly known as CITIC Pacific Limited)
(Stock Code: 267) from 2009 to 2014, both of which are listed on
the Stock Exchange. He was also a Non-executive Director of Dah
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Chong Hong Holdings Limited from 2010 to 2012 and from 2018
to 2020, which was delisted from the Stock Exchange in 2020.
He was a non-executive director of Hui Xian Asset Management
Limited from October 2011 to January 2018. Mr. YIN was a
member of the Financial Service Committee of Hong Kong Trade
Development Council from 2017 to 2022.

Mr. YIN currently serves as an External Director of Shandong
Heavy Industry Group Co., Ltd. and an Independent Non-executive
Director of Hui Xian Real Estate Investment Trust (stock code:
87001), the units of which listed on the Stock Exchange, a director
of Beijing Oriental Plaza Co., Ltd.* (1t RE H EHER A F), an
Independent Non-executive Director of Focus Media Information
Technology Co., Ltd. (Stock Code: 002027.5Z), which is listed on
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. Mr. YIN also serves as a Senior
Advisor to CPP Investments.

Mr. YIN has no relationship with any Director, senior management
or substantial shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) or
controlling shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the
Company.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. YIN does not hold any other position
with the Company or other members of the Group.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. YIN has not held any directorship in
other listed public companies in the last three years.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. CHAN Wa Ping (BR 2 ¥ % %), aged 40, is our Chief
Financial Officer and Company Secretary. Mr. CHAN joined
us in April 2017 and is responsible for overseeing the finance,
compliance, merger and acquisition, and investor relations of the
Group. Mr. CHAN graduated from the Chinese University of Hong
Kong with a Bachelor in Business Administration in 2006 and has
over 10 years of financial and accounting related experience.

Mr. CHAN is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Prior to joining us, Mr. CHAN worked for
PricewaterhouseCoopers and was involved in a number of
audit and assurance, capital market transactions and advisory
projects advising corporate clients including listed companies and
conglomerates worldwide.
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Ms. SIU Man Yi (B85 Z 1), aged 43, is our Chief Operation
Officer in Hong Kong. Ms. SIU joined us in January 2012 and
is responsible for the overall management of clinic services and
daily operations of our eye centre and satellite clinics in Hong
Kong. Ms. SIU also designs and implements standard operating
procedures to maintain a consistent and efficient work flow in the
eye centres and all satellite clinics. Ms. SIU graduated from the
University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor of Nursing in 2006 and a
Master of Social Sciences in Behavioural Health in 2010.

Ms. SIU is a registered nurse since 2006. Before joining us, Ms.
SIU worked for Pamela Youde Nethersole Eastern Hospital during
the year between July 2006 and September 2007, the Chinese
University of Hong Kong during the year between September
2007 and January 2008, St Paul’s Eye Centre during the year
between January 2008 to September 2010, and Asia Medical
Specialists Limited in the period between November 2010 and
May 2011.

Each of the senior management members has no relationship with
any Directors, senior management or substantial shareholders (as
defined in the Listing Rules) or controlling shareholders (as defined
in the Listing Rules) of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, each of the senior management members
does not hold any other positions with the Company or other
members of the Group.

Each of the senior management members is not or has not been a
director of any other listed company in Hong Kong and overseas
in the past three years.
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Our Board is pleased to present their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of our Group for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of our Company is investment holding and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of ophthalmic,
dental and other medical services, sales of vision aid products and
sales of medical consumables in Hong Kong and Mainland China.

An analysis of our Group’s performance for the year by operating
segment is set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of our Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
are set out in the consolidated financial statements on page 107
of this report.

The Board has recommended to pay to the shareholders of
the Company a final dividend of HK2.0 cents per share for the
year ended 31 December 2024. Subject to the approval of the
proposed final dividend by the shareholders of the Company at
the forthcoming annual general meeting to be held on Monday,
19 May 2025 (the "AGM"), to shareholders whose names appear
on the register of members of the Company on Friday, 4 July
2025, being the record date for determining the shareholders’
entitlement to the proposed paid dividend, the final dividend is
expected to be paid on or about Tuesday, 15 July 2025.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has approved and adopted a dividend policy (the
“Dividend Policy”). The Company endeavours to maintain
sufficient operating capital to develop and operate the Group's
business, and to provide stable and sustainable returns to its
shareholders.

In deciding whether to recommend dividends and determining the
amount of dividends, the Board will consider the following factors:

o the Group’s financial results and general financial condition;

o liquidity position and capital requirement of the Group;
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o the Group’s current and future operations;

o the Group’s business development strategies and future
expansion plans;

° the general market conditions;

o any relevant requirements of the Listing Rules and applicable
laws, rules and regulations and the memorandum and
articles of association of the Company; and

o any other factors that the Board considers relevant.

The Board will also constantly review the Dividend Policy and
retain the discretion to update, revise, modify and/or cancel the
Dividend Policy at any time. The Dividend Policy will not in any
way constitute a legally binding commitment of the Group in
relation to its future dividends and/or will not in any way render
the Company obligated to declare dividends at any time or from
time to time.

The Board is not aware of any shareholders who have waived or
agreed to waive any dividends.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR
ENTITLEMENT TO ATTEND AND VOTE AT
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members
of our Company on 19 May 2025 are entitled to attend and vote
at the Annual General Meeting (the “AGM"). The register of
members of our Company will be closed from Wednesday, 14 May
2025 to Monday, 19 May 2025, both days inclusive. In order to
qualify for attending and voting at the AGM, shareholders should
ensure that all properly completed transfer forms accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged for registration with
the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17/F.,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
no later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 13 May 2025.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR
ENTITLEMENT TO FINAL DIVIDEND

For the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement for
the final dividend, the register of members of the Company will
be closed from Wednesday, 2 July 2025 to Friday, 4 July 2025,
both days inclusive. To qualify for the final dividend, shareholders
should ensure that all properly completed transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
for registration with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share
registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
at Shops 1712-1716, 17/F, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday,
30 June 2025.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of our Group during the year and a
discussion on our Group's future business development are set
out in the Chairman’s Statement as well as the Management
Discussion and Analysis on pages 6 to 8 and pages 9 to 35 of this
report respectively.

Key Risks and Uncertainties

The Group’s results and operations are subject to various factors
with the key risks summarised below:

Reputation risk

Our business depends significantly on the soundness of our
reputation. Failure to develop, maintain and enhance our
reputation, or any negative publicity or allegations in the media
against us, may adversely affect the level of market recognition
of, and trust in, our services, and failure to properly manage
our ophthalmologists’, dentists’, physicians’ or other medical
professionals’ clinical activities may expose us to medical disputes,
which could result in a material adverse impact on our business,
financial condition and results of operations. Our reputation and
business may be harmed accordingly.

Customer risk

As we provide mid- to high-end medical services, our business,
financial condition and results of operations are subject to changes
in patient preference, consumption capacity, consumer confidence
index and general economic conditions in our market.
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Regulatory risk

Changes in government policies, relevant regulations and
guidelines established by the regulatory authorities would have
an impact on the business operation of the Group in Hong
Kong and Mainland China. Failure to comply with the rules and
requirements may lead to penalties imposed or suspension of
the business operation ordered by the authorities. The Group
has closely monitored changes in relevant government policies,
regulations and guidelines as well as assessing the impact of such
changes.

Price Risk

The Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Therefore, the Group is exposed to equity security price risk. The
Directors will closely monitor the exposure.

Talent risk

If we are unable to attract, train and retain a sufficient number
of qualified ophthalmologists, dentists, physicians, optometrists,
management staff and other hospital personnel, our hospital/clinic
operations could be materially and adversely affected.

Key Relationship

The Group fully understands that employees, customers and
partners are the key to our sustainable and stable development.
We are committed to establishing a close relationship with
our employees, enhancing cooperation with our partners and
providing high-quality services to our customers so as to ensure
the Group’s sustainable development.

Staff

Our staff is regarded as the most important resource of the
Group. The Group has been endeavoring to provide our staff
with competitive compensation packages, attractive promotion
opportunities, comprehensive training courses and a professional
working environment. In order to assist us in attracting, retaining
and motivating our key employees, the Group has adopted a
share award scheme and currently has in place a share option
scheme, pursuant to which share awards and share options
may be granted to eligible employees, consultants and other
eligible participants. The Group provides ongoing training to our
employees.
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Customers

We uphold the principle of providing high-quality medical services
throughout our operation, which we believe is vital to achieving
customer satisfaction and maintaining our reputation.

Suppliers

We firmly believe that our suppliers are equally important in
providing high-quality medical services. When selecting suppliers,
we consider, among other things, their product offerings, pricing,
reputation, service or product quality and delivery schedule. We
conduct regular review of our suppliers and will remove any
suppliers who do not meet our supply standards or requirements
from our list of approved suppliers. We usually have more than
one supplier for each kind of our medical supplies needed to
ensure we maintain sufficient inventory levels and bargaining
power to deal with price fluctuations. We do not rely on any
single supplier for any of our major pharmaceuticals, medical
consumables or medical devices. We had stable business
relationships with our suppliers in 2024.

Environmental Policies and Performance

We are subject to various Hong Kong and PRC laws, rules and
regulations with regard to environmental matters, including clinic/
hospital sanitation, disease control, disposal of medical waste, and
discharge of wastewater, pollutants and radioactive substances.
We have established systems and procedures in place concerning
environmental protection, such as requiring all our hospitals to
engage qualified service providers to dispose of medical waste
and radioactive substances. In 2024, our businesses were in
compliance with all the relevant laws and regulations with regard
to environmental protection in all material aspects.

As reported by senior management, which is delegated by
the Board to control and monitor the Group’s day-to-day ESG
performances, the Board considers that the Group’s performance
on environmental matters, with respect to the applicable subject
areas and individual aspects that are set out in Appendix C2 to the
Listing Rules, has been satisfactory.
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Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s
subsidiaries in Hong Kong and Mainland China while the Company
is a holding company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with
its shares listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Our
establishments and operations accordingly shall comply with
relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong, Mainland China and
the Cayman Islands. In 2024, our businesses were in compliance
with all the relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong, Mainland
China, and the Cayman Islands in all material aspects.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities
of our Group for the past five years ended 31 December 2024 are
set on page 248 of this report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of our Company are
set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of our Group and
our Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and note 42 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As of 31 December 2024, the reserves of our Company available
for distribution to the shareholders of our Company amounted to
approximately HK$1,553.9 million (2023: HK$1,610.0 million).

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the shareholders of the Company by reason of their
holding of the Company’s securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which
would oblige our Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis
to existing shareholders.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations
amounting to approximately HK$531,000 (2023: Nil).
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, and pursuant to
the mandate granted by the shareholders in the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 28 May 2024, the Company
repurchased an aggregate of 11,788,000 ordinary shares at
an aggregate consideration of HK$25,127,839 on the Stock
Exchange as follows:
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Month of Repurchase #E BRAE HE)
Highest HK$  Lowest HK$ HK$

BEBT RIEET BT

July 2024 2024%7 A 186,000 2.64 2.64 492,151
August 2024 20248 A 820,000 2.35 2.22 1,891,068
September 2024 20249 A 2,806,000 2.19 1.85 5,660,314
October 2024 2024 10 A 1,418,000 2.42 2.23 3,301,519
November 2024 2024F 11 A 3,678,000 2.36 2.00 7,961,359
December 2024 2024F 12 A 2,880,000 2.07 1.97 5,821,427
Total HEr 11,788,000 25,127,839

The Board considers that the share repurchases were in the best
interests of the Company and its shareholders and would lead to
an enhancement of the net assets value per share and/or earnings
per share of the Company. As at the date of this report, all of the
above repurchased shares were designated for cancellation but
pending cancellation.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31 December
2024.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries have sold any
treasury shares as defined under the Listing Rules of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2024 and there was no
treasury shares as defined under the Listing Rules held by the
Company as at 31 December 2024.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 13 December 2017, our Company has adopted a share option
scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”).

The shareholders of our Company approved and adopted the
Share Option Scheme to enable our Company to grant options
to eligible participants as incentives and rewards for their
contribution to our Group. The Share Option Scheme took effect
on the Listing Date.

As at 31 December 2024, 7,880,000 share options have been
granted under the Share Option Scheme since its adoption. As at
31 December 2024, 1,882,000 share options granted under the
Share Option Scheme have been exercised pursuant to the terms
of grant of the share options.

As at 31 December 2024, options granted to the Grantees to
subscribe for an aggregate of 200,000 shares (representing
approximately 0.02% of the issued share capital of our Company
as of 31 December 2024) were outstanding under the Share
Option Scheme.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Share
Option Scheme:

(@) Who may participate

Our Board may, at its absolute discretion, offer options to
subscribe for such number of Shares in accordance with the
terms set forth in the Share Option Scheme to:

(i)  any executive director of, manager of, or other
employee holding an executive, managerial,
supervisory or similar position in any member of our
Group (the "Executive”), any full-time or part-time
employee, or a person for the time being seconded
to work full-time or part-time for any member of our
Group (the "Employee”);

(i) a director or proposed director (including an
independent non-executive director) of any member
of our Group;
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(b)

()

(i) a direct or indirect shareholder of any member of our
Group;

(iv)  a supplier of goods or services to any member of our
Group;

(v)  a customer, consultant, business or joint venture
partner, franchisee, contractor, agent or representative
of any member of our Group;

(vi) a person or entity that provides design, research,
development or other support or any advisory,
consultancy, professional or other services to any
member of our Group; and

(vii) an associate of any of the persons referred to in
paragraphs (i) to (iii) above.

(the persons referred above are the “Eligible Persons”)

Maximum number of Shares in respect of which
options maybe granted

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any options granted under any other share
option scheme must not in aggregate exceed 100,000,000
Shares (being 10% of the Shares in issue as of the Listing
Date) unless our Company obtains a fresh approval.

Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Person

Unless approved by the shareholders of our Company
in the general meeting in the manner prescribed in the
Listing Rules, the maximum number of Shares issued and
to be issued upon exercise of the options granted and to
be granted to each Eligible Person under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme of our Company
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in
any 12-month period shall not at the time of grant exceed
1% of the Shares in issue.

(b)

()
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(d) Acceptance of an offer of options

(e)

(f)

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

An offer of the grant of an option shall remain open for
acceptance by the Eligible Person concerned for a period of
28 days from the offer date provided that no such grant of
an option may be accepted after the expiry of the effective
period of the Share Option Scheme. An option shall be
deemed to have been granted and accepted by the Eligible
Person and to have taken effect when the duplicate offer
letter comprising acceptance of the offer of the option duly
signed by the grantee together with a remittance in favour
of our Company of HK$1.0 by way of consideration for the
grant thereof is received by our Company on or before the
date upon which an offer of an option must be accepted
by the relevant Eligible Person, being a date not later than
30 days after the offer date. Such remittance shall in no
circumstances be refundable.

Exercise price

The exercise price of a share in respect of any particular
option shall be such price as our Board may in its absolute
discretion determine at the time of grant of the relevant
option (and shall be stated in the letter containing the offer
of the grant of the option) but the exercise price shall not be
less than whichever is the highest of: (i) the nominal value of
a share; (i) the closing price of a share as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant; and
(iii) the average closing price of a share as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five (5) business
days (as defined in the Listing Rules) immediately preceding
the date of grant.

Time for exercise of options

An option may be exercised at any time during the year
which is notified by our Board at the offer date when
making an offer to an Eligible Person but such period not to
exceed the period of 10 years from the offer date of such
option. There is no minimum period for which an option
must be held before it can be exercised.
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(g) Duration of Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of ten years commencing on the Listing Date, until 14
January 2028, with remaining life less than 3 years from the
date of this report, after which period no further options will
be granted but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme
shall remain in full force and effect to the extent necessary
to give effect to the exercise of any options granted prior
thereto which are at that time or become thereafter capable
of exercise under the rules of the Share Option Scheme, or
otherwise to the extent as may be required in accordance
with the provisions of the Share Option Scheme.

Details of the shares options outstanding on which options are
granted under the Share Option Scheme to each of the Directors,
chief executive or substantial shareholders of the Company, or
their respective associates, as at 31 December 2024, under the
scheme are as follows:

Number of options
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(1) Since there was no exercise of options during the year ended 31
December 2024, therefore this report is not required to disclose the
weighted average closing prices of the Shares immediately before
the dates on which the options were exercised during the year.

(2)  Since no option was granted under the Share Option Scheme
during the year ended 31 December 2024 and all options granted
to employee participants, related entity participants and service
providers have expired as of 1 January 2024, there is no participant
with options and awards granted or to be granted in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of such grant representing in
aggregate over 1% individual limit, any related entity participant or
service provider with options and awards granted or to be granted
in any 12-month period exceeding 0.1% of the Shares in issue
(excluding treasury shares as defined under the Listing Rules, if any),
or employee participants, related entity participants and service
providers with outstanding options during the year.

There was no new option granted under the Share Option
Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2024, the disclosures
in relation to options granted during the year are not applicable to
this report.

The total number of shares available for issue under the Share
Option Scheme as of the effective date of the scheme was
100,000,000, representing 7.96% of the issued share capital of
1,255,560,870 Shares as at the date of this report. As at 1 January
2024 and 31 December 2024, the number of options available for
grant under the currently in-place scheme mandate for the Share
Option Scheme was 92,120,000 options and 92,120,000 options,
respectively, representing approximately 7.34% and 7.34%,
respectively of the total issued share capital of the Company as at
the date of this report.

As at 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024, the total number
of securities available for issue (less those exercised, cancelled
and lapsed) under the Share Option Scheme was 92,320,000
and 92,320,000, representing approximately 7.35% and 7.35%,
respectively of the issued share capital of 1,255,560,870 Shares as
at the date of this report respectively.
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THE 2022 SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 7 November 2022 (the “Adoption Date”), the Company
has adopted the C-MER Eye Care Holdings Limited Share Award
(Existing Shares) Scheme (the “2022 Share Award Scheme”),
pursuant to which the Board may from time to time cause to
be paid a contributed amount to the trust by way of settlement
to the trust, which shall constitute part of the trust fund for the
purchase of Shares and other purposes set out in the relevant
scheme rules and the trust deed.

The purpose of the 2022 Share Award Scheme is to (i) to
recognise the contributions by eligible participants selected by the
Board and to provide them with incentives in order to retain them
for the continual operation and development of the Group; (ii) to
attract suitable personnel for further development of the Group;
and/or (iii) to further align the interests of the eligible participants
directly to the shareholders of the Company through participation
in the 2022 Share Award Scheme. For details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 7 November 2022.

The eligible participants (the “Eligible Participants”) of the 2022
Share Award Scheme include any individual being (i) directors
and employees of the Company or its subsidiaries (including
persons who are granted shares or options under the scheme as
an inducement to enter into employment contracts with these
companies), but shall include (for the avoidance of doubt), both
full time and part time employees (an “Employee Participant”);
(ii) directors and employees of the holding companies, fellow
subsidiaries or associated companies of the Company (an “Related
Entity Participant”); and (iii) persons who provide services to
the Company and/or its subsidiaries on a continuing or recurring
basis in its ordinary and usual course of business which are in
the interests of the long-term growth of the Company and/or its
associated companies, and would include (for the avoidance of
doubt) doctors and dentists in Hong Kong who have entered into
partnership agreements with the Group (a “Service Provider”),
at any time during the trust period. For the avoidance of doubt,
Service Provider may not include placing agents or financial
advisers providing advisory services for fundraising, mergers or
acquisitions, as well as professional service providers such as
auditors or valuers who provide assurance, or are required to
perform their services with impartiality and objectivity.
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The consideration payable, if any, in respect of any grant of
awards shall be determined at the sole and absolute discretion
of the Board taking into consideration matters that may include
the selected participant’s position, experience, years of service,
performance and contribution to the Group and the market price
of the Shares. For the avoidance of doubt, “nil” is an acceptable
consideration payable for the purpose of the 2022 Share Award
Scheme.

The Board shall not make any further grant of awards under the
2022 Share Award Scheme such that the total number of Shares
granted under the 2022 Share Award Scheme (the “Award"”)
will exceed 10% of the total number of issued Shares as of the
Adoption Date. On the basis that the total number of issued
Shares as of the Adoption Date was 1,236,502,870 Shares, the
aforesaid 10% limit represents a total of 123,650,287 Shares.

The maximum number of options or awards to a selected
participant under the 2022 Share Award Scheme and any other
share option schemes and share award schemes of the Company,
which would result in the Shares issued and to be issued in respect
of all options and awards (inclusive of the Awards) granted to such
person (excluding any options and awards lapsed in accordance
with the terms of the respective scheme(s)), shall not exceed 1%
of the issued share capital of the Company in any twelve-month
period.

Unless early terminated by the Board, the 2022 Share Award
Scheme shall terminate on the tenth anniversary date of the
Adoption Date (being 7 November 2032), with remaining life
more than 7 years from the date of this report, provided that such
termination shall not affect any subsisting rights of any selected
participant under the 2022 Share Award Scheme.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, 160,000 Awards were
granted by the Company to our service provider participants.
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Details of the Awards outstanding on which Awards are granted 1B 15 2022 £ Rz 17 B2 B &+ &1 m) B 1 AR 75 {1
under the 2022 Share Award Scheme to other service providers, P B9 SEED P R Y 1) AR 1T 22BN A 2024
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(3) There were no (i) Directors, chief executive or substantial
shareholders of the Company, or their respective associates, (ii)
other employee participants or related entity participants, with
Awards granted; or (iii) participant with options and Awards
granted or to be granted in the 12-month period up to and
including the date of such grant representing in aggregate over 1%
individual limit, or any related entity participant or service provider
with options and Awards granted or to be granted in any 12-month
period exceeding 0.1% of the Shares in issue (excluding treasury
shares as defined under the Listing Rules, if any).

The fair value of the Awards granted to service providers on 28
June 2023 and 7 November 2024 was approximately HK$303,000
and HK$369,600 respectively. The fair value of the Awards were
valued based on the closing price of the share of HK$3.79 and
HK$2.31 as at the respective grant date.

As at 31 December 2024, 160,000 Awards were unvested.

As at 31 December 2024, 160,000 Shares may be vested in
respect of the Awards that were granted under 2022 Share
Award Scheme, as at 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024,
123,570,287 Shares, and 123,410,287 Shares remained available
for future grants of the Awards, representing approximately 9.8%
and 9.8% of the total issued share capital of the Company as at
the date of this report, respectively.

According to information provided by the trustee of the 2022
Share Award Scheme, the trustee held 23,240,000 Shares under
the 2022 Share Award Scheme as at the date of this report,
representing approximately 1.9% of the total issued share capital
of the Company on the same date.

The number of Shares that may be issued in respect of options
and awards granted under the Share Option Scheme and the
2022 Share Award Scheme during the year divided by the
weighted average number of Shares in issue for the year is 0.0002.
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Our Group participated in various retirement benefit schemes in
accordance with the relevant rules and regulations in the PRC and
Hong Kong. Particulars of the retirement benefit schemes are set
out in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
of the Group in Hong Kong is registered with the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Authority under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in funds under the control of
an independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions to
the MPF Scheme at rates specified in the relevant rules. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the MPF Scheme is to
make the required contributions.

Employees of the Group in the PRC are members of the state-
sponsored pension scheme operated by the PRC government (the
“PRC Scheme"). The Group were required to contribute a certain
percentage of the payroll of our employees to the pension scheme
to fund the benefits under the PRC Scheme. The only obligation
of the Group with respect to the PRC Scheme is to make the
required contributions.

Except for voluntary contribution under the MPF Scheme, no
forfeited contribution under the MPF Scheme or the PRC Scheme
is available to reduce the contribution payable in future years.
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SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as of 31 December
2024 are set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, our five largest clients
accounted for 1.9% of our total revenue, of which 0.7% of our
total revenue was generated from our largest client, which was a
customer from the provision of ophthalmic services segment.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, our five largest
suppliers accounted for 33.8% of our total purchases. These five
largest suppliers include suppliers of pharmaceuticals, medical
consumables and intraocular lenses. For the same period, our
largest supplier accounted for 8.5% of our total purchases.

None of our Directors or any of their respective close associates
or any shareholder which to the best knowledge of our Directors,
who own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital
(excluding treasury shares as defined under the Listing Rules, if
any), had any interest in any of our Group’s five largest customers
or suppliers during the year ended 31 December 2024.

DIRECTORS

Our Directors during the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to
the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Dennis

(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. LI Xiaoting
Dr. LEE Yau Wing Vincent

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Rex AUYEUNG Pak-kuen (Vice Chairman)
Mr. MA Andrew Chiu Cheung

Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen

Mr. YIN Ke
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At the AGM, Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Dennis, Ms. LI Xiaoting and
Dr. LEE Yau Wing Vincent will retire as Directors by rotation
under Article 84(1) of the Articles of Association of our Company
("Articles of Association”) and shall be eligible for re-election.
All of them will offer themselves for re-election.

Please refer to the circular for the AGM for further details
of Directors who will offer themselves for re-election at the
upcoming AGM, which will be despatched to the shareholders in
due cause.

DIRECTORS’, SENIOR MANAGEMENT’'S AND
COMPANY SECRETARY'S PROFILE

Profile details of our Directors, the senior management and
company secretary of our Group are set out on pages 36 to 44 of
this report.

UPDATES ON DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES
INFORMATION

Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Dennis, our Chairman of the Board, our Chief
Executive Officer and our executive Director, changed his position
from Secretary-General to council member at the Academy of
Asia-Pacific Professors of Ophthalmology (AAPPO), with effect
from June 2024.

Dr. Rex AUYEUNG Pak-kuen, our independent non-executive
Director and vice chairman, was appointed as a member of the
Board of Advisers of Healthcare Dispute Resolution Centre Limited
with effect from 1 January 2025 and ceased to act as a member
of the Board of Directors of the Investor and Financial Education
Council under the Securities and Futures Commission with effect
from 18 October 2024.

Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen, our independent non-executive
Director, retired as an independent non-executive director of
China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited
(EMEMBEIZERAR QA (Stock code: 01313) with effect
from 24 May 2024.

Mr. YIN Ke, our independent non-executive Director, resigned
as an independent non-executive director of Morgan Stanley
Securities (China) Co., Ltd. with effect from 8 October 2024.
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There is no change in positions of Dr. LAM, Dr. AUYEUNG, Mr. IP
and Mr. YIN held with the Company and other members of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Save as disclosed in this report, there are no other matters that
are required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B of the
Listing Rules or required to be brought to the attention of the
Shareholders.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with our Company and our Company has issued letters of
appointment to each of the independent non-executive Directors.
The principal particulars of these service contracts and letters of
appointment are (a) for a term of 3 years and (b) are subject to
termination in accordance with their respective terms. The term
of the service contracts and the letters of appointment may be
renewed in accordance with the Articles of Association and the
Listing Rules.

None of our Directors proposed for re-election at the AGM
has an unexpired service contract which is not determinable
by our Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year
without payment of compensation, other than normal statutory
obligations.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

Our Group remunerates its employees, including our Directors,
on the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence.
Our employees are subject to regular job performance reviews
which determine their promotion prospects and compensation.
Subject to our Group’s profitability, our Group may also provide
discretionary bonuses to its employees as an incentive for their
contribution to our Group. Our Company has adopted the Share
Option Scheme and the 2022 Share Award Scheme as incentives
to our Directors and eligible employees.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of business of our Company
were entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December
2024.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of assets of our Company against
all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or
about the execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in
relation thereto.

The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ liability
insurance throughout the year, which provides appropriate cover
for the directors of the Group.

INFORMATION RELATING TO DEED OF
NON-COMPETITION

The controlling shareholders of the Company, namely C-MER
Group Limited (“C-MER Group”), Dr. Dennis LAM and Ms.
LI Xiaoting, confirm that during the year ended 31 December
2024, none of them carried on, participated or was interested
or engaged in or held any other business which is or may be in
competition with the business of any member of the Group from
time to time. Relying on this confirmation and the fact that Dr.
Dennis LAM and Ms. LI Xiaoting, both being executive directors
and controlling shareholders of the Company, have devoted
their time and resources in different business activities/medical
practice of the Group, the independent non-executive Directors
are satisfied that the Deed of Non-Competition was fully complied
with by the controlling shareholders of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2024.

Report of the Directors

EEEHRS

BETRERX

REEAHSERAR BRESHERTR
B I BRI BEH — B KX
HEE - HERAARREETRSREE
RE -

ARREBEFERESTRRATRE
RAEEEERTSERE -

FBRTHRFEENES

ARARZERER (A BEERERAR(H
BEE]) WBEHEERTHEBLZL) R
REZE2024F12831BILFE  BEH
MET 20 REXBFEEMEATRT
BE T By B AN &= [ (R ] B B A B ) E TSI K
BENEMER AN ETHEEER
RUILERERATESHRIEREERTEE
ZETURARARERBREDEEERER
BREAAEENSEER T, BEE
BHEE BUFERNTESZEN KAF
TR RN E R 2024 F 12 A3 B IEFE
2HETIRFRIE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 ==& F3f

65



66

Report of the Directors

EEEHRS

DIRECTORS’" AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
MATERIAL INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS THAT ARE
SIGNIFICANT IN RELATION TO THE COMPANY’S
BUSINESS

Save as disclosed under “Connected Transactions and Continuing
Connected Transactions” below and the related party transactions
as disclosed in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements,
no Director and/or any of his/her connected entity or any
controlling shareholders had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance to the business of our Group to which our Company,
its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries
was a party subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(i)  Maida Medical Software Development (Shenzhen) Company
Limited (3832 BB (513 ORI) BR A F)) (“Shenzhen
Maida”) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of D&S International
Holding Limited which is wholly-owned by Dr. Dennis LAM,
and it is therefore a connected person of our Company.
Shenzhen Maida is therefore a connected person of our
Company pursuant to Rule 14A.07 of the Listing Rules.

On 18 May 2023, Shenzhen C-MER Hospital entered
into a lease agreement (the “Lease Agreement”) which
constitutes a connected transaction for our Company.
Pursuant to the Lease Agreement, Shenzhen Maida and
Shenzhen C-MER Hospital entered into the Lease Agreement
in relation to the lease to Shenzhen C-MER Hospital of a
property located at No. 101 Sheng Tang Building, Tairanjiu
Lu, Futian, Shenzhen, the PRC (the “Shenzhen Property”)
for a term of 14 months, commencing from 1 June 2023
and ending on 31 July 2024 (both days inclusive) with a
rent-free period of 2 months from 1 June 2023 to 31 July
2023. Pursuant to the Lease Agreement commencing from
1 June 2023, the Group has recognised the lease as a right-
of-use asset. From 1 August 2023 to 31 July 2024, the rent
per sq.m. per month was RMB215.41 and total monthly
rent was RMB750,000 (equivalent to HK$849,000).
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(ii)

The amount of the monthly rental has been determined
after arm’s length negotiations between Shenzhen Maida
and Shenzhen C-MER Hospital with reference to the
prevailing market conditions and the rental level of similar
properties in the vicinity of the leased property.

The actual rent paid by us in respect of the Shenzhen
Property for the Lease Agreement for the seven months
ended 31 July 2024 was HK$5.7 million.

For further details, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 18 May 2023.

To ensure the continuous use of the Shenzhen Property,
on 15 July 2024, Shenzhen C-MER Hospital entered into
a new lease agreement (the "New Lease Agreement”)
which constitutes a connected transaction for our Company.
Pursuant to the New Lease Agreement, Shenzhen Maida
and Shenzhen C-MER Hospital have extended the lease
of the Shenzhen Property for a term of 36 months,
commencing from 1 August 2024 and ending on 31 July
2027 with a rent-free period of 6 months from 1 November
2024 to 31 December 2024, 1 November 2025 to 31
December 2025, and 1 November 2026 to 31 December
2026. Pursuant to the New Lease Agreement commencing
from 1 August 2024, the Group has recognised the lease as
a right-of-use asset. From 1 August 2024 to 31 July 2027
(except for the rent-free period), the rent per sq.m. per
month is RMB215.41 and total monthly rent is RMB750,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$800,000).

The amount of the monthly rental has been determined
after arm’s length negotiations between Shenzhen Maida
and Shenzhen C-MER Hospital with reference to the
prevailing market conditions and the rental level of similar
properties in the vicinity of the leased property.

The actual rent payable by us in respect of the Shenzhen
Property for the New Lease Agreement for the five months
ended 31 December 2024 was HK$2.4 million.

For further details, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 15 July 2024.

(ii)
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(iii)

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

Dr. Dennis LAM and C-MER Eye Care Medical Group Limited,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (“C-MER
Medical Group”), entered into a joint venture agreement
on 6 July 2023 (the “Joint Venture Agreement”) to jointly
invest in Health Hope Pharma Limited (7 % & £ R A
Al), which was held as to 70% by Dr. Dennis LAM and
30% by C-MER Medical Group, respectively, for developing
innovative drug projects in ophthalmology and oncology.

According to the Joint Venture Agreement, Dr. Dennis
LAM and C-MER Medical Group shall inject up to US$4.67
million (approximately HK$36.4 million) and US$2.0 million
(approximately HK$15.6 million) respectively, in the same
proportion as their respective equity interest in Health Hope
Pharma Limited (i.e. 70% and 30% of the registered share
capital of Health Hope Pharma Limited respectively) as and
when such capital needs arise.

As Dr. Dennis LAM is one of the executive Directors and
one of the controlling shareholders of our Company, he
is a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules. As such, the establishment of the Health Hope
Pharma Limited and the entering into of the Joint Venture
Agreement constitute connected transaction of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

As at 31 December 2024, the actual amount invested under
the Joint Venture Agreement for the year by Dr. Dennis LAM
and C-MER Eye Care Medical Group was HK$14.3 million
and HK$6.2 million, respectively.

For further details, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 6 July 2023.
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(iv)

On 31 December 2024, C-MER Medical Group entered
into an investment agreement with Health Hope Pharma
Limited, pursuant to which C-MER Medical Group agreed
to invest US$1.0 million (approximately HK$7.8 million) into
Health Hope Pharma Limited as part of its series A round of
fundraising.

As Dr. Dennis LAM is one of the executive Directors and
one of the controlling shareholders of our Company, he is a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.
Since Dr. Dennis LAM is able to, directly and indirectly,
control more than 30% of the voting rights of Health Hope
Pharma Limited, Health Hope Pharma Limited is an associate
of a connected person of the Company. As such, the
investment in the Health Hope Pharma Limited constitutes a
connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

The investment amount of US$1.0 million was not yet paid
as at 31 December 2024 but was subsequently paid in
January 2025.

For further details, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 31 December 2024.

On 18 October 2023, Apollo Lens Company Limited
("Apollo”) and Hong Kong Optical Lens Company Limited
(BAZEREE T B MR A F) ("HK Optical”) entered into
a framework purchase agreement (the “2023 Apollo
Framework Purchase Agreement”), pursuant to which
HK Optical has agreed to sell and supply, and Apollo has
agreed to purchase the optical products from HK Optical in
accordance with the terms of the 2023 Apollo Framework
Purchase Agreement, for an initial term from 6 October
2023 to 31 December 2025 (both days inclusive).

(iv)
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From 6 October 2023, Apollo has become 55% owned
by the Company, and HK Optical, being the other 45%
shareholder of Apollo, has become a connected person of
the Company under Rule 14A.06(9) of the Listing Rules.

Because HK Optical is a substantial shareholder of a
subsidiary of the Company, HK Optical is therefore a
connected person of the Company, therefore transactions
contemplated under the 2023 Apollo Framework Purchase
Agreement constituted continuing connected transactions
for the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
thereafter.

Apollo and its subsidiaries (as purchaser) and HK Optical
(as supplier) shall enter into transactions relating to the sale
and purchase of the optical products from time to time
on normal commercial terms and subject to and upon the
terms and conditions of the purchase orders to be agreed
between Apollo and HK Optical, setting out the products
specifications, price, quantity and delivery date. Subject
always to the maximum annual purchase amount not
exceeding the annual caps, the price of the optical products
shall be determined with reference to the ex-factory price of
HK Optical with a profit margin ranging from 15% to 20%,
but provided that where lower prices are offered by HK
Optical to independent third parties on the same products
with the same quality standard, Apollo shall be entitled to
make purchases at the same (or better) prices and/or terms.

The proposed annual cap for aggregate annual purchase
amount payable by the Group for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2024 and the year ending 2025 will
be HK$30 million, HK$80 million, and HK$85 million,
respectively. Details of the 2023 Apollo Framework Purchase
Agreement were set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 18 October 2023.

During the year, the annual cap for purchase from HK
Optical was HK$80 million, whilst the actual transaction
amount for the year with HK Optical was HK$50.9 million.
The proposed annual cap has not been exceeded.
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Save as disclosed above, amounts due from C-MER
RainsOptics Limited (the transaction of which is fully exempt
under Listing Rule 14A.89) and Shenzhen C-MER Aikangjian
Dental Group Co., Ltd (transaction of which is fully exempt
under Listing Rule 14A.76(1)), loans from Huizhou City
Changjiu Investment Co., Ltd (BINT R AR EBR A F])
and loans from individual shareholder of Hong Kong Center
for Clinical Research Limited (both transaction of which
are fully exempt under Listing Rule 14A.90), all the related
party transactions of our Group under HKFRS (with details
set out in note 37 and note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements) do not constitute connected transaction or
continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14 of the
Listing Rules.

ANNUAL REVIEW OF THE CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above
non-exempt continuing connected transaction, namely, the 2023
Apollo Framework Purchase Agreement, and confirmed that the
transaction has been entered into:

(a)

(b)

in the ordinary and usual course of business of our Group;

on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favourable
to our Group than terms available to or from independent
third parties;

according to the agreements governing them on terms that
are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company
and the shareholders of our Company as a whole; and

such continuing connected transaction did not exceed its
annual caps for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Report of the Directors

EEEHRS

B E X P EE - B C-MER
RainsOptics Limited (1R #& = 1 Rl &8
14.8916 R P ER2EHRR) KFYI
FHERBOREEASRAA (RE
EHRAIE14A760) 15 X5 EB R
H#®) MHRE - REEMNTRAER
BAERABNERA KRR BB BER
WEALBRAFTHEARRRER (R
B EHRAIE14A901E  MEXSH
BE2EHE) I AEBRIBESEH
EMEEAEITOMBEEB XS (GF
BN A SRR E37 M &
39) TR ETRAE14ETHE

KEBEXZFEEN

BT ESCEN LA IER R ERE
A 5 (B12023 4l )5 78 HE 2R R p o) 3

ERZEXHE

(a)

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

RASE R L ATEEBBEPET:

REREHERRSIREARAEBmMET
BRE TR BB E = 77 8 ERET
VA

BEEAEHRRATERBIEFEAR
DA AR R AR EE B8 A 55 0 R TR AT
AVARIYNE

RZERBEWERFH IR FEEAEGE

HEHZE2024F12A31HIEFER
FELR-

“ENFEFER

71



72

Report of the Directors

EEEHRS

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company’s
auditor was engaged to perform certain procedures in respect
of the continuing connected transactions set out above in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Listing Rules” issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor
has issued an unqualified letter to the Board in respect of the
continuing connected transaction confirming that nothing has
come to their attention that causes them to believe that the
continuing connected transaction:

(@  have not been approved by the Board;

(b)  were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the
pricing policies of the Group, if the transactions involve the
provision of goods or services by the Group;

(c)  were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance
with the relevant agreement governing the transaction; or

(d) Have exceeded the cap.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
in respect of the above connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions. The Company also confirms that during
the year under review it has followed the terms of the relevant
agreements as described above in determining the pricing and the
terms of the continuing connected transactions.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the material related party transactions undertaken by
our Group in its normal course of business are set out in note
37 to the consolidated financial statements. The Company has
complied with the applicable requirements under the Listing
Rules for those related party transactions which constituted
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
under the Listing Rules, which are set out in the paragraph
headed “Connected Transactions and Continuing Connected
Transactions” on pages 66 to 71.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As of 31 December 2024, none of our Directors is interested in
any business, apart from our Group’s businesses, which competes
or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
businesses of our Group.

SHARES ISSUED AND RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
THE COMPANY'’S SECURITIES, ISSUE FOR CASH
OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND EQUITY-LINKED
AGREEMENTS

Our Company has share option scheme and share award scheme,
the details of which are set out in the section headed “Share
Option Scheme” and “The 2022 Share Award Scheme” in the
Report of the Directors, under which an aggregate of 160,000
Awards were granted by the Company to our service providers
under the 2022 Share Award Scheme during the year ended 31
December 2024.

To establish the presence in the prescription lens development
and distribution market in mainland China, on 1 June 2023, the
Company entered into the sale and purchase agreement with HK
Optical, pursuant to which HK Optical has agreed to sell and the
Company has agreed to purchase 55% of the entire issued share
capital of Apollo at the consideration of RMB50.49 million (subject
to adjustment) (the “Acquisition”), which was satisfied by the
issue of the bond by the Company. Apollo and its subsidiaries
have been engaging in lens distribution business in the mainland
China since 2002. HK Optical is an independent third party, and
a leading manufacturer of and coating service provider for optical
lenses with prescriptions in Asia. The Acquisition was completed
on 6 October 2023.
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A 2% RMB denominated Hong Kong dollars settled unsecured
bond in the principal amount of RMB50.49 million (subject to
adjustment based on the total actual net profit of Apollo) was
issued as the consideration for the Acquisition to HK Optical.
An interest of 2.0 per cent per annum on a simple basis shall be
payable together with the principal amount upon maturity of the
bond. The Company may choose to settle the settlement amount
by way of cash and/or issue and allotment of the new ordinary
shares of the Company, at its absolute discretion. In the event
the Company chooses to settle the settlement amount by issue
and allotment of the new shares, (i) subject to the compliance
of the Listing Rules, the issue price of such issue shall be the
volume-weighted average closing price per Share in a period of 30
trading days prior to the settlement date (or the latest practicable
date immediately before the settlement date) as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets; (ii) such issue is always
subject to the Shareholders’ approval, either pursuant to a special
mandate in relation to such issue or as part of the Company’s
general mandate under Rule 13.36 of the Listing Rules, and that (iii)
the Company shall duly comply with the Listing Rules in relation to
such issue. The bond matures on the third anniversary of the issue
date of the bond.

For further details, please refer to the announcement dated 1 June
2023.

Save as the aforesaid, no other equity-linked agreement was

entered into or existed and there had not been any issue for cash
of equity securities during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF OUR COMPANY
OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As of 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions
of our Directors and chief executive of our Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of our Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which were required (a) to be notified to our Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) to be
recorded in the register required to be kept pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO; or () as otherwise notified to our Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code")
were as follows:

(A) Long and short position in Shares of our
Company

Name of Director Nature of Interest

EEnE HEME
Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Interest of controlled
Dennis corporation

RIE B R LAk
Beneficial owner
EnEAA

Ms. LI Xiaoting Interest of controlled

FHIELZT corporation
Ry LB

Interest of spouse

L e
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Name of Director

Nature of Interest

EEnE EaME
Dr. LEE Yau Wing Vincent Beneficial owner
FHEBLE EalEEA

Dr. Rex AUYEUNG

Interest of spouse

Pak-kuen fic {8 4 2
BrF5 AR g+
Beneficial owner
EmlA A
Notes:

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

680,194,553 Shares are beneficially owned by C-MER Group
Limited (“C-MER Group”). C-MER Group is owned as to
70% by Dr. Dennis LAM and 30% by Ms. LI Xiaoting. Ms.
Ll is the spouse of Dr. Dennis LAM, and both of them have
been managing and operating our business collectively and
reaching consensus before making major decisions in respect
of our business. Both Dr. Dennis LAM and Ms. LI, as directors
of C-MER Group, will continue to act jointly so far as the
exercise of the voting rights attached with our Shares (through
C-MER Group) is concerned.

Ms. LI Xiaoting, the spouse of Dr. Lam Shun Chiu Dennis, is
deemed to be interested in the 11,592,000 Shares held by
Dr. Dennis Lam.

Dr. Rex AUYEUNG Pak-kuen held 200,000 share options
under the Share Option Scheme. For details, please refer
to the paragraph headed “Directors’ and chief executives’
interests and short positions in shares, underlying shares and
debentures of our Company or any associated corporation
- (B) Long position in underlying Shares of our Company —
physically settled unlisted equity derivatives” in this report.

FHRBRERAERDA

Approximate
percentage of
issued voting

shares in
Number of our Company (%)
ordinary class RAEAF
of shares ERTRERS
ZREERRMEE BAE DK (%)
13,203,000 1.1 %
(long position)
13,203,000 %
(5 E)
300,000 0.02%
(long position)
300,000 %
(iFE)
200,000 0.02%
(long position) (Note 3)
200,000 i%
(4772) (M5E3)
PEE

—_

680,194,553 E D B F B EEER
AR ((HHEE)EHEE 515
EESBEMKIEREERT Y L
THEBT0% K 30% K - T+
AMIESEEENEE BERAY—
BEAREERCERMOER LR
EHBERPINERNEBREA
ER—HER MIEHEEREL
T (EAAFBHEEES) YR (B
BAEBEE)ITEROEERERS
R1TE) -

THEZLT (AMIEHE £
BYERARMKIEBDRERIZAE
11,592,000 A& f&% 17 7 #E 5 #E 25 o

B AR TR R BIEE
200,00017 fE AR 1% - ¥ B2 M AR
HIEERERTRABRAR
ETAEE A AR (D - ABREARR D &
BREBFPEENOEZLAE-B)R
RAFBEROOTE-BEMEE
JEEMRASTETE | —E -
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(B) RALAFHEBARONWEFE-—EY
BEFLTRATETA

(B) Long position in underlying Shares of our
Company - physically settled unlisted equity

derivatives

Number of
underlying ordinary
class of shares

in respect of

Approximate
percentage of
issued voting

the share options shares in

granted (Note) our Company (%)

FERLEREN RAAF

Name of Director Nature of Interest HEZEER ERITRERSD

EEnE HEME R EE () BAE DL (%)

Dr. Rex AUYEUNG Beneficial owner 200,000 0.02%
Pak-kuen BEmEa A (long position) (Note)
S aEEL 200,000 A%
(&) (FiF&E)

Note: Details of the above share options granted by our Company
are set out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” in

this report.

Mizr: A LAARRFREOERERS
TBEN AT [t 8] — 4 -

(C) Long position in shares of associated corporation (C) AHEEEIBERONEFE-FESE

— C-MER Group

Approximate

Number of percentage of

ordinary class the issued

of shares voting shares (%)

Name of Director Nature of Interest =B REBTRERS

EEHR Eatys RHEE BEA B 2 L (%)

Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Beneficial owner 1,400 (long position) 70.0%
Dennis BEREAA 1,400 8% (47 &)

RIEE

Ms. LI Xiaoting Beneficial owner 600 (long position) 30.0%

FHEELL EnEAA 600 % (4F &)
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(D) Long position in the shares of associated

corporations — Others

Name of Name of Associated
Director Corporation
Esps LB AR
Dr. LAM Shun Health Hope
Chiu International Medical
Dennis Laboratory Limited
PRIIE 5 wAERA(BER) AR
NSl

Health Hope Pharma
Limited (“HHP")

FEBERRRAA
([HEEE))

Nature of
Interest

BEME

Beneficial owner

EafBA

Beneficial owner

EaflEiA

Interest of controlled
corporation
ZrEER

Note: 191,100, 1,328,567, 497,000, 465,167 and 167,338 shares
of HHP (representing approximately 1.4%, 10.0%, 3.8%,
3.5% and 1.3% of the total number of shares of HHP)
are held by Forward Pharma Investment Limited (“FP"),

Leap Pharma Investment Limited (“LP"), Rightway Pharma

Investment Limited (“RP"), Innovation Pharma Investment

Limited (“IP”) and Success Pharma Investment Limited
("SP") respectively. FP, LP, RP, IP and SP are owned as to
approximately 36.6%, 53.6%, 50.3%, 0.5% and 1.4% and
controlled by Dr. Dennis LAM (with all voting rights of IP and
SP entrusted in Dr. LAM). As such, Dr. Dennis LAM is deemed
to be interested in the 2,649,172 shares of HHP held through
his controlled corporations of FP, LP, RP, IP and SP.
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(D) REBCEERD 7R —Hite

Approximate
percentage of

Number of the issued
ordinary class  voting shares (%)
of shares RERT
ZEER R =R A5
A8 E A E 2L (%)
900,000 51%
(long position)
900,000 f% (47 &)
3,678,633 27.8%
(long position)
3,678,633/ (17 8)
2,649,172 20.0%
(long position)
(Note)
2,649,172 1%
(418)
(Pfd5E)

P& £ 191,100 % + 1,328,567 f% ~ 497,000
M~ 465,167 % K 167,338 5 75 2 B8 &
&t (B FHEBER M BEN14%
10.0% * 3.8% ~ 3.5% &% 13%) 7 5l
Fq Forward Pharma Investment Limited
([FP]) ~ Leap Pharma Investment Limited
(['LP ) - Rightway Pharma Investment
Limited ([ RP |) * Innovation Pharma
Investment Limited ([IP ]) K Success
Pharma Investment Limited ([SP ) #3574 °
MIEFREE E B R H4736.6%
53.6% * 50.3% * 0.5% & 1.4%FP -
LP *RP * IPJ2 SP 2 & 15 (IP K2 SP&Y Y
ERERHEZFETHIERE L) -
At - MIEMEBEERERABERE
SYEAEFP P RPIPRSPHES
2,649 172 IR EB R 2 M s o



Save as disclosed above, as of 31 December 2024, so far as
is known to our Directors or chief executive of our Company,
none of our Directors or chief executive of our Company
had interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of our Company or its associated
corporations which (a) were required to be notified to our
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register
referred to therein; or (c) were required, pursuant to the
Model Code, to be notified to our Company and the Stock
Exchange.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF OUR COMPANY

As of 31 December 2024, so far as was known to any Director or
chief executive of our Company, the following persons (other than
our Directors and chief executive of our Company) had interests
and/or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which
would fall to be disclosed to our Company pursuant to Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the register required
to be kept by our Company under section 336 of the SFO.

Name of substantial

Shareholder Nature of Interest
TERRER EattE
C-MER Group Limited Beneficial owner
("C-MER Group") Em#EAA
HIHEEFR QA
(IHBEE]

Note: C-MER Group is owned as to 70% by Dr. Dennis LAM and 30% by
Ms. LI Xiaoting. Ms. Ll is the spouse of Dr. Dennis LAM, and both of
them have been managing and operating our business collectively
and reaching consensus before making major decisions in respect of
our business. Both Dr. Dennis LAM and Ms. LI will continue to act
jointly so far as the exercise of the voting rights attached with our
Shares (through C-MER Group) is concerned.
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Br EXCFT# R E SN - 12024512 A
318 BEERARRERITHAER
il BERXARFTRSITHAER
RArR S EHARR EB MG - HER
PREEETFREREEQBREES
NEREAEBIEXVERE 7 e n EBAM
EARARAMBERITNERZIAE (B
FEIREFES S GO RBIERE
ESRAEBENER KAR)  (b)
BIEE S K& A E &P 5 352 7B 0 8%
LG B MAMEZR T XA -
(O RIFIZESTRZBAE AN R F) M
LTRSS SIA R o

FERRRARQ TR K HEE R G
MERRKXR

R2024F 12 A318 A EESK AR
REmETHABRM  THAL(EERA
NalEEITBABRIN AR 2k A8 @ i
HFHEBIREBEZISRBERAEXVEFE2R
3 EPAMARRD B FE ok i B R AN A BIR B
BEMBEKAIFEIB6IEAEFENZ LM
REER R TAR -

Approximate
percentage of
issued voting

shares in

Number of our Company (%)
ordinary class RAEQTH
of shares ERITRERSG
ZEERRGHEB BEA B 2 L (%)

680,194,553 54.2%

(long position) (Note)

680,194,553 %
(41 R) (ML)

Mk : A EEAMEREERTEELLED
BIER ET70% R30%HEZR T A
MIEFHEENEE AMAY—BEHXRAE
BREEBMEB LR VEL A B M
EBNERXRRAEN —BER - WEH
BENTLIHER(ERFHEE) T
FROIERERELRITE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 ==& F3f

79



80

Report of the Directors

EEEHRS

By virtue of the SFO, Dr. Dennis LAM and Ms. Li Xiaoting are
deemed to be interested in the shares held by C-MER Group.

Save as disclosed above, as of 31 December 2024, our Directors
were not aware that there is any other persons (being a Director,
chief executive or substantial shareholder of our Company or
otherwise) who had an interest or short positions in the Shares
and underlying Shares of our Company, which would fall to be
disclosed to our Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO or recorded in the register required to be
kept by our Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to our Company and
to the best of our Directors’ knowledge, information and belief
as at the date of this annual report, our Company has always
maintained sufficient public float as required under the Listing
Rules during the year ended 31 December 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by our Company
are set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” section on
pages 81 to 97 of this report.

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING
PERIOD

There were no significant events affecting the Group which have
occurred after the end of the reporting period.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers,
who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
reappointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of our Company. A resolution for re-appointment of
PricewaterhouseCoopers as the independent auditor of our
Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

On behalf of our Board
Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Dennis
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 21 March 2025
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Board is committed to maintaining high corporate governance
standards.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has
applied the principles as set forth in the Corporate Governance
Code (the "CG Code”) contained in Appendix C1 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”)
which are applicable to the Company. In accordance with the
requirements of the Listing Rules and also to enhance its corporate
governance practices, the Company has also adopted a number
of corporate governance policies, including but not limited the
board diversity policy, the shareholders’ communication policy, the
director nomination policy, the inside information policy and the
dividend policy.

In the opinion of the Board, during the year ended 31 December
2024, the Company has complied with all applicable code
provisions as set forth in the CG Code, save and except for code
provision C.2.1, which states that the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Dennis is both our
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and is responsible for the
overall management of the Group and directing the strategic
development and business plans of the Group.

The Board believes that vesting the roles of the Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer in the same individual would enable
the Company to achieve higher responsiveness, efficiency and
effectiveness when formulating business strategies and executing
business plans. The Board believes that the balance of power
and authority is sufficiently maintained by the operation of the
senior management and the Board, which comprises experienced
and high-calibre individuals. The Board currently comprises three
executive Directors (including Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Dennis) and four
independent non-executive Directors and therefore has a fairly
strong independence element in its composition. The Board will
nevertheless review the structure and composition of the Board
from time to time in light of prevailing circumstances, in order to
maintain a high standard of corporate governance practices of the
Company.

SEEARE

TEERESR
EFRHNRBRERTHLLEBDE -

HE2024F12A31BILEE » A RRIEHK
BARRBERANEEBARSBRAF
([HRFT]) EFH AR ([ EmRA) M
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TMREMEEAREHR  ARRIMEFR
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L LR CIREERECE - EBIRBHR
WEH BB A% SIBE -

BEE2eR A HE2024F128318 ILF
B ARRBETEEEATIUNMENS
B ST RME S B ST RIESTEE C.2.1 1B
Oh ZIBHEFE I ERETRBHRNACES
E5 - WAER— ARRIRE] o MIEEE
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AEBMEEEE NIEE A EE MR
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set forth in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding
securities transactions of the Directors. Employees of the Group
(the "Relevant Employees”) who, because of their office or
employment, are likely to possess inside information in relation to
the Company or its securities are also subject to compliance with
the Model Code. Having made specific enquiry of all directors,
each of the Directors has confirmed compliance with the Model
Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2024. No incident
of non-compliance of the Model Code by the Relevant Employees
was noted by the Company during the year ended 31 December
2024.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises seven members as follows:

Executive Directors:
Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Dennis
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. LI Xiaoting
Dr. LEE Yau Wing Vincent

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Dr. Rex AUYEUNG Pak-kuen (Vice Chairman)
Mr. MA Andrew Chiu Cheung

Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen

Mr. YIN Ke

The biographical information of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Profile of Directors, Senior Management and
Company Secretary” on pages 36 to 44 of this annual report. Save
as disclosed in the section headed “Profile of Directors, Senior
Management and Company Secretary” in this annual report,
the Board members have no financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationships with each other as at 31 December
2024.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company are served by Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Dennis and have not
been segregated as required under code provision C.2.1 of the CG
Code. The Board is of the view that such arrangement provided
the Group with strong and consistent leadership to the Company
and allowed for more effective and efficient business planning and
decisions as well as execution of long term business strategies.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board at all
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors
representing one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of his/her
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view
that all independent non-executive Directors are independent.

With their different experiences and expertises, the independent
non-executive Directors supervise and provide independent
judgement to the Board on strategic and significant matters. The
Board seeks to develop an effective working environment for
the executive and independent non-executive Directors so as to
improve the quality of the decisions made by the Board without
constraining the independent views of the independent non-
executive Directors. Regular Board meetings were held during
the year with open discussions between the executive Directors
and the independent non-executive Directors to enhance
communication and effective working relationship. The Board had
reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s mechanism to ensure
independent views and inputs being available to the Board for the
year ended 31 December 2024, and considered it effective.

The Chairman has held at least one meeting with the independent
non-executive Directors without the presence of other directors
during the year.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code requires that every director,
including those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Each of the
executive Directors is appointed for a term of three years which
is terminable by either party by giving three months’ written
notice to the other party. Each of the independent non-executive
Directors is appointed under a letter of appointment for a term
of three years which is terminable by either party by giving three
months’ written notice to the other party.
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In accordance with the Articles of Association, all Directors are
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general
meeting at least once every three years. Any Director appointed
by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first
general meeting and any Director appointed by the Board as an
addition to the Board shall hold office until the next following
annual general meeting after his/her appointment and they will be
subject to re-election at such meeting.

Roles and Responsibilities of the Board

The Board, led by the Chairman, Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Dennis,
determines and monitors the overall strategy and policies, annual
budgets and business plans, evaluates the performance of the
Group, and supervises the management of the Company.

The Board is accountable to shareholders for the activities and
performance of the Group and its primary functions cover, among
other things, the formulation of overall strategy, the review
of the corporate and financial policies, review and assessment
of the Company’s financial reporting, internal control and risk
management systems and the oversight of the management of
the Group’s business and affairs.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of
the Company as well as the services and advice from the senior
management. The Directors may, upon request, seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s
expenses for discharging their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices
held by them and the Board regularly reviews the contribution
required from each Director to perform his/her responsibilities to
the Company.

The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Company to the
management of the Group, who possesses extensive operating
experience and industry knowledge, and also instructs the
management to implement the Board’s decisions and resolutions.

The Board reserves its powers over decision of all major matters
which include, inter alia, the approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgeting, internal control and risk
management systems, material transactions (in particular those
which may involve conflict of interests of substantial shareholder(s)
or Director(s)), financial information, appointment of Directors and
other significant financial and operational matters.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board had
approved the on-market repurchase of shares pursuant to the
mandate granted by the Shareholders.

Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy which sets out the
selection criteria and nomination procedures adopted to guide the
nomination committee of the Company to select and recommend
candidates for directorship so as to ensure that the Board has
a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business.

The factors listed below would be used as reference by the
nomination committee of the Company in assessing the suitability
of a proposed candidate:

o reputation for integrity;

o qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the
Board Diversity Policy that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy;

° (in case of independent non-executive Directors) requirement
for the Board to have independent non-executive Directors
in accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the
candidate would be considered independent with reference
to the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

o any potential contributions that the candidate can bring to
the Board;

o commitment for responsibilities of the Board in respect of
available time and relevant interest; and

o any other perspectives that are appropriate to the
Company’s business operation and environment as well as
the industry in which the Company operates.

The nomination committee may consult any source it considers
appropriate in identifying or selecting suitable candidates, such
as referrals from existing Directors, advertising, recommendations
from a third party agency firm and proposals from the
shareholders of the Company with due consideration given to the
criteria which include but are limited to the above-mentioned.
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The nomination committee or the company secretary of
the Company shall convene a meeting upon receipt of any
nominations of candidates to evaluate such candidates based on
the selection criteria mentioned above to determine whether such
candidate is qualified for directorship. The nomination committee
should then recommend to the Board to appoint the appropriate
candidate for directorship. For any person that is nominated by
a shareholder of the Company for election as a Director at the
general meeting, the nomination committee and/or the Board
should make recommendation to the shareholders in respect of
the proposed election of Director at the general meeting. The
Board should have the final decision on all matters relating to
its recommendation of candidates to stand for election at any
general meeting.

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

Directors keep abreast of responsibilities as a Director of the
Company and of the conduct, business activities and development
of the Company.

Every newly appointed Director will receive formal and
comprehensive induction on the first occasion of his/her
appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the business
and operations of the Company and full awareness of director’s
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
statutory requirements.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training
courses at the Company'’s expenses.

All Directors have provided to the Company with their training

records and such records have been maintained by the Company
for accurate and comprehensive record keeping.
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Summary of training received by the Directors during the year
ended 31 December 2024 according to the records as provided by
the Directors is as follows:

Name of Directors

Executive Directors BTES
Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Dennis MRIE B B8
Ms. LI Xiaoting FHiERZ+
Dr. LEE Yau Wing Vincent THEEE

Independent Non-Executive Directors B FHTESE

Dr. Rex AUYEUNG Pak-kuen BL[Z niEtE +
Mr. MA Andrew Chiu Cheung BRELEE
Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen BEEBEA
Mr. YIN Ke B Al s A

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee for overseeing particular aspects of
the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company
are established with defined written terms of reference. The
terms of reference of the Board committees are posted on the
Company's website (www.cmermedical.com) and the HKEx's
website (www.hkexnews.hk).

The majority of the members of each Board committee are
independent non-executive Directors and the list of the chairman
and members of each Board committee is set out in the Corporate
Information on page 2 of this annual report.
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5 (www.cmermedical.com) K & 78 22 5 Bt 48
4 (www.hkexnews.hk) ©
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Audit Committee

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review,
supervise, and assist the Board in providing an independent view
of, our financial reporting processes, and internal control and risk
management systems, as well as to oversee the audit process,
review our annual and interim financial statements, provide advice
and comments to the Board on matters related to corporate
governance, develop, implement and review a policy on engaging
external auditors to supply non-audit services, approve the scopes
and fees for non-audit assignments, and reporting to our board
and perform other duties and responsibilities as assigned by the
Board from time to time. PricewaterhouseCoopers will confirm
its independence before accepting the engagement of non-audit
services.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee
held 2 meetings to review the interim and annual financial results
and reports and significant issues on the financial reporting,
operational and compliance controls, the risk management and
internal control systems and the effectiveness of the internal audit
function, appointment of external auditors and relevant scope of
work.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee
had 2 meetings with the external auditors of the Company.

Remuneration Committee

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to
(i) develop and review the policies and the structure of the
remuneration for the Directors and senior management; (ii)
evaluate the performance of, and make recommendations on the
remuneration packages and long-term incentive compensation
or equity plans for, the Directors and senior management; and
(iii) evaluate and make recommendations on employee benefit
arrangements.

The Remuneration Committee had recommended the grant of
share awards pursuant to the terms of the 2022 Share Award
Scheme. For further details regarding the grants, please refer to
the paragraph headed “2022 Share Award Scheme” in the Report
of the Directors.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Remuneration
Committee held 1 meeting to review and make recommendation
to the Board on the remuneration policy and structure of the
Company, and the remuneration packages of the Directors and
senior management and other related matters. Major work
completed by the Remuneration Committee during the year
included: (i) determined the policy for the remuneration of
executive directors, (i) assessed performance of executive directors
and (iii) the grant of share awards under the 2022 Share Award
Scheme. Details of the Director’ remuneration are set out in
note 9(a) to the consolidated financial statements. In addition,
pursuant to the code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the annual
remuneration of other members of the senior management by
bands for the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out below:
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Number of

individual

Remuneration band (in HK$) FMER(E L) AB

1,500,001 to 2,000,000 1,500,001 % 2,000,000 1

2,000,001 to 2,500,000 2,000,001 2 2,500,000 1
Nomination Committee RELZE®

The primary functions of the Nomination Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board in relation to the appointment and
removal of Directors and senior management, and on matters of
succession planning.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects set out in the Board
diversity policy, including but not limited to professional
qualifications, regional and industry experience, educational and
cultural background, skills, industry knowledge, reputation and
gender. The Nomination Committee would discuss and agree on
measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board, where
necessary, and recommend them to the Board for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships,
the Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s
character, qualifications, experience, independence and other
relevant criteria necessary to complement the corporate strategy
and achieve Board diversity, where appropriate, before making
recommendation to the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Nomination
Committee held 1 meeting to review the structure, size
and composition of the Board and the independence of
the independent non-executive Directors, and review of re-
appointment of retiring Directors.
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in
the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

The Board reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies
and practices, training and continuous professional development
of Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
the compliance with the Model Code and the guidelines, and the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this
Corporate Governance Report.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) as required by the Listing Rules which sets
out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The Board
recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board
to enhance the quality of its performance. The Company seeks
to achieve Board diversity when selecting candidates from a
number of perspectives based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit
and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board. The Board has reviewed the appropriateness of an express
diversity quota or measurable objective in achieving board
diversity, and noted that currently the Board has members of
both genders. In light of the above, the Board has concluded that
selection of Board members should continue to be based on the
above said diversity perspectives instead of setting an express
quota or objective. The Board, with the assistance of Nomination
Committee, reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of
the Board Diversity Policy on an annual basis and considered it
effective.

As at 31 December 2024, 86% of Directors, 50% of our senior
management members and 26% of our total workforce were
male. The Board has reviewed the appropriateness of a measurable
objective in achieving gender diversity in our senior management
member and total workforce, and noted that currently members
of both genders constitute the Board, and we attain a gender
ratio of 50% for female employees at senior management level.
In light of the above, the Board has concluded that selection of
senior management members and general employees should
continue to be based on the above said diversity perspectives
instead of setting an express quota or objective. The Board will
monitor the gender ratio in our workforce from time to time, and
the Nomination Committee will seek to identify female candidates
for future appointments to the Board to enhance its gender ratio.
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TEERRE
ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS AND EERZEEHENHERLHE
COMMITTEE MEMBERS
The attendance record of each Director at the Board meetings, BEEZREE2024F 12831 AL FE L
Board committee meetings and the annual general meeting of the THARRRIESE S EF2LEET

Company held during the year ended 31 December 2024 is set BUARKRFBFERGH L FLENT
out in the table below:

Attendance/Number of Meetings

R/ gRRY

Nomination ~ Remuneration Audit  Annual General
Name of Directors Committee Committee Committee Meeting
Espsg REZEE FMzRE ERZRE RRBFAS
Executive Directors
HITEE
Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Dennis 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1”1
MIEHE iR N F ek
Ms. LI Xiaoting 3/4 N/A " N/A 0N
FHEBLL @A Nk
Dr. LEE Yau Wing Vincent 3/4 N/A N/A N/A 0N
TIhEBE NiEH TER TER
Independent Non-executive Directors
BUFHITEE
Dr. Rex AUYEUNG Pak-kuen 3/4 n N/A N/A 1n
BSHEREL Nk Nk
Mr. MA Andrew Chiu Cheung 4/4 7 " 2/2 171
SRELE
Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen 4/4 N/A " 2/2 171
EEBAE ik
Mr. YIN Ke 4/4 17 N/A 212 1”7
BRAIEAE TR
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2024.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set
out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 98 to 106 of
this annual report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

An analysis of the remuneration that should be paid to the
external auditor of the Company, PricewaterhouseCoopers, for
the audit of the year ended 31 December 2024 and non-audit
services is set out below:

EEARYBBRNEE

EERBRFEEEAREARAEZ2024
FNANHIEFENTBRE -

ERUARMBHARRFEL LR NBEK
BEARRBNEFRIBTABEAIEA TR

ARRBLZBEERESMBRRRE
BEENBRAFNAFHREIBSEEF 106 8
W8 A AN IR o

BB B &

HEE2024F 1231 HILFEENET R
IFE RS M M A RQ B M ISR ERT 8
B oKk 38 & 51 A0 B 7S BTSN BN 5 AT E S
U

Fees Paid/Payable

g ENER

HK$°000

Services rendered Pz it AR 7 FET

Audit service Eit iR 2,000
Non-audit Services FERET R

— tax compliance service —BERRS 157

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for maintaining an effective risk
management and internal control systems to safeguard the
Company’s assets and the interests of shareholders. The systems
of risk management and internal control of the Group are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve corporate objectives and only provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The
Board, through the Audit Committee, conducted a review of the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
of the Company on 17 March 2025, including the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programs
and budget of the Company’s accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting function. The Board also conducted a review of
those relating to the ESG performance and reporting.
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The main features of the Group’s risk management and internal
control structure are as follows:

- Well-defined organisational structure with appropriate
segregation of duties, limit of authority, reporting lines and
responsibilities to minimise risk of errors and abuse;

- Clear and written policies and procedures have been
established and regularly reviewed for major functions and
operations;

- Important business functions or activities are managed by
experienced, qualified and suitably trained staff;

- Continuous monitoring of the key operating data and
performance indicators, timely and up-to-date business and
financial reporting, immediate corrective actions are taken
where necessary; and

- Internal audit function to perform independent appraisal of
major operations on an ongoing basis.

A risk-based approach is adopted to ensure that a methodical
coverage of the Group’s operations and resources are focused on
high risk areas. The internal audit team takes the lead to evaluate
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group by
reviewing the major operations of the Group on a rotational basis
every year with review period covering the full financial year. The
review covers all material controls including financial, operational,
compliance controls and risk management. Review results and
recommendations in the form of written reports are submitted to
the Audit Committee for discussion and review. Follow up actions
will be taken up by the internal audit team to ensure that findings
previously identified have been properly resolved. The Board had
discussed with the external auditor and, based on the written
reports of internal audit review results and recommendations,
the findings on follow up actions and recommendation by the
Audit Committee, reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems for the year ended 31
December 2024, and considered them effective and adequate.
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HANDLING OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Directors acknowledged their responsibilities for the
handling and dissemination of inside information. With a view to
identifying, handling and disseminating inside information, various
procedures including pre-clearance on dealing in the securities
of the Company by designated members of management,
notification of regular blackout period and securities dealing
restrictions to relevant directors and employees, restrictions on
access to financial records and dissemination of information on a
need-to-know basis, reminding the directors of their obligations
to not deal in the securities of the Company, including dealings
by the directors’ spouse, or by or on behalf of any minor child and
any other dealings in which for the purpose of Part XV of the SFO
he is or is to be treated as interested, and organizing trainings to
directors of the Company to understand their obligations under
the Listing Rules and the Model Code have also been implemented
by the Group to guard against possible mishandling of inside
information within the Group.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chan Wa Ping, who is the Company secretary of the
Company, reports directly to the Board and is responsible
for, inter alia, providing updated and timely information to all
Directors from time to time. Mr. Chan is a full time employee of
the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, Mr. Chan has
complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules and taken no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company aims to establish fair and transparent procedures
to enable all shareholders an equal opportunity to exercise their
rights in an informed manner and communicates efficiently with
the Company. Under the Articles of Association and the relevant
policies and procedures of the Company, the shareholders enjoy,
among others, the following rights:
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Convene an extraordinary general meeting/put
forward proposals:

Any one or more shareholders holding, at the date of
deposit of the requisition, not less than one-tenth (10%)
of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company, on a one vote
per share basis, shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the secretary of the Company, to
require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held with two months
after the deposit of such requisition at the Company’s Hong
Kong office at Suite 1535, Central Building, 1-3 Pedder
Street, Central, Hong Kong. If within twenty-one days of
such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company. The Company would take appropriate actions
and make necessary arrangements in accordance with the
requirements under Article 58 of the Articles of Association
once a valid requisition is received.

Propose a person for election as a Director:

As regards to the procedures for proposing a person for
election as a Director, please refer to “Procedures for
shareholders to propose a person for election as director”
under the section headed “Corporate Governance” of the
Company’s website at www.cmermedical.com.

Put forth enquiries to the Company:

Specific enquiries by shareholders requiring the Board'’s
attention can be sent in writing to the Company Secretary
at the Company’s Hong Kong office at Suite 1535, Central
Building, 1-3 Pedder Street, Central, Hong Kong.

1.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS/INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Company has adopted a Shareholders’
Communication Policy to enable shareholders to engage actively
with the Company and exercise their rights as shareholders
in an informed manner. The Board will review Shareholders’
Communication Policy on a regular basis to ensure its
effectiveness. The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going
dialogue with shareholders and in particular, through annual
general meetings and other extraordinary general meetings,
financial reports and other publications and communications of
the Company. At the annual general meetings, Directors (or their
delegates as appropriate) are available to meet shareholders and
answer their enquiries.

The Company’s website (www.cmermedical.com) provides
comprehensive and accessible news and information of
the company to the shareholders, other stakeholders and
investors, including the Company’s financial reports (interim
and annual reports), annual general meetings and other general
meetings notices, announcements and circulars, its corporate
communications and other corporate publications. The Company
will also update the website information from time to time to
inform the shareholders and investors of the latest development
of the Company.

The contact details of the company secretary and its registrar
are set out in the Company’s website in order to enable the
Shareholders to make any query that they may have with respect
to the Company. Shareholders should direct their questions about
their shareholdings to the Company’s registrar. Shareholders
may at any time make a request for the Company’s information
to the extent such information is publicly available and the
Company shall make a reasonable effort in addressing those
requests. In addition, shareholders are, at any time, welcome to
raise questions to the Board and management by writing to the
company secretary.

Upon reviewing the Group’s communication strategies with
shareholders and the various channels for shareholders to express
their views to the Company, the Board is of the view that the
shareholders’ communication policy is implemented properly and
effectively.

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED FHHEEHFIZERERA A

HERRRREEBE REERR

ARAARBE HREAREEBEIKE
EUHAKEXBRRLRREOHTHMS
HERRAMEBEHEE - AQFIDRMA
BEREBBBE  EREREHEEHERDF
R AEFRDEREREBNBER MTEE
ERBRAOERN - EF SR E PR RR
BRRRAEREAYL - ARAIE D
HEROFELTE FHREERRESF
ReREMBERFRAEG AR E 6T
BEAREAMT YRGB - ERRBFX
gL BRRUEER(KEEEAR &
R eEYREEOERROEMN -

NN T 48 3 (www.cmermedical.com) & &
RHMBHEREREERBEEHART
MEEBEARIABEERER  BEAR
AV BHRE (FHERFERS) REAF
AEREMBRRAGEE A5 RAK -
HOXEBAREMOERNY - ARG E
TREFRBEARTUBARERIEEESR
BARAKNSEINER -

NEMENERNDEFPECRMBKRER
HINNAR A B AERRIZLEARRD
ABEHNERNER BRRUHEZTHERE
T - ERARR D EP &R
R - IR AJBER ZRRIMAR A AR
BR - ARREEEH B EZEEK o Utsh -
RARBRLERESHHARME  AE
EREEREELRER -

AR o AN B2 1) B RRIR A U8 3 SRS DA B R AR
RAARARABAIREBERNZRRE EFQ
RBBRRBBRRCHZERBBHHT °



CORPORATE CHANGES AND CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS

On 28 May 2024, the Company completed its name change to
C-MER Medical Holdings Limited, and the dual foreign name in
Chinese of the Company has been changed to 7535 %8 & =ik &
R /2 &]. The Board considers that the new English and Chinese
names of the Company are able to promote the Group’s corporate
image and better reflect the Group’s positioning in providing
comprehensive medical services. There has been no change in the
Company’s constitutional documents during the year ended 31
December 2024.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

The Group values the concept of sustainability and we have
been actively fulfilling our corporate social responsibilities.
The Board is dedicated to improving and developing the ESG
strategy, which is in the best interests of our stakeholders. The
ESG Working Group is responsible for supporting the Board in
implementing ESG-related strategies and targets, and promoting
the implementation of measures in relation to the ESG issues
identified. The Group have identified the following ESG issues
as being “vital”, and they include health and safety of services,
clients’ privacy and data protection, anti-corruption practices,
hazardous waste management, safe working environment and
labour standard. Among those areas that were identified as “vital”,
we have adopted numerous specific policies and goals that would
enable us to build a more sustainable business and bring greater
benefits for the society as a whole. Further information on the
Group's performance and achievements can be found in our
Environmental, Social and Governance Report for the year ended
31 December 2024.

Corporate Governance Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B BERE

i
pwec

To the Shareholders of C-MER Medical Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of C-MER Medical Holdings
Limited (formerly known as C-MER Eye Care Holdings Limited) (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set
out on pages 107 to 247, comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2024;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements,
comprising material accounting policy information and other
explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

B Fopr ok iE

HARBREZRERQIARRE
(REASHEZTMA LA ERA A])

=R
EFEHETHRE

HIBERZERARAR (FIEARIBRME
BEERARAR) ([EL8)) REME AR
(BEE])FIHNE 1072247 ENVEEA Y
Bk B

. R2024%F 12 A3 BHOEGA B BN
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s HEZAULFENEAZEKRAK:

s HEZHALFENGAEREDE:

s HEZRULFENGERIRER:
54

s HAVBWMERME BREANGHIK
RESEREMBEEE -

EFMHWER

BMRE ZERAMBERREBESRS
A g ((EBEWMAG)) BHENS
BB EER ((BEEUEREER) &
EmMPsHRET BEEMR2024F12 A
BTHMGAYBRAREBEZZAILFE
MEEMBERARGAEESRE  YEE
RREB R AMERIM IR R R T Z AEE -

PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F, Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong

T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

ARENEE®

The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to BMESTHENERETEERSEAR

impairment assessment of non-current assets.

Key Audit Matter

BREFEE

Impairment assessment of non-current assets
FREBEER B ET

Refer to Note 4(a) (Critical accounting estimates
and judgements), Note 13 (Property, plant and
equipment), Note 14 (Leases) and Note 16
(Intangible assets) to the consolidated financial
statements.
BLHGREUBREN T4 (E2 ST A
i) M3 (W - BEREE) K14 (FHE)
R 16 (B ERE) -

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had
property, plant and equipment of approximately
HK$381,615,000, right-of-use assets of
approximately HK$567,582,000 and intangible
assets of approximately HK$699,904,000,
representing 14%, 21% and 26% of the Group’s
total assets, respectively. Intangible assets included
goodwill of approximately HK$440,108,000, brand
name of approximately HK$255,357,000 and other
intangible assets of approximately HK$4,439,000.
R20246 128318 EXSEHAME
BMELKREB EAREEREVEEDR
#]381,615,00078 7T * #)567,582,00078 7T }
#1699,904,0008 L N AllE BEEEEEE
B14% ~21% K 26% - MBI EE BRI EEL
440,108,000/ JT - fa % % 18 #) 255,357,00078 7T
R B At S & FE 44,439,000 8 7T °

FRBEENRER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RMANESNAEERREETSE

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of
non-current assets included the following:

SEERBEERNREN G  RANEA IR

o We obtained an understanding of the management’s
internal control and assessment process of impairment
of non-current assets and assessed the inherent risk
of material misstatement by considering the degree
of estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent
risk factors such as complexity, subjectivity, changes
and susceptibility to management bias or fraud;

e HMTHREEEHNIFRDEERMERN R IDZESF
BT HIEIE - HABRMEATHREENREE A RE
WMIEFEE - TEHIE  FBMUREERER R I
FFRBEHEMERAREE  RMAYATREENSE
REERHETT T B A AT

o We evaluated the outcome of prior period assessment
of impairment of non-current assets to assess the
effectiveness of management’s estimation process;
and

o HMFHATEAYIERBEEMETHHOER - Uit
AR ER BRI RE T A MEE 0 &

J We evaluated management’s impairment assessment
including cash flow forecast, and the process by
which they were drawn up, and tested the underlying
calculations.

. BT EREEMREN G  SEReREREI R
mELERE  WHBBAENET TR -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

HAEETEE

Independent Auditor’s Report

BAZBERE

ARENEE®

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN EFNMEEFRESN SR

Impairment assessment of non-current assets (Continued)

FRBEEMBENE(E)

Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite
useful life are subject to impairment assessment
at least annually or when there is an indication of
impairment. Other non-current assets are tested
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable.
BELERRAEAFRNBLEEGFEDENT
—RORERF - HELRBETREETT - HAb
FERBEENAEEMNBERNE S BREREER A
R O R ETTRIERIA -

Management performed impairment assessments
to assess the recoverable amounts of these cash
generating-units (“CGUs"), which were determined
as the higher of value-in-use ("VIU") or fair
value less cost of disposal (“FVLCOD"). The VIU
calculations were derived from discounted future
cash flow forecasts of the CGUs prepared by
management and the FVLCOD calculations were
performed by management with reference to the
price from prior transactions without adjustment of
the equipment.

EEEETTRERN G UTREFReELE
(REEEEM]) HAKREITEE  AIWEEHE
REMREE((ERAEE]) KA TFERLD SRR
([AFEREERAD RS EET - FHAEE
WA EDREEEEMRRIRSELBEM KM
BARREREBTANFEH - M FERDEKA
AIRERE2ERBHNRAERZER CRERAE)
mar &S -

Specific work we performed over the impairment
assessment included:

PR ER EETH AR TIERE

o Comparing management's forecasted revenue and
EBITDA with historical performance;
o KBEREMTEAIME REBITDA EBERRIELE

J Comparing the management’s key assumptions for
discount rates in the forecast with industry data; and

e BEEEMBAGERINTEMRRMEITEHE
TELLE : &

o Obtaining management’s sensitivity analysis over the
key assumptions of the cash flow forecast to analyse
the potential impact of a range of possible outcomes.

o ENEREHHRSRBANEBZERENHEESN -
DT E B ERNBEERLE -

We also considered whether the judgements made in
selecting the growth rates and discount rates would give
rise to indicators of possible management bias.

BN EEEEERE LR R PEN FE &5 53
EREARTFARINTR -

Based on the above, we considered that management'’s
judgements and assumptions applied in the impairment
assessment of non-current assets were supportable by the
evidence obtained and procedures performed.

RBA LRI BMRBR - BEEEMERDEENRE
APk FE A R HIET R R RIS R PSR KT HITIR P A
S e
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

HAEETEE

ARENEE®

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN EFNMEEFRESN SR

Impairment assessment of non-current assets (Continued)

FRBEEMBETME (B)

Preparation of DCF required the use of many
assumptions and management exercised significant
judgements in determining these assumptions. Key
assumptions and judgements included revenue
growth rates, terminal revenue growth rates,
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortisation (“EBITDA") growth rate and discount
rates.

HERURBERERBAERLHARBSE  BEEA
EREEBBRIFTEERALE - FEBRR LA
RN EERE RAKGSERE  KRAE -
WIE - & RBEHRT AR ([EBITDA]) B R & X 8L
B o

As a result of the impairment assessments, the
Group recognised impairment for property, plant
and equipment of HK$60,288,000, impairment
for right-of-use assets of HK$57,565,000 and
impairment for intangible assets of HK$79,871,000
for the year ended 31 December 2024.

BERETHEER E5EERNEZE2024%F
NRANNBILEFEBRRYDE BERZERE
60,288,0008 7T - £ /1 # & E Rl {2 57,565,0008
TO R & B RE 79,871,000 7T ©

We focused on this area due to the high degree of
estimation uncertainty involved in the estimation of
recoverable amount. The inherent risk in relation to
the impairment assessment of non-current assets
is considered significant due to subjectivity of
assumptions used including estimated growth rates
and discount rates which are subject to change of
economic environment in the future.

HREF KRB B RS E M TREME - &
PEIRILER - ARPIARRKR (BEAER
KRR E) 2 X HM - FERBHEENRME
ZEARRFEEREN  MZEFREIRRLE

BERDHYE -

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED FHHEEHFIZERERA A



OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the C-MER Medical Holdings Limited 2024
Annual Report (the “annual report”) other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. We have
obtained some of the other information including Report of the
Directors prior to the date of this auditor’s report. The remaining
other information, including Financial Highlights and Management
Discussion and Analysis and the other sections to be included in
the annual report, is expected to be made available to us after
that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not and will not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other
information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s
report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the remaining other information to be included
in the annual report, if we conclude that there is a material
misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter
to Audit Committee and take appropriate action considering our
legal rights and obligations.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report
our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED FHHEEHFIZERERA A
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chan Kai Bun.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 21 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
mExEREK

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31B8LEE

2024 2023
2024 F 20234F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TF#ET FAET
Revenue Wz 5 1,913,162 1,923,964
Cost of revenue SHER AR
— Cost of revenue before impairment loss —HBRFREEERE
on non-current assets EEATEERA 8 (1,316,261) (1,305,002)
~ Impairment loss on non-current assets —JERBEERERE 8 (69,282) -
Gross profit EF 527,619 618,962
Other income HAb A 6 8,866 8,413
Selling expenses HERY 8 (133,390) (147,802)
Administrative expenses THAY 8 (342,585) (354,928)
Impairment loss on non-current assets FRBEEREER 8 (128,442) -
Other gains/(losses), net Hip ez, (E518) %58 7 1,771 (5,308)
_Operating (loss)/profit ME®E/ ™S (66.161) 119,337
Finance income B A 14,574 19,890
Finance costs B SR AR (23,659) (18,122)
_finance (costs)fincome, net  BB(RA) RAFE 0 (0085 1768
Share of (losses)/profits of associates DEBENRIRAESE
_.andjointventure . GXEH)/NE o715 .. 3,164
(Loss)/profit before income tax BETEBA (BE) /A8 (76,221) 124,269
Income tax expense TSR 11 (32,093) (37,934)
_Uoss)profit fortheyear FAER) /RE (108314) . 86,335
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to: AT & A ELEER
(E518) /FH:
~ Equity holders of the Company A NCIL £ TYS N (135,163) 61,998
— Non-controlling interests —IEIER I 26,849 24,337
(108,314) 86,335
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

ReEzEWER

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31B8LEE

2024 2023
2024 2023%F
HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET
Other comprehensive income/(loss) Hit2EBRA/ (F8)
Item that will not be reclassified to TEENDEE B
profit or loss HE

Change in fair value of financial assets at fair & A F(E AL M2 UK
value through other comprehensive income AR EREENATE
g 135,386 44

=

Currency translation differences N E Z (6,975) (4,643)
ltem that may be subsequently reclassified to ~ B A @EH 7152

profit or loss By IE H
Currency translation differences NI E Z (33,507) (24,268)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for Ak SN

_ theyear w®) 94904 (28867)

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for FR2E(ER) WA

the year wma (13,410) 57,468
Total comprehensive (loss)/income forthe TR FEEERZE

year attributable to: - 04'ON & F

— Equity holders of the Company —AREERFEEA (33,284) 37,774

— Non-controlling interests — R 19,874 19,694

(13,410) 57,468

(Loss)/earnings per share for profit FRAXDREBRFEA

attributable to equity holders of the FEEREN SR

Company during the year (expressed in (E#8) BF

HK cents per share) (AR AWLIIR)

- Basic —HE 12 (10.96) 4.94

- Diluted —#5E 12 (10.96) 4.94

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income A FGA2mER AR EEEN G —HEE -
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e BRI E

As at 31 December
M12A31H

2024

2024 5
HKS$’000
TF#ET

2023
20234
HK$°000
FAET

ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB K 13 381,615 401,515
Investment properties wEME 15 109,177 12,346
Right-of-use assets BREEE 14 567,582 591,301
Intangible assets B EE 6 699,904 802,184
Interests in associates R E R ENER 40 14,152 44,814
Interest in a joint venture RNEBPENER 41 49,428 47,848
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFFAEMZTER
other comprehensive income AR CREE 22 183,708 83,665
Deferred income tax assets BLEFEHEE 29 4,714 6,821
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables  #& & ~ JE{FFIE R EH M
e 3RR 20 69,397 38,006
2,079,677 2,028,500
Current assets RBEE
Inventories FE 17 47,245 38,849
Trade receivables B 5 WA 19 57,763 53,371
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables &4 ~ 8+ 2018 Jo H A e
WaskoR 20 60,763 65,420
Amounts due from associates =N O] 37 5,221 5,077
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFABZER
profit or loss CREE 23 15,192 11,748
Current income tax assets BIEAF G EE 2,232 -
Short-term bank deposits HMERRITIE 21 28,976 32,908
Cash and cash equivalents RBekReEEY 21 423,083 512,762
oo oo oo eeeeeaceceiieeecccicmsecocicmseccccoacoo.o.. R 640475 . 720,135
Total assets HEE 2,720,152 2,748,635
EQUITY B
Equity attributable to equity holders KAEERFEA
of the Company PEfL &
Share capital [N 24 125,556 125,556
Reserves e 1,627,121 1,720,258
1,752,677 1,845,814
Non-controlling interests FEVERR M 2 39 137,234 147,472
Total equity MR 1,889,911 1,993,286
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI R

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2024 2023
2024 F 20234F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TF#ET FET
LIABILITIES =L
Non-current liabilities ¥ RBEE
Other payables Hofth JE T 508 31 57,376 53,343
Loans from non-controlling interests FEERERER 39 12,424 13,800
Lease liabilities HESBE 14 286,266 232,657
Deferred income tax liabilities BEMEHAaE 29 64,153 66,224
420,219 366,024
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables B 5N RIR 30 55,810 54,916
Accruals and other payables fERT B A R E A B KIA 31 138,920 136,386
Contract liabilities AHEE 5 57,537 54,189
Borrowings EE 32 29,162 1,725
Amounts due to non-controlling interests BRI IR E R IR 39 4,440 3,331
Amount due to a related party [T RE R 5 BIR 37 7,701 -
Loan from a non-controlling interest EERERER 39 7,498 7,612
Current income tax liabilities BIEAF BRI aE 6,513 23,970
Lease liabilities HEAE 14 102,441 107,196
... 410022 389,325
Total liabilities BEE 830,241 755,349
Total equity and liabilities HEZRERE 2,720,152 2,748,635

The consolidated financial statements on pages 107 to 247 were EI07TBEEEMUTENG AU BEREE R
approved by the Board of Directors on 21 March 2025 and were 20253 A2 HEEZ AT REEE -
signed on its behalf.

LAM Shun Chiu Dennis LI Xiaoting
K JIE THIE
Executive Director Executive Director
HITEE HiTEE

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be DA 4 & B RS HA ST 35 e B EL B s — BF R EE
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
meERgEx

Statutory
Share surplus Share-vased Non-
capital Share  Treasury resene  Eichange  payment Retained controling

(Note24)  premium shares Teserve TESery eamings interests

Asat 1 January 2023 RUBE1A1E 12665 1733130 (29927) 15,14 (47519 28283 13,762 2655 1,866,061 132178 1998239
Comprehensive income EUA
Proft for the year ERilE - - - - - - - B9 6198 U 3

Other comprehensiveincomel(loss) ~~ E2E4A/ (5&)
Change n fai valoe of fnandl asses st~ RATEHAE(2E
fairvalue through other comprehensie AR BEEH

income ATEEY - - - - - “ - i - U
Curency transaton differences NEREZR - - - - (4 - - - 2y ues B9
Transactions with equity holders EEERAANRS
Purchase of own sheres (Note 24(0) BEATRA (e 240) - - R - - - - - (B2 - %
Cancellon of shates (Note 24() AR (24 (100 @3y Mg - - - - - - -
Share-ased payments Notes 60 27)  HIRABERERT

(I R27) - - - - - m - - m - m
Transaction with non-controlling EEEREENRS

interests

- Diidend peid -2fiRe - - - - - - - - - A0 (k0
Transfer tostautory resenve ERTiTRA - - - g - - - (18) - - -
As at 31 December 2023 HNBENRANA 12555 1,692,599 (46,590) 26,309 (71,787) 285% 13,806 71365 1845814 741 1993286
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

REEBEEDR

Attributable to owners of the Company

LGN 1
Statutory

Share surplus Share-based Non-

capital Share  Treasuy  reserve  Exchange  payment Other  Retained controlling

(Note24)  premium shares (liote Zg%) reserve reserve reserve  eamings  Subtotal interests Total

HER ’

i FBR

(Wew)  RERE  EsRE  (Wdn)  HERR AhREE  REEA it Ba  4ER

HKSO00 — HKSO0D  HKSUORD  HKSURD  HKSUOOD HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSUOD  HKSURD  HKSOOD

fér A TR B T 4 fEn TR TEL FED
Asat 1 January 2024 HNUE1R1R 12555 1,692,599 (46,590) 26,309 (1,781) 28556 13,806 71365 1845814 147472 1,993,286
Comprehensive income EUA
(Lossprofit for the year ER(BE) /7B - - - - - - - (1506) (1516 2689 (108314)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) ~~ £#2E%A/ (5&)
Change infair vlue offinencial assetsat -~ RATFEH AZHZEYA
fairvalue through other comprehensie ~ HEBEENHATERS
income - - - - - - 135386 - 135386 - 135386
Curency transaton cifferences epEER - - - - (33500) - - - (B5D) (6975 (0480
Transactions with equity holders EEERAANRS
Purchase of own shares (Note 24(0) BEATRA (2 240) - - () - - - - - () - ()
Share-hased payments (Notes 26 and 27) IR BEEA

(Ws6k27) = = - - - 39 - - 349 - 349

Transaction with non-controlling EEEREENRS
interests
- Capitlreduction of  subsiiary -—RRBLHEE - - - - - - - - - (a0 (re)
- Dividend pid -BfiRE - - - - - - - - - R 3
- Acquistion of on-contrllng nterests —— ~IREZEERIRER ()
(Note) - - - - - - - (1,062) (1,062) (3%3) (1,3%)
Transfer tostautory resenve BRZITEA - - - 1876 - - - (1876) - - -
As at 31 December 2024 HNUENA3NA 12555 1692599 (105,730) 8185 (105.29) 28,905 149,192 (60,736) 1752677 137,234 1,889,911

MisE 17 2024F 11 ASH - #IBRMBELEES
RARIM—BIFTERBRBEEEEERS
RN R (AR B 90% 4 & /) I B
A@]) #9100,000 B2 - B & 1,395,000
BIL RS TERE  BEEEARAFMN
BAREENZEWNB AR -

Note: On 5 November 2024, C-MER Eye Care Medical Group Limited
purchased 100,000 shares from a non-controlling shareholder of
Pro-Dental Group Limited, an indirect 90% owned subsidiary of the
Company, at a consideration of HK$1,395,000. Upon completion of
the transaction, Pro-Dental Group Limited became a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group.

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be N EfreEm R EEEM T — O RE -
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GEESRER

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HLEE
2024 2023

2023 F
HK$°000

TET

2024 &
HKS$’000
T#ET

Notes

Hat

Cash flows from operating activities RETHHEBRERE

Cash generated from operations LEMBIRE 33(a) 332,321 393,703
Income tax paid BERFTEH (49,201) (32,549)
Net cash generated from operating activities & & EEHFTEH & F5 283,120 361,154
Cash flows from investing activities REZBFEESRE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWE  BERZHE (158,615) (115,485)
Purchase of investment properties BEREME 15 (99,954) -
Purchase of intangible assets BERVAE 6 (925) (371)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE Bz RER

plant and equipment P15 5R1E 33(b) 3,257 14,521
Proceeds from disposal of intangible assets HERFEEMGRIE 151 -
Interest received BUF S 10 14,574 19,890
Decrease/(increase) in bank deposits with REHABB=AN

original maturity over three months BATEZR D/ (35h0) 3,932 (1,578)
Payment for financial assets at fair value BAFEGAREMEEK

through other comprehensive income A EREEZ MR (6,248) (9,454)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair HEZEAFEFAEME

value through other comprehensive income ARARCREE 2

S FE 42,542 -

Dividend received from an associate Bl AR E R RRE 40 28,107 -
Advances to associates EEAENGIEIETN (144) -
Payment for acquisition of non-controlling W IR i s 2 TR

interests (1,395) -
Repayment to non-controlling interests A JE IR A i i (B IR R - (152,894)
Net cash used in investing activities RETHMARLEH (174,718) (245,371)

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 —Z_ & & 113



114

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

MERERER

Cash flows from financing activities

RMEZDFERENE

Year ended 31 Decemb
BENRANHLEE
2024

2024 2
HKS000
TET

er

2023
0234

HK$'000
FBIT

Principal elements of lease payments HENZNAE LD 33() (116,668) (131,308)
Interest paid on leases SRBEEFE 33() (19,524) (16,712)
Interest paid on bank borrowings SATRITREFAFE 10 (814) (303)
Proceeds from bank borrowings SRITE TS 5/IA 33() 258,268 10,780
Repayment to bank borrowings BERITER 33(c) (230,844) (43,278)
Advances from non-controlling interests R I E R 1,725 1,420
Repayment to non-controlling interests IR e o (B R FUR (276) (782)
Payments for share repurchase % 15 B8 (2] B9 < 3% 24(b) (59,140) (58,294)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests [EARE 2L da3:0)i 4] (2,359) (4,400)
Cash paid to non-controlling interests due to R BIR D — B

proportionate reduction in share capital of a 2 FIRL AR B 15 FE 4%

subsidiary EamRe (25,284) -

_Net cash used in financing activities ____ _BEEBMARSSSR (194916) (242,877).
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents RE&RBELZEY
WD FE (86,514) (127,094)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of FNReRREEED

the year 512,762 644,698
Currency translation differences G 2 B (3,165) (4,842)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of FRE2RREEED

the year 21 423,083 512,762

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in N EaRenerkEEEM T —OT3E -

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

C-MER Medical Holdings Limited (formerly known as
C-MER Eye Care Holdings Limited) (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 1 February 2016
as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law (Cap. 22, Law 3 of 1961 as consolidated
and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address of the
Company’s registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) are principally engaged in the
provision of ophthalmic services, provision of dental and
other medical services, sales of vision aid products and sales
of medical consumables in Hong Kong (“HK") and Mainland
China. The Company has been listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 15 January
2018.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$") and all values are rounded to nearest
thousand (HK$'000) except when otherwise indicated.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) as issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
Cap. 622. The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified
by the revaluation of financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) and financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL"), which are
carried at fair value.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in Note 4.

A B RR I

— &R
FIHBEEERBR QA (R A5G
REBEIERAERAR) (XRATF])
7201662 A1 BIRIER S B SE0
F22ERNEE (1961 FFE 3550
Kize RIEF) EREREEMA T
BERRER QA o NN F M
% J5 #b #iF & Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands °

ARAB—BEREERAR BB
RE(GBIEAEE]) TZXENEE
(I1E#8]) P BEADLREERB RS
REFRIREMBEERYE  HEER/N
T ERREEEBEREN - B2018F
1TA15SE#E ARAEEETBHAR
SHAERARER LT -

BRBEAIN  SEMBHRERUET
(B 2% MABLBHNEER
AN TRE(TET) -

mAEE

NEBMWGAVBKBRCEBE LSS
SR ASBEHEENEB SRS ER
((BEBMBRELED]) RFeNEE
BRRHERIN R ERE - 424 M5
RIRELKAEERE  TEREATF
Bt AHMEEEA ([EAFEFTA
Hth2EBAD S BMEERZATF
Bt AERE ([EAFEFABE] W
TREE (RATFEYER) WEMMIE
HHEET »

BREBY RS EANEBERAMB
WRACRETERGH AR - 812
EBHERAAKRE S BRREIAER
HIE - 3% KBS IR E 0 HI T SR R
BB IS SRR M AT B AR A SRR
BEAFENRBRENHMZTS -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eI mRMEE

2  BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
(@) New and amended standards adopted by

the Group

The Group has applied the following new and
amended standards for the first time for its annual
reporting period commencing 1 January 2024:

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 16

Hong Kong
Interpretation 5
(Revised)

Amendments to

HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Presentation of Financial
Statements —
Classification by the
Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand
Clause

Supplier Finance
Arrangements

The new and amended standards listed above did not
have any material impact on the amounts recognised
in prior periods and are not expected to significantly
affect the current or future periods.

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

FHREBRERERAA

2 mEEE®m
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBmRMETE
2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 2 wmEEEm
(b) New and amended standards and (b) i ARERAN Y HTET R ARG RT
interpretation not yet adopted Al
The following new and amended standards and TG RASIEET R R 2B
interpretation have been issued but are not effective B BR2024F1 A1HHA
for the financial year beginning on 1 January 2024 M EE®MARER AR
and have not been early adopted: REHMW

Effective for

accounting
periods
beginning on
or after
RT3 HH
2 BB
SHHIBEN
Amendments to HKAS 21 and Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025
HKFRS 1
EAGHERENRREBHE MZAI BRI 20251 A1 8
WEERE 1K 2 EE]
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and Classification and Measurement of Financial 1 January 2026
HKFRS 7 Instruments
ERUMBREERNFEIRLELEY eMIENDELGE 20261 A1H
BWEERFE 798 2EF]
HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9, Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting 1 January 2026
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7 Standards — Volume 11
ERMBHRELAE 15 FEM BEBMBRELESTHENFE 20261 A1 H

BRELMNETH  FEMBHR BE-FNE
SEAFEIN  BEMBMEE
A 105 B A G ER

ET75%
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial 1 January 2027
Statements
BB mELERE 185 MR T T R ERKE 20271 A1H
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: 1 January 2027
Disclosures
ERMBHRELERFE 1955 FARZAEAMBRANEKE 20271 A18
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements — 1 January 2027
Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause
BEREESR MBRENER—ERAYREGKRERE 2027118
BEFNEHRERN SR
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets between an ~ To be determined
HKAS 28 Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
BEEMBREERE 105 X WEEREBERNRINEERE ZHD T
BB GFHERIZE 2858 2 1&7] BAELEXEA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eI mRMEE

2

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(b) New and amended standards and
interpretation not yet adopted (Continued)

Management is in the process of assessing potential
impact of the above new standards and amendments
to standards that are relevant to the Group upon initial
application. It is not yet in a position to state whether
these new standards and amendments to standards
will have a significant impact on the Group’s financial
position.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including foreign exchange risk, cash flow and
fair value interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.

Financial risk management is carried out by the finance
department under the supervision of the board of directors.
The board provides principles for overall risk management.

3.1 Financial risk factors

(a) Market risk

(i)  Foreign exchange risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the
value of a financial instrument fluctuates
because of the changes in foreign
exchange rates.

The subsidiaries of the Group mainly
operate in HK and Mainland China with
most of the transactions settled in HK$
and Renminbi (“RMB") respectively.
Foreign exchange rate risk arises when
recognised financial assets and liabilities
are denominated in a currency that is not
the entity’s functional currency.

FHREBRERERAA

2
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

)

(ii)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the financial
assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries of
the Group in HK and Mainland China are
primarily denominated in HK$ and RMB,
their respective functional currency (2023:
same).

As at 31 December 2024, the result
of the foreign exchange difference on
translation of United States dollars (“US$")
denominated cash and cash equivalents of
subsidiaries with RMB as their functional
currency is immaterial (2023: same).

The Group will constantly review the
economic situation and its foreign
exchange risk profile, and will consider
appropriate hedging measures in the
future, as may be necessary.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate
risk

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risks
refer to the changes in cash flows or fair
value of a financial instrument as a result
of fluctuations in market interest rates.

The Group is exposed to interest rate
risk through the impact of rate changes
on interest bearing assets and liabilities.
Borrowings obtained at fixed rates expose
the Group to fair value interest rate risk.
In the opinion of directors, the expected
change in fair values as a results of
change in market interest rates will not be
significant, thus no sensitivity analysis is
presented.

R MR

B ISR b BB ()
3.1 BI¥EMEZE &)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eI mRMEE

3

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate
risk (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents and borrowings
at variable rates expose the Group to cash
flow interest-rate risk.

The Group currently does not use any
derivative contracts to hedge its exposure
to interest rate risk. Management monitors
interest rate fluctuations to ensure that
exposure to interest rate risk is within an
acceptable level and will consider hedging
significant interest rate exposure should
the need arises.

The Group’'s cash flow interest rate
risk mainly arises from cash and cash
equivalents. As at 31 December 2024, if
interest rates had been 50 basis points
higher/lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s post-tax loss for
the year would have been approximately
HK$800,000 lower/higher (2023: post-
tax profit for the year would have been
approximately HK$942,000 higher/lower),
mainly attributable to the Group’s
exposure to interest rates on its variable
rate bank balances and borrowings.

FHREBRERERAA

3

B ISR b BB ()

3.1
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MR

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 HXERKRERE®
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BEREBEEZE®)
(b) Credit risk (b)) EEREME

(iii) Risk management (i) ERERE

In respect of cash and cash equivalents
and bank deposits with original maturity

FLRE B R s =1
AnBAekEEH

over three months, the credit risk is BEYMRITERM
considered to be low as the counterparties FERARZIEFH
are reputable banks, with credit ratings EEERIHIRT
from AA2 to BA1 (2023: AA2 to BAA3). EEARRBAAE

The existing counterparties do not
have defaults in the past. Therefore,
expected credit loss rate of cash and cash
equivalents and bank deposits with original
maturity over three months are assessed
to be insignificant and no provision was
made as of 31 December 2024 (2023:
same).

BAT (20234 : AA2
EBAA3)  AILEE
RRERE -REXS
HFHTBELEE
#) e Bt - REIEIA
BB=EANESK
ReEEMNRTE
REFEHIE RIRR X
WAERTEKR  H
2024512 H31H

I % 4 B (2023

F : MR o
The Group, being a provider of medical REETIMEERMY
services to patients, has a highly diversified EERGHHER -
client base, without any single client BWEMREZTNE
contributing material revenue. Moreover, PR IMEA(TE—
some of the Group’s revenue is settled BEFEBMEARKE -
by reputable commercial companies and gEoh - NEBEBE D
local government on behalf of patients. W HEER RN
The Group has controls to closely monitor ES/NCIDNE: YR 4SS
the patients’ billing and payment status REBERE -KAEH
by communication with commercial TBRERE AR R
companies and local government to T BAEYEBE
minimise the credit risk. REEMKRBERIN

B U EERER
HE R o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eI mRMEE

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(iv) Impairment of financial assets
The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measuring expected credit
losses which uses a lifetime expected loss

allowance for all trade receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the days past due.

The expected loss rates are based on the
payment profiles of sales over a period
of 24 months before 31 December 2024
and the corresponding historical credit
losses experienced within this period.
The historical loss rates are adjusted
to reflect current and forward-looking
information on macroeconomic factors
affecting the ability of the customers to
settle the receivables. The Group has
identified the gross domestic product and
inflation rate of the countries in which it
sells its goods and services to be the most
relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts
the historical loss rates based on expected
changes in these factors.

The expected credit loss rates for trade
receivables and loss allowance provision
recognised for these balances for the year
are considered as immaterial.

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

FHREBRERERAA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(iv)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

Trade receivables are written off when
there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery. Indicators that there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery include,
amongst others, the failure of a debtor
to engage in a repayment plan with the
Group, and a failure to make contractual
payments.

For other financial assets at amortised
cost, including deposits and other
receivables, management considers that its
credit risk has not increased significantly
since initial recognition with reference to
the counterparty historical default rate
and current financial position. The Group
measures credit risk using Probability
of Default (“"PD"), Exposure at Default
("EAD") and Loss Given Default (“LGD").
The Group's deposits and other receivables
are not credit-impaired and are classified
in “Stage 1"”. The impairment provision
is determined based on the 12-month
expected credit losses and no provision
was made as of 31 December 2024 (2023:
same).

Impairment losses on other financial
assets at amortised cost are presented as
net impairment losses within operating
profit. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited against
the same line item.

R MR

B ISR b BB ()
3.1 BI¥EMEZE &)

(b) FEmEE (8
(iv) EBEENRE(E)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eI mRMEE

3

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(9]

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and bank balances,
the availability of funding from an adequate
amount of committed credit facilities from
leading banks and the ability to close out market
position.

The Group maintains liquidity by a number of
sources including orderly realisation of short-
term financial assets, receivables and certain
assets that the Group considers appropriate
and long term financing including long-term
borrowings are also considered by the Group
in its capital structuring. The Group aims to
maintain flexibility in funding by keeping
sufficient bank balances, committed credit lines
available and interest bearing borrowings which
enable the Group to continue its business for
the foreseeable future.

The table below analyses the financial liabilities
of the Group into relevant maturity groupings
based on the remaining period at the date of
statement of financial position to the contractual
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the
table were the contractual undiscounted cash
flows and the earliest date the Group can be
required to pay. Balance within 12 months equal
their carrying balances as impact at discounting
is not significant.

FHREBRERERAA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A HRRMEE
3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 HXERKRERE®
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BEREBEEZE®)
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) (c) mEMEE (&)

Between Between Total
Within 1 1and2 2and5 Over  contractual Carrying
On demand year years years Syears  cash flows amount

ELEEY |

-Fh -ERF WERF  BBEF 8 &if
WS Hsom #8000 S0 HKSO

As at 31 December 2024 ANUENE3NA

Trade payables EHRNTE - 55,810 - - - 55,810 55,810

Accuals and other payebles EHERRAL
Ffi5E - 16,976 6,40 - - 1926 133508

Amounts dve tonon-contoling. RS R
inerests 73 4440 - - - - 4,440 4440
Amount due toareltedparty R A3E - 0 - - - 0 7701

Loans from non-controling HhERER
interests 1,760 - 13,800 - - 21,560 19922
Borrowings fest 790 2890 - - - 2969 29,162
Lease libiliies i - 117,347 92,698 138,335 89,529 437,909 388,707

1299 286,736 168,738 138,335 89,529 696,328 639,250

As at 31 December 2023 RUBENANE

Trade payables SARNE - 54916 - - - 5,916 54,916
Accruas and other payables EHERRER
A5 - 81,518 291 5,657 - 143,096 134077
Amounts due tonon<ontroling B kiR
inteests B 331 - - - - ERE 331
Loans from non-controling FBERERET
Interests - 7760 - 13800 - 21560 21412
Borrowings 1,762 - - - - 1,762 1725

miF
i S

==

il

S

ST
|

Lease lbilties 121,784 91557 132,7% 3905 380,001 339,853

5093 265,938 94478 205,252 3,905 604,666 555314
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eI mRMEE

3

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2

3.3

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group
monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital.
Net debt is calculated as total borrowings less cash
and bank balances. Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’
as shown in the consolidated statement of financial
position, plus net debt, where applicable.

As at 31 December 2024, the gearing ratio is not
applicable due to net cash position (2023: same).

Fair value estimation

The carrying values of the Group’s current financial
assets, including trade receivables, deposits and other
receivables, amounts due from associates, short-term
bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents, and the
Group’s current financial liabilities, including trade
payables, accruals and other payables, borrowings,
lease liabilities, amounts due to non-controlling
interests, amount due to a related party and loan from
a non-controlling interest approximate their fair values
due to their short maturities.

FHREBRERERAA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHwRERMEE
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BRERERE@
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 AFEMHE)

The table below analyses the Group’s financial asset TREFERAFEMA®ER
at FVPL and FVOCI carried at fair value as at 31 FRABEBHNERETAEER
December 2024 and 2023 by level of the inputs to 2024%F K% 2023F 12 31 H %
valuation techniques used to measure fair value. Such NFEARNZAFESTAE
inputs are categorised into three levels within a fair wmRBRATFAEFAEMEER
value hierarchy as follows: ANEREEETHIT % F

BWABERAFEERTS /W
T=EBR:

. Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for . EBREEXBENEFRT

identical assets or liabilities (level 1). HHRE CREFAR) (F1
&) -

e Inputs other than quoted prices included e EBEHXBEAEE (AE
within level 1 that are observable for the asset &) sk fEi sz (ANEERE )
or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or BN AE (B 1RAE
indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2). FEHMERIN (E24) -

e Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based e EBENABIWIFENAEH
on observable market data (that is, unobservable ZMiGEENE AE (A
inputs) (level 3). TR EERBAE) (FE34) o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AT HRRMEE
3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 HXERKRER®
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 AFEMGF (@)

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

18 g2 £3& Ch

HK$000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$000

As at 31 December 2024

R2024F12A318

T THET

FET

FAT

Financial assets at FVPL BATEFAERNS
REE
— Listed equity investment - FkERE 15,192 - - 15,192
~ Contingent consideration — Y ARE
receivables - - 9,836 9,836
Financial assets at FVOC| BAFEFAEMER
WA EREE
— Unlisted equity investment —FETRARE - - 183,708 183,708
Total financial assets SREEAE 15,192 - 193,544 208,736
Financial liabilities at FVPL BRATEFA BRSNS
BAE
- Contingent consideration ~ERHARE
payables - - 2,594 2,594
Total financial liabilities SREEATE - - 2,59 2,594
As at 31 December 2023 R2023£12831A8
Financial assets at FVPL BATEFAEENS
BEE
- Listed equity investment - LikERE 11,748 - - 11,748
- Contingent consideration — W ARE
receivables - - 12,610 12,610
Financial assets at FVOC| BATEFAEMEE
WAREREE
— Unlisted equity investment —F EMRARE - - 83,665 83,665
Total financial assets CREERE 11,748 - 96,275 108,023

HE2024F 12831 HIEFE -
FEHz HIEER (2023 F ¢
R

There were no transfers between levels during the
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: same).

128 C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED FHHEEHFIZERERA A



3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(a) Financial instruments in level 1

(b)

The fair value of financial instruments traded
in active markets is based on quoted market
prices at the consolidated statement of financial
position date. A market is regarded as active if
quoted prices are readily and regularly available
from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry
group, price services or regulatory agency, and
those prices represent actual and regularly
occurring market transactions on an arm’s length
basis. The quoted market price used for financial
assets held by the Group is the current bid price.
These instruments are included in level 1.

Financial instruments in level 3

If one or more of the significant inputs is
not based on observable market data, the
instrument is included in level 3.

The following table presents the changes in
level 3 financial instruments for the years ended

31 December 2024 and 2023:

3

R MR

B ISR b BB ()

3.3
(a)

(b)

DNPEME )

FIREBT A
RERMESEEZERMT
BZ RV EDZEREEH
BRAKRBH WIS HRE
HE - NMZBEARSHR
TFHRMBR AT KL
mag - TESE RER
B EEME  MZER
BRMERRERHIZAF
RABET 2 MIER 5 %
5 AR AE R - KEEH
BECUBEEMTR
MSHREARITEAE-
ZETEAEFTAEIR -

E3IRE2HMT A
m—IEsk M FEKREAE
WIEER AT IHEIE -
ZTEBGFAEIH -

TEREJNEE2024F
202312 A31HIEFE
F3IMTE T AL

Unlisted  Contingent  Contingent
equity consideration consideration
investment  receivables payables
LR SR EAHA
ITERE K& KE
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET
As at 1 January 2023 W2023F1818 74,167 - -
Addition NE 9,454 - -
Fair value changes credited to FAEMEEBAR
other comprehensive income AT EES 44 - -
Fair value changes credited to FABEMAFE
profit or loss bk - 12,610 -
As at 31 December 2023 and M2023F12A318 R
1 January 2024 20241818 83,665 12,610 -
Addition NE 13,995 - 2,594
Settlement Fe = (3,000) =
Fair value changes credited to FARMEEBAR
other comprehensive income NTEEES 135,386 = =
Fair value changes credited to FABENATE
profit or loss =) - 226 -
Disposal HE (49,338) = =
As at 31 December 2024 R2024512A318 183,708 9,836 2,594
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eI mRMEE

3

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(b) Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued)

For unlisted equity investment, the Group
estimates the fair value based on the recent
share transaction of the underlying investee
companies on an arm'’s length basis. If the fair
value of the FVOCI held by the Group had
been 5% (2023: 5%) lower/higher, the other
comprehensive income, net of tax would be
approximately HK$9,185,000 lower/higher for
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: other
comprehensive loss would be approximately
HK$4,183,000 higher/lower).

For the contingent consideration receivables and
contingent consideration payables at level 3,
the Group estimates the fair value based on the
discounted cash flow approach. Details on key
assumption are disclosed in Note 16(a). As at
31 December 2024, if discount rates had been
increased/decreased, the fair value of financial
assets would have been decreased/increased.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements used in preparing the financial
statements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below.

FHREBRERERAA

3
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(a)

Impairment of non-current assets

The Group tests whether goodwill and intangible
assets with indefinite useful life have suffered any
impairment on an annual basis, or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that they
might be impaired. Property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The
recoverable amounts have been determined based on
the higher of VIU or FVLCOD.

The calculations require the use of judgements and
estimates. Management judgement is required in the
area of asset impairment particularly in assessing:
(i) whether an event has occurred that may indicate
that the related asset values may not be recoverable;
(i) whether the carrying amount of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, being the
higher of FVLCOD and VIU which are estimated based
upon the continued use of the asset in the business;
and (iii) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied
in preparing cash flow projections including whether
these cash flow projections are discounted using an
appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected
by management in assessing impairment, including
gross margin percentage, annual revenue growth
rates, terminal growth rates and the discount rates
used in the cash flow projections, could affect the net
present value used in the impairment test and as a
result affect the Group’s financial position and results
of operations.

R MR
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eI mRMEE

4

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Income tax and deferred income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in HK and
Mainland China. Significant judgement is required
in determining the provision for income taxes. There
are some transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated taxes based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due.

Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences would impact the current
tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which
such determination is made.

Useful lives of property, plant and
equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives and related depreciation charges for its
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based
on the historical experience of the actual useful lives
of property, plant and equipment of similar nature
and functions. It could change significantly as a result
of technical innovations and competitor actions in
response to severe industry cycles. Management will
increase the depreciation charge where useful lives are
less than previously estimated lives, or it will write-off
or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic
assets that have been abandoned or sold.

Estimation of the fair value of financial
instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active market is determined using
valuation techniques. The Group uses its judgement
to select a variety of methods and make assumptions
that are mainly based on market conditions existing
at the end of each reporting period. Details of the key
assumptions and inputs used are disclosed in the table
in Note 3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A HRRMEE
5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WHEkoPER

(a) Revenue (a) W=

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BILLEE

2024 2023
2024 2023 5
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Provision of ophthalmic services HE AR B AR 1,211,349 1,266,248
Provision of dental services RH TR RS 507,292 428,098
Provision of other medical services TR fth BE R AR 7S 38,124 47,580
Sales of vision aid products HER DWW EM 156,397 162,605
Sales of medical consumables HEEBEREM = 19,433
1,913,162 1,923,964

The timing of revenue recognition of the Group’s REFERGZH B RERERNT

revenue is as follows:

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE

2024 2023
2024 F 20234

HK$°000 HK$'000

FETT FETT

Revenue at a point in time A J 18 e A B A i 2 1,550,826 1,613,196
Revenue over time BE B 48 25 Y M 2 362,336 310,768
1,913,162 1,923,964
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eI mRMEE

5

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(b) Liabilities related to contract with customers

(c)

The Group has recognised the following liabilities
related to contracts with customers:

Contract liabilities — advanced

payments received from clients TR FRIA

5

BHEE-CREPH

Wk oIBER @)

(b) BEFENERENERE

AEBCHBAUNTEREFELH
BRAMAE:

As at 31 December
MW12A31H
2024 2023

2023

HK$000

FET

2024
HK$’000
F# T

57,537 54,189

Revenue recognised during the year ended 31
December 2024 that was included in the contract
liabilities balance at the beginning of the year
amounted to approximately HK$54,189,000 (2023:
HK$39,490,000).

Segment information

Management has determined the operating segments
based on the reports reviewed by the chief operating
decision-maker that are used to making strategic
decisions. The chief operating decision-maker is
identified as the executive directors of the Company.
The executive directors consider the business from
a client perspective and assess the performance of
the operating segments based on segment revenue
and segment results for the purposes of allocating
resources and assessing performance. These reports
are prepared on the same basis as the consolidated
financial statements.

The reportable segment of the Group is a component
that is engaged either in providing a particular type
of service or goods, or in providing services or goods
within a particular geographical region.

FHREBRERERAA

HE2024F12A3MBIEFE 5T A
FHEHNEEESMNEERREN A
54,189,000 % 7T (2023 4F : 39,490,000
WBIT) ©

(c)

7 ERE

BEEERBEHIELERRE
EHMARARRNREETL
B TELERKERR
ERARBOMITES - W17
EERNEPNAEREERTY
I AR ¥ 0GR Uk a1 Ko 0 BF S AR T
HEENHBORE UOEE
BREFERR - ZEREIR
BURE ISR AR B RS -

AEENA 2RO S ER
R E R M RS R M - S
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(0

Segment information (Continued)

Since 1 January 2024, in view of more diversified
businesses operated by the Group, the chief operating
decision-maker assesses the performance of the Group
by reviewing the results of five reportable segments,
namely HK medical business, sales of medical
consumables, Mainland China ophthalmic business,
Mainland China dental business and Mainland China
other business as follows:

(i) HK medical business — provision of ophthalmic,
dental and other medical services and sales of
vision aid products in Hong Kong

(i) Sales of medical consumables — sales of medical
consumables in Hong Kong

(i)~ Mainland China ophthalmic business — provision
of ophthalmic services and sales of vision aid
products in Mainland China

(iv)  Mainland China dental business — provision of
dental services in Mainland China

(v)  Mainland China other business — provision of
medical research and other medical services in
Mainland China

Such a change is to align with the updated
internal management and reporting structure. The
segment information of the comparative period
has been restated to conform to the current period
categorisation and presentation.

Capital expenditure comprises additions to property,
plant and equipment, investment property, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets.

Other income, other gains/(losses), net, finance (costs)/
income, net and income tax expense are not included
in segment results.

5 W

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

R MR

EaEER &)

2 EEHR (8

H202451 A1 B # - ERKRE
%“%E’J%n&ﬁ'ﬁﬂymﬁ TE
KERAREBBRTAFEAITE
WO ENEBBEER  HE
BEREFEM - MRS - it
RIS LA H i 55 B %
BRE AR EBA LS BT

)y BEEBEEK-—GEZBR
HERE TR R E B E
ARTS A R SHE AR N\ B

o]
[=]8]

(i) HEBEREN -EFLEH
EL b2

(i) WHBRIFEB-—IEANLIRE
HIRRRBE M EER
B E @

(iv) AT RIEH-—ERMLRE
T BB 5

v ABEMEH-ERMBE
1 B8 B AT 9% Mo H A B8 AR
%

It TR B D A & R ) R E
KIEREBRE B BB
D BEHND TEH - AK
BARHENBELRENTA -

EXAXBREAEDE BE
B WEME EREEE
MEREE -

HA -~ Efhlzs, (B5E)

SRR B (RRA) SR AEE
NSRS WARRT A DSBS -

“ENFEFER

135



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BImRMEE
5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WakoaBER @
(Continued)
(c) Segment information (Continued) () 2HFBER )
The segment results for the year ended 31 December HZE2024F 12 A31HIEFE®
2024 are as follows: DEEEHYIWT

Year ended 31 December 2024

136

HE04ENANHLEE
Mainland
China Mainland Mainland
HK medical  ophthalmic China dental ~ China other
business business business business Total
BEARR RN AR R E
2% £ £ £ i
HKS000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$000 HK$000
FEx FEx FEx FEx FEx
Segment revenue AEE 901,589 546,993 464,580 - 1913162
Gross profit =7 243,265 114,531 169,823 - 527,619
Selling expenses HERY (26,037) (79,219) (28,106) (28) (133,390)
Administrative expenses TREX (126,758) (150,796) (45,651) (19,380) (342,585)
Impairment loss on non-current ~ JEREIEERESE
assets (14,163) (114,279) - - (128,442)
Share of losses of associates HMEBERAREE
and joint venture TrEEE (975) - - - (975)
Segment results BEES 75332 (229,763) 96,066 (19,408) (12,713)
Other income ECON 8,866
Other gains, net EtERTE 1.m
Finance income Eipr 0N 14,574
Finance costs B (23,659)
Loss before income tax BRET (R Et A1 A (76,221)
Income tax expense FEREY (32,003)
Loss for the year ERFE (108,314)
Other segment information ~ Et12HBEH
Impairment loss on property, ER G E
plant and equipment EiE = (60,288) = = (60,288)
Impairment loss on right-of-use ~ FFEEEREFE
assets (865) (56,700) - - (57,565)
Impairment loss on goodwill EEHEER (14,163) (63,777) = = (77,940)
Impairment loss on other EhEVEERERS
intangible assets - (1,931) - - (1,931)
Additions to non-current assets ~ REFERIAE 67,046 41,957 197,181 138,543 444,727
Depreciation and amortisation FTEREHE (73,714) (93,280) (32,964) (13,665) (213,623)
Gains on early termination of lease %2 AI4X IE 4180 5% 12 920 1,428 - 2,360
Losses on disposal of property, — HENE  BE R&EEH
plant and equipment, net ERFE (702) (511) (246) = (1,459)

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED FHHEEHFIZERERA A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

(c) Segment information (Continued)

The segment results for the year ended 31 December

2023 are as follows:

5

R MR

iR o EEFR (&

() 7ZEER ()

BHZE2023F 12 A31HIEFED
DEBRBEHIIIT

Year ended 31 December 2023 (Restated)
HZE2023F12A31 AILEE (KE7)

Mainland Mainland
Sales of China China Mainland
HK medical medical  ophthalmic dental  China other
business  consumables business business business Total
FABE HEEER  AHBRE  miFR AHEf
% 2] E3 3 #% % A
HK$'000 HK$000 HKS$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FE FET FET FET FHT FHT
Segment revenue DEE 932,087 9,433 587,710 384,734 - 1,923,964
Gross profit 7 251,248 8,129 207,510 152,075 - 618,962
Selling expenses HERT (18,137) - (108,634) (21,031) - (147,802)
Administrative expenses THEY (123,885) (432) (174,624) (47,654) (8,333) (354,928)
Share of profit of associates  AEHEDARAE
and joint venture TEFHE 3,164 - - - - 3,164
Segment results DEEE 112,390 7,697 (75,748) 83,390 (8,333) 119,39
Other income EflA 8413
Other losses, net AhEEEE (5308)
Finance income FHUA 19,890
Finance costs HERA (18,122)
Profit before income tax BR AT R A A 124,269
Income tax expense BEHAY (37,934)
Profit for the year FRFIE 86,335
Other segment HaHEs
information
Additions to non-current B FEFEHEE
assets 80,543 - 55,094 27,698 60,856 224,191
Depreciation and REREH
amortisation (76,979) (428) (108,339) (28,202) (7,042) (220,990)
(Losses)/gains on early RAEEEOH
termination of lease (BB) W& (1,620) - 247 - - (1373)
Losses on disposal of HEN % BER
property, plant and RENEETE
equipment, net (18) - 91 (12) - (121
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eI mRMEE

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(0

(d)

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

Segment information (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the total non-financial
non-current assets including property, plant and
equipment, investment properties, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets located in Hong Kong and
Mainland China are approximately HK$269,470,000
and HK$1,488,808,000 respectively (2023:
HK$273,663,000 and HK$1,533,683,000).

No analysis of segment assets and liabilities is
presented as they are not regularly provided to the
executive directors.

There was no single external client which contributed
more than 10% to the Group’s revenue for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: same).

Accounting policies of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of
the goods or services is transferred to the customer.
Depending on the terms of the contracts and the laws
that apply to the contract, control of the goods and
services may be transferred over time or at a point in
time.

Control of the goods or services is transferred over
time if the Group’s performance:

o provides all of the benefits received and
consumed simultaneously by the customer;

. creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

o does not create an asset with an alternative use
to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to
date.

FHREBRERERAA

5 WaERkoHER &

(9]

(d)

2 EE R (8

MR2024F12A31H  URFE
B R R B A A FES B IE R B
EEAE(BREDE BE &K
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FEE) D R4 /269,470,000
L K 1,488,808,000/8 7T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MR

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WHkoBER @
(Continued)
(d) Accounting policies of revenue recognition (d) WEERANEETEER @)
(Continued)

If control of the goods or services transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract
by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the goods or services.

If contracts involve the sale of multiple elements, the
transaction price will be allocated to each performance
obligation based on their relative stand-alone selling
prices. If the stand-alone selling prices are not directly
observable, they are estimated based on expected
cost plus a margin or adjusted market assessment
approach, depending on availability of observable
information.

When either party to a contract has performed, the
Group presents the contract in the consolidated
statement of financial position as a contract asset
or a contract liability, depending on the relationship
between the entity’s performance and the customer’s
payment.

A receivable is recognised when the Group has
an unconditional right to consideration. A right to
consideration is unconditional if only the passage of
time is required before the payment is due.

The Group’s revenue is primarily derived from
providing medical services and sales of vision aid
products and medical consumables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eI mRMEE

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

(d) Accounting policies of revenue recognition
(Continued)

()

(i)

(iii)

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

Provision of ophthalmic services

The Group provides a range of ophthalmic
care, diagnostic, medical and surgical treatment
services at the eye centres, clinics and hospitals.
Revenue from ophthalmic services is recognised
in the accounting period in which the related
services are rendered.

Provision of dental and other medical
services

The Group provides a range of dental and other
medical services (oncology, family medicine
and medical aesthetic), diagnostic, surgical
treatment services at the medical centres, clinics
and hospitals. Revenue from dental and other
medical services is recognised in the accounting
period in which the related services are
rendered.

Sales of vision aid products and medical
consumables

Revenue from sales of vision aid products and
medical consumables is recognised when control
of the products has transferred, being when the
products are despatched to the client and there
is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the
client’s acceptance of the products.

FHREBRERERAA
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7

OTHER INCOME

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MR

Hib g A

Year ended 31 December
HE12A31BLEE

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
HKS$’000 HK$°000
FETT FET
Management fee income BERBRA 581 3,233
Rental income HEmA 781 770
Government grants (Note (i) B 4 B (B 5 1)) 2,807 3,391
Insurance income RN 780 -
Others HAitb 3,917 1,019
8,866 8,413
Note: D
(i) There are no unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies () VWEEBZSMBIORBITEMER
attaching to these grants. The Group did not benefit directly HMABR AEEWEEESR
from any other forms of government assistance. BREMEMEANBAER
OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES), NET 7 HttlE S (FR)FE

Gains on fair value change of contingent

R ARERFEED

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE
2024 2023
20234
HK$'000

FET

2024 F
HK$°000
TET

consideration, net (Note 20) #y Wz 5 58 (952 20) 226 12,610
Losses on disposal of property, plantand &YW - HE & RED
equipment, net B8 F (1,459) (121)
Gain on disposal of intangible assets &M E E N e 30 -
Gains/(losses) on early termination of RRTAR EFE AR WS,
lease (Note 14) (E518) (MiEE14) 2,360 (1,373)
Gains/(losses) on financial asset at AT EFAEBROS R
FVPL (Note 23) BENK (E18)
(M$3E23) 3,444 (10,736)
Losses on write-off of non-current assets il 8 JE B & E Y E 1B (2,259) (2,504)
Losses on write-off of trade receivables hiH B 2 WG IE R B8 (118) (137)
Exchange losses, net b 5, B 18 5E (453) (3,047)
1,771 (5,308)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eI mRMEE

8 EXPENSES BY NATURE 8 BMEIZIMNER

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

Amortisation of intangible assets

EREEEE (KT 16)

Year ended 31 December
HE12A31BLEE
2024 2023
2023
HK$°000

FET

2024 F
HK$’000
F T

(Note 16) 1,438 1,537
Auditor’s remuneration 1% B4R 357 B

— Audit services —E R 2,000 2,330

— Non-audit services —JEEF R 157 158
Depreciation of property, plant and Wz BE REETE (M

equipment (Note 13) 5£13) 71,285 77,637
Depreciation of investment properties wEYERE (H:E15)

(Note 15) 843 335
Depreciation of right-of-use assets HRAEEENE (M 14)

(Note 14) 140,057 141,481
Doctors’ consultation fees BLEYE 405,834 400,902
Cost of inventories and consumables sold 7 & & & tH & FE# Ak A (T

(Note 17) F£17) 344,204 395,133
Employee benefit expenses (Note 9) BE®FARAZ () 570,917 526,996
Short-term lease expenses (Note 14) RHRER Y (ME14) 10,430 4,563
Legal and professional fees FRERBEER 5,239 5,075
Share-based payment expenses to M) &8 A I B S A A AR 47

doctors and consultants BERHNREAEZ 286 114
Promotion expenses SEME 131,022 145,610
Bank service charges RITREE A 15,279 13,497
Repair and maintenance fees HERREER 12,907 13,693
Impairment loss on other intangible HhEEEERERSRE

assets (Note 16) (fts¥16) 1,931 -
Impairment loss on goodwill (Note 16) EEREE 1R (K5t 16) 77,940 -
Impairment loss on property, plant and M BE REERE

equipment (Note 13) 518 (5 13) 60,288 -
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets FERAEEERBEREE

(Note 14) (Mt3E14) 57,565 -
Others H A 80,338 78,671
Total cost of revenue, selling expenses, HERA  HERX

administrative expenses and TR RIERDEE

impairment loss on non-current assets B B 1E AR 1,989,960 1,807,732

FHREBRERERAA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING
DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS)

R MR

BERAAX (BEESEHE)

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE
2024 2023

2023
HK$ 000

FET

2024 F
HK$’000
FET

Wages, salaries, bonuses and allowances T & - & « {E41 K 2 8L 531,038 490,048
Retirement benefit costs — defined RIRBFIRK AN — E R 3K
contribution schemes (Note (i) =120 (B =EG) 31,604 29,555
Staff welfare and benefits BTREMEF = 8,212 7,234
Share option expenses to employees and {2 8 M & BB AR ER 2
directors 63 159
570,917 526,996
Note: [z

Retirement benefit costs — defined contribution schemes

The Company’s subsidiaries in Mainland China are members of
the state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by
Mainland China government. The Group contributes a certain
percentage of the salaries of the subsidiaries’ employees, and
has no further obligations for the actual payment of pensions
or post-retirement benefits beyond the annual contributions.
The state-managed retirement plans are responsible for the
entire pension obligations payable to the retired employees.

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees to
join the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme"”), a defined contribution scheme managed by an
independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, the Group and
its employees make monthly contributions to the scheme
at 5% of the employees’ earnings as defined under the
Mandatory Provident Fund legislation. Both the Group'’s
and the employees’ contributions were subject to a cap
of HK$1,500 per month, and thereafter contributions are
voluntary.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BImRMEE
9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING 9 EEFANFX(BEESEHS)
DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS) (Continued) (&)
(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer's (a) EERTHARMS
emoluments
The remunerations of each director and the Chief AEEBSEERTHRATNE
Executive Officer of the Group for the year ended 31 ZE2024F 12 31 HIEFEMH
December 2024 are set out below: B E 50T

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Group, the Company or its subsidiary undertaking
REAES(FRRASE AOHFHNRAANES)HAL
RUNBEMXAIENZALHNE
Employer's
contribution
toa
Allowances  retirement
Discretionary ~ and benefits benefit  Share-based
Fees Salaries bonuses in kind scheme  payment
CELE
RER  RAGE  UBRHA
e B¢ BREEL  RUBN  FHOHR  BRNAX it
HKS000  HKSODD  HKSO00  HKSUOD  HKSOOD  HKSUOO  HKSUOD
77 FAr 77 Tz FAr Tz 71

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE204E128318

LLEE
Erecutie dlrectors HEE
Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Dennis IR (e
("Dr. Dennis LAM”) BE|) (i)
(Chief Executive Offcer) (Note ) (W3 %0 5,760 - - 1 - 6017
Ms. L Xiaoting (‘M. LI") (Note i)~ ZHELL([Z%t))
{3k ) - 3,000 - 806 18 - 3824
Dr. LFF Yau Wing Vincent (Note i)~ SR (H3 (i) 40 - - - - - 240
Indevendent non-executie diectors BV #E7TEE
Mr. MA Andrew Chiu Cheung ERELE 240 - - - - - 240
Dr. Rex AUYEUNG Pak-Kuen BhIAEEL 600 - - - - 63 663
Mr. P Shu Kiwan Stephen ERffs 240 - - - - - 240
M. YIN Ke (Note () EEbRAGE{) % - - - - - %
1,800 8,760 - 806 35 63 11,464

144 C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED HEEEZERERAD T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

emoluments (Continued)

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING 9
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer's

The remunerations of each director and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023 are set out below:

R MR

BERAAX (BEESEHE)

(%)

(a) EERITHRARME (@)

AEEZSEENTHRAHNE
FE2023F 12 A31 B IEEENH
BN A0

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person's services as a director,
whether of the Group, the Company or ts sub ary undertaking

FiLfE

Discretionary
Fees Salaries bonuses

T

contribution

toa

Allowances ~ retirement
and benefits benefit  Share-based
in kind scheme payment

7 - ERNMT At
HSO00 HKSO0D HKSO00 HKS 000
Year ended 31 December 2023 HEUBE128318
LLEE
Brecutive diectors HEZ
Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Dennis (“Dr. HHIEAE & ([ e
Dennis LAM") (Chief Executive BE|) (i)
Officer) (Note () (B () 40 5,760 - - 18 - 6,018
Ms. L Xiaoting (‘M. LI") Note i)~ ZHELE([Z%t))
k() - 3000 - 793 18 - 3811
Mr. LI Chun Shan (Note (i) and i)~ 2% (ki)
R(i) - JE - - - - 3
Dr. EE Yau Wing Vincent (Note (i)~ ZR& %4 (F3k i) 240 - - - - - U0
Indeoendent non-executie diecors BT HH{TEE
Dr. IKwok Tung Donald (Note (1))~ ZEREE (13 () 100 - - - - - 100
Mr. MA Andrew Chiu Cheung EREfE 0 - - - - - 40
Mr. CHAN Chi Leong (Note () RERAE () 100 - - - - - 100
Ms. BENTLEY Annie Liang (Note (v) 2R &L (FixE() 100 - - - - - 100
Dr. Rex AUYEUNG Pak-Kuen BRnEST 600 - - - - 159 759
M. IP Shu Kwan Stephen ERELE 0 - - - - - U0
M. YIN Ke (Note () R () 120 - - - - - 120
1980 8,998 - % 3% 159 11,966
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eI mRMEE

9

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’'s

emoluments (Continued)

Note:

(i) The remuneration of Dr. Dennis LAM shown in the
tables represent remuneration received and receivable
from the Group by him in his capacities as a director
and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company and
an ophthalmologist to the Group during the year

ended 31 December 2024 (2023: same).

(ii) The remunerations of Ms. LI (2023: Ms. LI and
Mr. LI Chun Shan) shown in the tables represent
remuneration received and receivable from the Group
by them in their capacities as directors of the Company
and employees to the Group during the year ended 31

December 2024 (2023: same).

(iiy ~ The remunerations of Dr. LEE Yau Wing Vincent
represent remunerations received and receivable
from the Group by him in his capacity as a director of
the Company. During the year ended 31 December
2024, Dr. LEE Yau Wing Vincent received doctors’
consultation fees of approximately HK$36,619,000

(2023: HK$36,944,000).

(iv)  Mr. LI Chun Shan stepped down as an executive
director on 3 July 2023 and Dr. LI Kwok Tung Donald,
Mr. CHAN Chi Leong and Ms. BENTLEY Annie Liang
retired by rotation as independent non-executive
directors and did not offer themselves for re-election
at the annual general meeting on 30 May 2023. The
Group confirmed that there were no disagreements
among Mr. LI Chun Shan, Dr. LI Kwok Tung Donald,
Mr. CHAN Chi Leong and Ms. BENTLEY Annie Liang
and the Board of Directors and nothing relating to the
affairs of the Company needed to be brought to the
attention to the shareholders of the Company.

(v) Mr. YIN Ke was appointed as an independent non-

executive director on 3 July 2023.

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED FHHEEHFIZERERA A
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R MR

9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING 9 EEFIM(BEEEM)
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (Continued) (&)

(a) EERITHRARME (@)

(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’'s

emoluments (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
aggregate amounts of remuneration including fees,
salaries, discretionary bonuses, allowances and benefits
in kind, employer’s contribution to a retirement
benefit scheme, share-based payment and doctors’
consultation fees which were paid by the Group to the
directors were approximately HK$48,083,000 (2023:
HK$48,910,000).

No remunerations are paid or receivables in respect of
accepting office as director during the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: Nil).

No emoluments are paid or receivable in respect
of directors’ other services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company or its
subsidiary undertaking during the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: Nil).

No directors waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments during the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: Nil).

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no
retirement benefits, payments or benefits in respect of
termination of directors’ services were paid or made,
directly or indirectly, to the directors; nor are any
payable (2023: Nil). No consideration was provided
to or receivable by third parties for making available
directors’ services (2023: Nil).

PEE2024F 12831 H IEF
o AREERE S A HE
wE(pEEe  Fe BB
A ZBREYRERA - BERER
PR A& FI 5T 8 7B H A 30 - DARR
MAEEBONEUAREEZ )
54948,083,0007% 7T (2023 4F ¢
48,910,000 7T) °

RE E2024F12 A31 B IEHF
B - HMESEEMNEETHEM
sk EI B (2023 4F : 4) -

PEZE2024F 128318 IEF
EMEREEAEEART K
EBARSSATREMEM
PR 75 M S2 A< sk FE MR B < (2023
Fom|m) o

REZE2024F12 831 B ItHF
E BMEEEREXRIENE
A& (20234 : /) o

REE2024F12 831 B ItHF
B BERRKIEERBAE
FEESIEEINSELEOR
KEF ~ RS ABF] - TREAE
£t FE B8 #Y JE < 3R IE (2023 4F -
)  WEpESEERB T
EEESHBUNEM I DRE
A& = iR 2R B (2023 4F -
| o
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eI mRMEE

9

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)

(a)

(b)

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’s
emoluments (Continued)

There is no loans, quasi-loans and other dealing
arrangements in favour of the directors, or controlled
body corporates and connected entities of such
directors during the year ended 31 December 2024
(2023: Nil).

No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company was a party and in which a director of
the Company had material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
Nil).

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest amongst the directors and employees in the
Group include three (2023: three) directors, Dr. LEE
Yau Wing Vincent, Dr. Dennis LAM and Ms. LI (2023:
same), whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis
presented above for the year ended 31 December
2024. The emoluments payable to the remaining
two (2023: two) individuals for the year ended 31
December 2024 are as follows:

9

BERAAX (BEESEHE)

(&)

(a)

(b)

EERTRARME (50

REE2024F 12 A31H IEF
B HMENESHSIHEEH
REZENBEEEATHIAN

ER EEFRLREMNXZ S TH
(20234 : 4E) -

REZE2024F12 A31 HIEE R
HFEEANNEMEHE RNAQ7
YRS ETAEAEBERA
BHNEARS  THEREH A
AAREEEHEPEZKBEE
BHE KT o (2023F 1 )

TEBREHFHMAL

REE2024F 12 A31HIEF
E AEEEEKEEFRHNR
ZEEHMALBEIE=4 (2023
F:=ZR)EE(ZHEE
MNEEAES A e 2224 ) (2023 4F -
R - WENFH N REE EX
ETH DT o RELE 20245 12
ANMBIEFE ENBRTMA
(20234 : M%) AT B HEHE
T

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE
2024 2023

2023 £
HK$'000

FET

2024 F
HK$’000
FET

Wages, salaries, and allowances TIE& - 54 &2 4,008 4,061
Bonuses TE4L 694 674
Pension costs BIRE A 36 36

4,738 4,771

FHREBRERERAA



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e RME
9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING 9 REEGAFEX(BREZSHD)
DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS) (Continued) (5&)
(b) Five highest paid individuals (Continued) (b) EEESHMAL(E)
The emoluments fell within the following bands: HIEULTEHER

Number of individuals
AE
Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Emolument bands HENEs R
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7T £ 2,500,000 % 7T 1 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7 7T & 3,000,000 7% 7T 1 1
2 2
10 FINANCE (COSTS)/INCOME, NET 10 BH#§ (RA) WA R

Year ended 31 December
HE12A31HLEE

2024 2023
2024 & 20234
HK$000 HK$'000
F& T FET
Finance income -3 ON
Bank interest income RITH BUA 13,866 19,890
Interest income on loan to a non- eI AR AE 2 B A A B UL A
controlling interest 708 -
oo mmmeimiieiiiiiieieieieiieiceeceeoo.. N 14574 . 19,890
Finance costs B 3 R AR
Interest expense on leases (Note 14) HERMBMAXZ (HF14) (19,524) (16,712)
Interest expense on loan from non- FEVERR = B R FIB
controlling interests (Note 39) 3% (B15E39) (262) (396)
Interest expense on bank borrowings RITEZRFEMAX (814) (303)
Interest expense on consideration payable & & & EENKENFT
for investment in a joint venture B (981) (210)
Imputed interest expense on consideration 1% & A & ¥ EMAED
payable for investment in a joint venture A E F| 8 F & (2,078) (501)
__________________________________________________________________________________ (23,659) (18,122)
Finance (costs)/income, net B (AAS) WA SR 58 (9,085) 1,768
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REMBmRMET

11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11 FBEHAX
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of HZE2024F12A31BIEFE - &
16.5% (2023: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits B S R BEhATE R R R R R
for the year ended 31 December 2024. 16.5% (2023 4F : 16.5%) T2 &% -
The applicable tax rate for the subsidiaries in Mainland HE2024F12A31HLEFE A%
China of the Group was 25% (2023: 25%) for the year FRERANMHBARMBERMREA
ended 31 December 2024. 25% (20234 : 25%) ©
Under the Corporate Income Tax Law, withholding income BB ERETE  EPBEAMERT
tax of 5% (2023: 5%) shall be levied on the dividends M AREREELRERSTMA LA
remitted by the companies established in the Mainland SRR EE - EEHU 5% (2023 4F -
China to their foreign investors incorporated in Hong 5% ) BITEIRFTS R © BT RN A E
Kong. All dividends coming from the profits generated A A B FTIS R AR B A AR L IR T8
by the Mainland China companies shall be subject to this RFTEH o

withholding income tax.

The amount of taxation charged to the consolidated BIRA2HBRARNGRHBIESEA
statement of comprehensive income represents:

Year ended 31 December
HE12A31HLEE

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET

Current income tax BVHAFT1S B4
— Hong Kong profits tax —aBNER 14,153 23,180
— China enterprise income tax —Fh P EMEH 16,145 16,979
Over-provision in prior years BEFERBREE (458) (2,328)
Deferred income tax (Note 29) EIEFTER (M 5E29) 2,253 103
Income tax expense TSR 2 32,093 37,934
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 11

The taxation on the Group’s (loss)/profit before income tax
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using
the weighted average tax rate applicable to profits of the
Group companies as follows:

R MR

BB X @

AEBRR PSR (BB /FBNTH
TR B B A SR B A R RE A hn
FEORERFESENERBENER
LN

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BILLEE

2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FAET
(Loss)/profit before income tax BFTE R AT (B518) /FIE (76,221) 124,269
Tax calculated at domestic tax rate RERANS AR
applicable to (loss)/profit in respective (BB /FIBHNE
jurisdictions MEFTHEMTIE (27,584) 19,154
Tax effects of: Ty BENRETE
Income not subject to tax TN (3,895) (3,781)
Expenses not deductible for taxation AT IR B 32
purpose 51,770 8,018
Tax losses for which no deferred income i # FE SR IR IE FT1S 7R
tax assets was recognised BEEMNTIEES 26,348 35,132
Withholding tax on royalty income EH B A TEN 648 781
Over-provision in prior years BEFEHBERE (458) (2,328)
Recognition of previously unrecognised 7R 5T Bl AR HE R
tax losses MIAEE (100) (227)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised B A AR R T IE
tax losses &8 (14,471) (18,650)
Tax concession MIBEEE (165) (165)
Income tax expense Fr 5% 5 2 32,093 37,934
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eI mRMEE

12 (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE
(a) Basic

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the
profit attributable to equity holders of the Company
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in
issue.

(Loss)/profit attributable to equity
holders of the Company during the

12 BR(EEB) BF
(a) EX

BREARBANZARREDF
BEAREMNBERACETER
Bt BETH -

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLLEE

2024
2024 F

2023
2023 F

FAXRRERFE
ARME (B1R) /78

year (HK$'000) (F#&m) (135,163) 61,998
Weighted average number of ordinary B 217 % 38 % hn &
shares in issue EHE 1,233,342,961 1,255,517,328
Basic (loss)/earnings per share (HK BREAN(FE) &BF
cents) (B (10.96) 4,94
(b) Diluted (b) #8

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by
adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares. As at 31 December 2024,
200,000 post-IPO share options (2023: 200,000 post-
IPO share options) outstanding are not included in the
calculation of diluted (loss)/earnings per share because
they are antidilutive for the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: same).

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED FHHEEHFIZERERA A

BREE (BB BRI HEXR
DM aEREE INT A
B - Wim B AR BEITEINGE
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72024412 A31H » 200,000
MEATENERAREER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MR

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13 W% BERRE

Office
Medical Leasehold furniture and Computer Motor  Construction
Buildings equipment  improvements fixtures equipment vehicles in progress
HOBER
BRRE HENRES BEkE BERE hE
k000 HK$000 k3000 HK$000 HK$000

At 1 January 2023 RUBE1F1R

Cost s 88,439 398,385 235,854 37,585 1,41 9,648 26,359 817,51

Accumulated deprecation ~ Z:tHTE 4579 (214579) (154,557) (30812) (14,483) (6,168) - (@25178)

Net book amount BEAE 83,860 183,806 81,297 6773 6,758 3480 26,359 392,333
Year ended 31 December ~ EE 20235127318

023 LEE

Opening net book amount ~~ FAIEE SR 83,860 183,806 81,297 6773 6,758 3480 26,359 392,333

Additions HE - 39,559 6,676 1,002 1,305 3 63,433 112,758

Transfer EE - - 14519 - - - (14,519) -

Disposals e - (14313) (17) (24) (1) (177) - (14,642)

Write-off e - - (1,783) (207) 212 - - (2,162)

Deprecation (Nte §) fiE (Hits) (:5%) (35020 300%9) 3,009 (2706) (1209 - (77,63)

Currency translation BagEE

differences (2)63) (4.275) (1,504) (59) (139) (79) (924) (9,135)

Closing net book amount FRETTE 76,102 169,757 69,130 4516 4899 2762 74,349 401,515
At 31 December 2023 RABENANE

Cost R 86,083 407,057 249,102 37,588 20983 9,53 74349 834,698

Accumulated depreciation BT (9.981) (237,300 (179972 (3301) (16,084) (6,774) - (483,183)

Net book amount BEAE 76,102 169,757 69,130 4516 4899 2,762 74,349 401,515
Year ended 31 December ~ EE 20245127318

2004 234

Opening net book amount ~~ FAIEAZE 76,102 169,757 69,130 4516 4,899 2762 74,349 401515

Additions hE - 24,632 19,844 1952 2,446 139% 81358 131,626

Transfer 4 - - 3789 - - - (3,789) -

Disposals e - (3919 (370) (84) (35) (308) - (4716)

Write-off e = (10) (2,09) (145) ® = S (2.259)

Depreciation (Note 8) A& (Hits) (5499) (32713) (27,053) (2415) (2,380) (1,159) - (71,285)

Impairment (Note 8) A (HEs) - (33383) (25,790) (359) (205) (591) - (60,288)

Currency tranglation EEEEE

differences (2435 (4757) (1,559) (48) (115) (81) (3.983) (12,978)

Closing netbook amount ~~ EAREEEFE 68,168 119,587 35,895 3417 4,5% 2017 147,935 381,615
At 31 December 2024 R0UENANE

Cost s 83177 397,114 251308 32,636 0,583 9,251 147,935 944,564

Accumulated depreciation  B3F7E (15,009) (278,121) (215413) (29.219) (17,947) (1.234) - (562,949)

Net book amount BE%E 68,168 119,587 35,895 3417 4,5% 2017 147,935 381,615
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eI mRMEE

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Depreciation expense charged in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income is as follows:

13 Y% BMERRE @

REEEE2ABRARMGRNTEERH
FIEAE

Year ended 31 December

BZE12BA31BLEFEE

2024 2023

2024 F 2023 £

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET FET

Cost of revenue fHE KA 49,542 55,201
Administrative expenses THRZ 21,743 22,436
71,285 77,637

For the year ended 31 December 2024, impairment
loss on property, plant and equipment amounted to
HK$60,288,000 (2023: Nil), of which HK$51,153,000
(2023: Nil) is included in cost of revenue and HK$9,135,000
(2023: Nil) is included in impairment loss on non-current
assets presented separately in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Information on non-current assets pledged as security for
borrowings of the Group are disclosed in Note 36.

(@) Impairment assessment of non-current
assets on Mainland China ophthalmic
business

In 2024, management noted a number of hospitals
in the segment of Mainland China ophthalmic
business which were underperforming. Therefore,
the management of the Group considered that there
are impairment indicators for the property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and other intangible
assets of Shenzhen Xinan C-MER Dennis Lam Eye
Hospital (“Xinan Hospital”), Huizhou C-MER Dennis
Lam Eye Hospital Co., Ltd (“Huizhou Hospital”),
Guangzhou C-MER Dennis Lam Eye Hospital Co., Ltd
("Guangzhou Hospital”), Jieyang C-MER Dennis
Lam Eye Hospital Co., Ltd. (“Jieyang Hospital”),
Shanghai Eye Hospital and clinics (“Shanghai
Group”) and Foshan C-MER Dennis Lam Eye Hospital
Co., Ltd. (“Foshan Hospital”)'s CGUs in the segment
of Mainland China ophthalmic business. In particular,
Foshan Hospital has been closed in November 2024.
Accordingly, the property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and other intangible assets of these
CGUs were subject to impairment as at 31 December
2024 due to fierce competition in the industry and
overall weakening of consumer sentiment in Mainland
China in 2024. The recoverable amounts of these
CGUs have been determined based on the higher
of FVLCOD and the VIU calculations conducted by
management.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(a)

Impairment assessment of non-current
assets on Mainland China ophthalmic
business (Continued)

Details of the impairment assessments of Shanghai
Eye Hospital and clinics are disclosed in Note 16(a).

Mainland China ophthalmic business — Huizhou
Hospital, Guangzhou Hospital, Jieyang
Hospital and Foshan Hospital

As at 31 December 2024, Huizhou Hospital,
Guangzhou Hospital, Jieyang Hospital and Foshan
Hospital have property, plant and equipment of
HK$9,497,000, HK$17,305,000, HK$19,246,000 and
HK$20,176,000, right-of-use assets of HK$5,545,000,
HK$125,000, HK$10,211,000 and HK$11,982,000
and other intangible assets of HK$420,000,
HK$123,000, HK$491,000 and HK$269,000
respectively, subject to impairment assessment. The
recoverable amounts of these CGUs are determined
with reference to respective FVLCOD, taking into
consideration of respective VIU calculations. The
fair value of property, plant and equipment is based
on management’s estimates derived from the price
from prior transactions without adjustment within
level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The results of the
impairment test show that the recoverable amount
of Huizhou Hospital, Guangzhou Hospital, Jieyang
Hospital and Foshan Hospital CGUs of HK$2,957,000,
HK$3,025,000, HK$2,608,000 and HK$2,311,000
respectively, is less than their respective carrying
amount. As a result, an impairment of property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use asset and other intangible
assets of HK$55,323,000, HK$27,863,000 and
HK$1,303,000, respectively, have been charged to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

R MR

13 W% BERSZE®

(a)

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

HE R ERRER N IERE
EEREFNE (@

EERRBRE D F O RET
5 # A B 3 16(a) R B -

A IRFIF T — BMNE T - &
MEb - 755885 K 4 L B b

202412 8318 2 M
Bt  BEMEP - B ER
FBEILERNOME - BE R
& D BRI A9,497,000 7 »
17,305,0007% JT * 19,246,000
BT 520,176,000 7C : F F
# & 7 9 5l 55,545,000 7T
125,0007% 7T * 10,211,0007%5 7T
211,982,000 Jr : M E fib &
¥ EED R A420,000% T
123,000 7T * 491,000 7T &
269,000/8 T H#E TR E T
HoZERSEEEMNATHK
ElE&BmOLBESENAFAE
BLEXRAET ZEEISFE
MEREB WE BEER
HEHATERKREEEH AT
BEEANEIZAN  BAEXSE
1 OCRETHE) FriEfl st - BUE
AR 4E REER - BN EBT - BM
B BEERLEILERD
ReEEBEMNTWESED R
7$2,957,0007%8 7T * 3,025,000 7
JC ~ 2,608,000 7T £2.2,311,000
BT ALt - W BB MR -
FRAEEEMAMEREEEDN
1B 9 Bl 55,323,000 7T -
27,863,000/% 7t } 1,303,000 %
T BREAEEBARIR

—ENFEFER
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eI mRMEE

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 13 ¥ BEERRKE®

(a) Impairment assessment of non-current (@) PERHERNEXNIERSD
assets on Mainland China ophthalmic BEERENME @)
business (Continued)
Mainland China ophthalmic business — Huizhou AR — BB - B
Hospital, Guangzhou Hospital, Jieyang MEBT - 115 EF K # 1L &k
Hospital and Foshan Hospital (Continued) (&)
The following table sets out the key assumptions for THRENNEEAEENFE L
VIU calculations: SEDNEE &

2024
2024

Huizhou Guangzhou Jieyang Foshan
Hospital Hospital Hospital Hospital
EMERE  EMNER  BEER AR

Compound revenue growth 54 W zE K 6.0% 5.0% 6.0% N/A
for 5 years FER
Terminal revenue growth rates 7 Hi 4 a5 18 & & 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% N/A
FEA
Average gross profit margin -~ 5 FHEF| K 2.5% 25.4% -22.7% N/A
over 5 years FEAR
Compound EBITDA growth 54 EBITDAE A1 R = 2.6% 1.0% 2.3% N/A
for 5 years FER
Pre-tax discount rates BAT BRI & 14.0% 14.0% 14.0% N/A
FER

N/A: Foshan Hospital was closed in November 2024. A FRILERT R 2024F 11 A8

127 -

The recoverable amounts of each of the CGUs are 7202412 B 31 A&k

estimated as at 31 December 2024 as follows: B3R & MM KRESENAT

2024
2024 F
Huizhou Guangzhou Jieyang Foshan

Hospital Hospital Hospital Hospital
EMERE  EMER  BEER ALK
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FET FET FHET

Recoverable amount EE{EES-S 2,957 3,025 2,608 2,311
Headroom BRE = = = =
Impairment FE (12,505) (14,528) (27,340) (30,116)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Impairment assessment of non-current
assets on Mainland China ophthalmic
business (Continued)

Mainland China ophthalmic business — Xinan
Hospital

The recoverable amount of the Xinan Hospital's
CGU was calculated based on VIU. Such calculations
use pre-tax cash flow projections based on financial
budget approved by management covering a five-year
period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are
extrapolated using the estimated compound revenue
growth for 5 years of 5.5%, terminal revenue growth
rates of 2.0% and pre-tax discount rates of 16.5%,
respectively.

Based on the result of the impairment assessment
performed, the recoverable amounts of Xinan
Hospital's CGU exceeded its carrying amounts. As
a result, no provision for impairment loss on Xinan
Hospital's CGU is required.

The recoverable amount of Xinan Hospital's CGU
would be lower than their carrying amounts if there
is a decrease in compound revenue annual growth
rates by more than 0.2% or an increase in pre-tax
discount rates by more than 2.0%, all changes taken
in isolation.

Accounting policies of property, plant and
equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part
is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance
are charged to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income during the financial period in
which they are incurred.

R MR

13 W% BERSZE®

(a)

(b)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eI mRMEE

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
(b) Accounting policies of property, plant and

equipment (Continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their cost to their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, as follows:

Buildings 20-40 years

Medical equipment 3-10 years

Leasehold improvements  Shorter of remaining
lease term or estimated
useful life of 5 years

Office furniture and 3-5 years
fixtures

Computer equipment 3-5 years

Motor vehicles 4-5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount (Note 16 (d)(iv)).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with the carrying amount and are
recognised within “other gains/(losses), net” in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Construction-in-progress represents buildings under
construction and machineries and equipment under
installation, which is stated at historical cost less
accumulated impairment losses, if any. No provision
for depreciation is made on construction-in-progress
until such time as the relevant assets are completed
and ready for intended use. When the assets
concerned are ready for use, the costs are transferred
to property, plant and equipment and depreciated in
accordance with the policy as stated above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBmRMETE
14 LEASES 14 HE
This note provides information for leases where the Group is UEB S &5 B AR R E R R AT AR
a lessee. S HERER

(a) Amounts recognised in the consolidated

statement of financial position

The consolidated statement of financial position shows
the following balances relating to the leases:

() REEMBRRKREANE
#
REMBRREBRAT A
HEmME

As at 31 December

MW12A31H
2024 2023
2024 2023 %
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE
Properties ES 301,501 304,848
Land use right T R 266,081 286,419
Medical equipment BERE - 34
567,582 591,301
Lease liabilities HEEE
Current T ED 102,441 107,196
Non-current ERB 286,266 232,657
388,707 339,853

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year
ended 31 December 2024 amounted to approximately
HK$212,222,000 (2023: HK$111,062,000),
representing the lease of clinics, hospitals, office
premises, staff quarters and medical equipment.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount (Note 16(d)(iv)).

Details on the impairment assessments are disclosed in
Note 13(a) and Note 16(a).

An impairment provision on right-of-use assets of
HK$57,565,000 was recognised during the year ended
31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBmRMET
14 LEASES (Continued) 14 HE®
(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (b) RFEE2EBVAXREINE
statement of comprehensive income L

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income FERERARBETRATEHR
shows the following amounts relating to the leases: MERFIA

Year ended 31 December
HE12A31BLLEE
2024 2023

2024 5 20234
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FETT

Depreciation charge of right-of-use TRAREENEEZR

assets (Note 8) (FfzE8) 140,057 141,481
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets {5 Fi #& & & 5 (B &5 18

(Note 8) (FzE8) 57,565 -
Expenses relating to short-term leases E25ZHAFA &AM X

(Note 8) (FffE8) 10,430 4,563

Interest expense (Note 10) FERZ (FF3E10) 19,524 16,712
Gains/(losses) on early termination of  FZRTAR IEFHA Y M zs

leases (Note 7) (E518) (FF3E7) 2,360 (1,373)
Depreciation expense charged in the consolidated REGE2ERARMBOITE
statement of comprehensive income is as follows: BRSNOT -

Year ended 31 December
HE12A31BLLEE

2024 2023

2024 & 20234

HK$000 HK$°000

FET FET

Cost of revenue SHE KA 85,810 88,150
Administrative expenses TEFAX 54,247 53,331
140,057 141,481

HZE2024%F 1283180 1E5F
E-AEMBESRHAEN R
146,622,000 7t (2023 4 :
152,583,000 7T) ©

The total cash outflow for leases in the year ended
31 December 2024 amounted to approximately
HK$146,622,000 (2023: HK$152,583,000).

HZ22024F12HA31HIEF
B - FEREEERBEBES

For the year ended 31 December 2024, impairment
loss on right-of-use assets amounted to
HK$57,565,000 (2023: Nil), of which HK$17,758,000 57,565,000 % 7T (2023 4F « #&) -
(2023: Nil) is included in cost of revenue and H 17,758,000 7T (2023 4F -
HK$39,807,000 (2023: Nil) is included in impairment ) 5T A 85 & BN 0 39,807,000
loss on non-current assets presented separately in the BT (20234 : &) B 5t ARER
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. EEMBARABLEYHIE

MEVEERERR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

14 LEASES (Continued)

(c) The Group’s leasing activities and how these
are accounted for

The Group leases various properties including clinics,
hospitals, office premises, staff quarters and medical
equipment. The lease terms are between one to ten
years (2023: same), but may have extension options as
described below.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants other than the security interests in the
leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets
must not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Extension and termination options are included in a
number of property leases across the Group. These
are used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of
managing the assets used in the Group’s operations.
The majority of extension and termination options
held are exercisable only by the Group and not by the

R MR

14 HE %)

(0 FAEENHEEZBRZEE
B 0] 51 B

AEEEEZEYME (BIEZHT
B ONAEWMERETIRES
MEERE) BN T—F2
+4F (20234 : A TR~
Pt i

FAERR IR ER ELEER
BESENRGREAEHE - K
HRABENHELEETE
RiEZI  AE B I E K
TERE -HEEETSHIE
BEEENNEHRS -

AEENZEDEZHEDES
EE MR ERE - RFEE
BIANSAREMRESE R
AEEEBIREENKER
BN TR AR DT &
RIPEZEETAAKEMIE

respective lessor. HEELEATTE -
15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15 REYHE

2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
At 1 January MW1B1H 12,346 13,038
Additions nE 99,954 -
Depreciation (Note 8) WE (HiEs) (843) (335)
Currency translation differences GNEE 0 B = R (2,280) (357)
At 31 December M12H831H 109,177 12,346

Depreciation of HK$843,000 (2023: HK$335,000) is
included in the administrative expenses in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

843,000 st #T & (20234 : 335,000
BIL) AT A A EERARNITRAS °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBmRMET
16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16 B|EEE
The net book value of the Group’s intangible assets is AEERTEENREFESTNOT

analysed as follow:

Others
Goodwill Brand name (Note) Total
[5E S mEEE Ht (fEE) o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TET TET TFET FET
At 1 January 2023 R2023F181H
Cost PR 540,684 271,513 15,571 827,768
Accumulated amortisation EHE: £ - - (6,375) (6,375)
540,684 271,513 9,196 821,393
Year ended 31 December 2023 ~ #Z2023F12A31A
tEE
Opening net book amount FOREFE 540,684 271,513 9,196 821,393
Additions NE - - 371 371
Write-off ik - - (342) (342)
Amortisation (Note 8) #i(HeEs) - - (1,537) (1,537)
Currency translation differences INEIRE T (10,258) (7,234) (209) (17,701)
Closing net book amount FREEFE 530,426 264,279 7,479 802,184
At 31 December 2023 M2023512A31H
Cost RN 530,426 264,279 15,148 809,853
Accumulated amortisation R - - (7,669) (7,669)
530,426 264,279 7,479 802,184
Year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024%F12A31H
HEE
Opening net book amount FORBFE 530,426 264,279 7,479 802,184
Additions NE 274 - 651 925
Disposal e - - (121) (121)
Amortisation (Note 8) B (H5Es) - - (1,438) (1,438)
Impairment (Note 8) A (FEE8) (77,940) - (1,931) (79,871)
Currency translation differences IEBMEESR (12,652) (8,922) (201) (21,775)
Closing net book amount FRERFE 440,108 255,357 4,439 699,904
At 31 December 2024 W2024%12A31R8
Cost X 7R 518,048 255,357 15171 788,576
Accumulated amortisation and Rt EE LA
impairment (77,940) - (10,732) (88,672)
440,108 255,357 4,439 699,904
Note: Other intangible assets mainly represent computer software. Mer HiEREAEEZIEEMES -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Amortisation expense charged in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income is as follows:

R MR

16 ﬁ Zﬁé(iﬂ

,tg
H>
-
)
b=
S
ﬁ
»
&
b3
i
i
i
il

Year ended 31 December
HE12A31BLLEE

2024 2023

2024 & 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

F T FET

Cost of revenue $HE A 672 804
Administrative expenses THHX 766 733
1,438 1,537

(a) Impairment tests for goodwill and intangible
assets with indefinite useful life

Brand name is considered to have an indefinite
useful life and is not subject to amortisation. The
carrying value of brand name with indefinite useful
life at 31 December 2024 of HK$255,357,000
(2023: HK$264,279,000) has been attributed to
Shenzhen Aikangjian Group Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen
CKJ Group”). Based on the long history of the brand,
the positive past financial information of the business
operating under the brand name and management’s
comprehensive understanding of the market,
management assessed that there is no foreseeable
limit to generate net cash inflows for the Group.

() MERERHITEAFHN
BELEERNRERH

mEHRAEEEERBAIFA
FHI R B EEH - 112024F 12
A318 ERBAFEAFEHN
o b % 78 &9 BR T {8 255,357,000
78 7T (20234 : 264,279,000 7%
T EFBRRYITERRESER
SEERAF ((FRINBERE
E]) - ERRENEERELE
B mBEETRENEBBE
RIFMBBERNRERES ™
SHAARR BEEEFNEA
AEBEBEERSRAFELE
A TE R MR o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eI mRMEE

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 16

(a) Impairment tests for goodwill and intangible
assets with indefinite useful life (Continued)

Goodwill arising from business combinations on HK
medical business and Mainland China ophthalmic
business is allocated to the following CGUs:

A% ﬁ/ ﬁ E (%4&)

(a)

B % A BR T A A Y
BREENBRENR (@

EEBEEXBERDEAMRE
EBNEBAHELNEED
REATHREELEM

As at 31 December
M®12A31H
2024 2023

2024 F 20234
HK$°000 HK$°000
TET TETT

Kunming Eye Hospital (“Kunming E AR B

Hospital”) ([ERER]) 31,068 32,153
Shanghai Group HE5HE - 66,005
Zhuhai Eye Hospital (“Zhuhai KRB ER

Hospital”) ([BRSBR)) 11,578 11,982
C-MER Eye Centre (Melbourne Plaza) &35 BREAH L (B #B77)

(“Clinic in Central”) ([PRPFT)) 19,535 19,535
CAD/CAM Restorative Dental Centre ~ CAD/CAM Restorative

Limited (“Clinic in Causeway Bay”) Dental Centre Limited

([SRsREDFr]) 12,164 12,164
Champion Eye Centre Limited ZEBRBHLERAA

(“Champion Eye”) ([ZERRM]) 35,619 35,619
The Optometry (OPT) Centre Limited %8 Yt RIERER AP LB R A A

("OPT") (MEXETEREEH ) 20,794 20,521
Shenzhen CKJ Group 557&%@1%@% 255,687 264,621
1 Worldwide Limited (“1WL") RE—RARA

(IR — sJ%J) - 14,163
Other clinics HMZ 53,663 53,663
440,108 530,426

An impairment review of the goodwill and intangible
assets with indefinite useful life arising from the
acquisition of the Group has been conducted by the
management as at each year end. For the purpose
of the impairment review, the recoverable amount
of a CGU is determined based on higher of the
FVLCOD and VIU calculations. The VIU calculations are
conducted by management using pre-tax cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a five-year period. Cash flows
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the
terminal growth rates. There were no material changes
in the methodology applied in the VIU calculations
between 2023 and 2024.
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16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(a)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Impairment tests for goodwill and intangible

assets with indefinite useful life (Continued)

The following table sets out the key assumptions for
VIU calculations:

Compound revenue
growth for 5 years
Terminal revenue growth
rates

Average gross profit
margin
over 5 years

SENEEA
ERE
REMERRE

SEFHENE

Compound EBITDA growth 5 EBIDAEA

for 5 years
Pre-tax discount rates

253
L

Zhuhai
Hospital

KEER

6.0%

20%

393%

17.6%
17.0%

Clinic
in Central

hRD A

3.0%

25%

206%

3.0%
13.5%

Kunming
Hospital

ERER

6.4%

20%

33.9%

B4%
17.0%

Shanghai
Group

LE5E

5.0%

20%

137%

-144%
15.0%

R MR

16 BEEE®)
(a) BERERPUFEHFEHN
BEEENRERNR (@)
TEEIFERHEESHENTE

R

2024
WUE
Clinicin Shenzhen

Causeway  Champion (K Other
Bay Eye 0PT Group WL Clinics
aEe fXB  RERE
P EERE  BEM 58 LU

3.0% 3.0% 6.0% 55% 30%  3.0%-6.6%

25% 25% 25% 20% 25% 25%

39.0% 114% 49.7% 40.4% -29.5% 17.2%-46.6%

25% 13% 11.0% 100%  -1285% 1.7%-239.7%
135% 135% 135% 175% 17.5% 13.5%

Compound revene growth
for 5 years

Terminal revenue growth
rates

Average gross proft margin
over 5 years

Compound EBITDA growth
for 5 years

Pre-{ax discount rates

FNEERE
SETLETE
SEBMARS

a5
RikRs

Thuhai
Hospial

200%

5%

5%

38.0%
16.5%

Clinic
in Central

30%

5%

206%

1%
135%

Kunming
Hospital

18.0%

5%

260%

69.8%
16.5%

Shanghai

_’é%

BT%

15%

3.0%

2803%
170%

03

N3%
Clinicin~— Champion Shenzhen CKJ Other
Group WL Clinics

Causeway Bay fye

30% 30% 109% 84% 85%  30%-25.1%

25% 25% 25% 25% 25% 25%

0% 11.5% 400% 400% 138% 138%-36.8%

24% 41% 10.6% 94% NT% 03%-2331%
135% 135% 135% 175% 135% 135%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBmRMET
16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 16 B|BEEE®W
(a) Impairment tests for goodwill and intangible () BERERHAUFEAFTFHH

assets with indefinite useful life (Continued) BREENRENR (@)
Management determines growth rates of revenue, ERERBBAARER  HEMES
gross profit margin and EBITDA based on past BERATEHR RS E A EE M
performance with its expectations for the market BEANBEANEERBEERERE
development and the gross domestic product growth Wasig R & %%‘J?&EBITDA °
of each province in Mainland China and Hong Kong. Fir A3 |9 L 28 3= &8 B0 Al AL 3R X
The discount rates used is pre-tax and reflects specific e ik BRI & B 4 B AL A B R %
risks relating to the CGUs. The terminal growth rates R e RIEE B IRA KR
applied beyond the budget period is estimated based HIEREXDNIRIBHECEE SN
on current capacity of the CGUs and leveraged the BERMENRBREECEBTE
management experiences in the industry. In 2024, NV ERE R 5T < 722024 5 -
shortfalls existed in the actual results against the AEBERBLRESLAE -
forecasts in 2023 for some of the CGUs, in particular TEBFBUREBBEEBER
(i) the Shanghai Group in the segment of Mainland B B BReELEBUNE
China ophthalmic business due to slower than R AE BI 0023 F TEOBI IR A =
expected business development, fierce competition () CHERFBEAMRRERE DI
in the industry and overall weakening of consumer N EBEBENREEEEM
sentiment and (ii) TWL in the segment of Hong RiBBBEEBANNIRIK—
Kong medical business due to performance under % AR IR N 1A TE B A0 FF 4B
expectation and continuing loss making. In addition, B8 o o - BN BB ERER
for Hong Kong medical business, TWL has been fﬁfﬂ?—%ﬁ’ﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁ@i‘ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ
performed below expectation and continued to make BEE B BEEBRREN
loss. Therefore, management critically reassessed the S520244 12 A31 BWEAE
key assumptions applied in the VIU calculations as at B EEANTR2RE -8
31 December 2024 and resulted in lower VIU than BB ELEBEMNMERE
2023 for some CGUs. @r 2023 F R ©
The recoverable amounts of each of the CGUs are 2024 F K% 202312 A318 -
estimated as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 as EREEEEMHAIKE 5
follows: fHETaT

2024
pTES
Zhuhai Clinic ~ Kunming  Shanghai Clinicin~ Champion Shenzhen CK)

Hospital ~in Central Hospital Group Causeway Bay Fye 0P7 Group WL Other Clincs
KERE  tRYF  BMBR  LEEE  BREDF  ZERN RAURRNO MIEEESE  RR-F  EMDK
HKS 900 HKS000 HKS'000 HKS000 HKs000 HKs000 HKs000 HKs000 HKS 000 HKS o0

74 74 74 74 A% iz #7 73 FAL FAL
Recoverable amount ThEEE 44915 2393 57,060 5701 40,175 105,037 5216 1003578 - 4524330883
Headroom BE 3,026 5,0% 9783 - 12,69 32,648 515 165,469 - 1233219531
Impaiment W - - - (s0) - - - - (150 -

03
N3E
Zhuhai Clinic Kunming Shanghai Clinicin— Champion Shenzhen CKJ

Hospital ~ in Central Hosprtal ! WL

Recoverable amount qhEsE 67,335 26,905 944 134673 443 120630 81,469 922440 2983 4193-201577
Headroom e 18724 6,101 39210 15,187 0812 66,600 251 12761 10,655 1047157735
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(a)

Impairment tests for goodwill and intangible
assets with indefinite useful life (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, Shanghai Group in the
segment of Mainland China ophthalmic business
has goodwill, property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and other intangible assets totalling
HK$63,777,000, HK$10,666,000, HK$28,837,000
and HK$628,000 respectively, subject to impairment
assessment. The recoverable amount of Shanghai
Group is determined with reference to its FVLCOD
after taking into consideration its VIU calculation. It
mainly represents the fair value of property, plant
and equipment based on management’s estimates
derived from the price from prior transactions without
adjustment within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
The impairment test show that the recoverable amount
of Shanghai Group CGU of HK$5,701,000 is less than
its carrying amount. As a result, an impairment of
goodwill, property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
asset and other intangible assets of HK$63,777,000,
HK$4,965,000, HK$28,837,000 and HK$628,000,
respectively have been charged to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

As at 31 December 2024, the recoverable amount
of CGU in TWL in the segment of HK medical
business is determined using the VIU calculation
derived from discounted future cash flow forecasts
prepared by management. As a result of the change
in operating environment, the business of the
oncology centre was at a loss and underperforming
in 2024 with a downward trend of revenue and no
sign of improvement. The impairment test show
that the recoverable amount is less than the carrying
amount of the CGU. As a result, an impairment of
HK$14,163,000 and HK$865,000 have been charged
to the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income to TWL CGU’s goodwill and right-of-use
assets, respectively.

R MR

16 BEEE®)

(a)

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

B % A BR T A A Y
BREENBRENR (@

MR2024F 12 A431H A ERA
HWIRBIEBSHRNN EEEE
WEE M WERERRE -
FTRAREEREMEREE
Bt B A63,777,0008 It
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FE) MAE R B EET o RERIR
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BITERERBE Fit®
2 -ME - BERZHB FH
BEEREMBREENRA
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JT 28,837,000 7T & 628,000
B EARREGEEEEEKA
FHHB -

R2024F 12 A31 8 HEEE
EBHBAMNERIK—FHRS
EEBMNMNAKEBSEBERAE
BEEREMNEMIBRRRES T
EEAGENEREBEFEE
F-BARKEERENE ER
RO EBE20245F B EE
RETE WAZTRBE A
RBERENTR - BEBEE
TReELEBENMAKRESE
ERERMAE - Fit - IRER—5%
MESEEBMHEERER
& R (14,163,000 7T &
865,000/ LE N RIRGAEE
WA FKFHB -
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eI mRMEE

16

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Impairment tests for goodwill and intangible
assets with indefinite useful life (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2024, impairment
loss on goodwill amounted to HK$77,940,000 (2023:
Nil) is included in impairment loss on non-current
assets presented separately in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

Impact of possible changes in key assumptions
for CGUs not subject to impairment provision

The recoverable amount of Zhuhai Hospital, Kunming
Hospital and Shenzhen CKJ CGU would be lower than
their carrying amounts if the key assumptions were to
change as follows:

. For the Zhuhai Hospital CGU, a decrease in
compound revenue annual growth rates by more
than 0.2% or an increase in pre-tax discount
rates by more than 1.3%, all changes taken in
isolation.

o For the Kunming Hospital CGU, a decrease
in compound revenue annual growth rates
by more than 0.5% or an increase in pre-tax
discount rates by more than 3.0%, all changes
taken in isolation.

o For the Shenzhen CKJ Group CGU, a decrease
in compound revenue annual growth rates
by more than 1.2% or an increase in pre-tax
discount rates by more than 3.2%, all changes
taken in isolation.

For the remaining CGUs, management had not
identified any reasonably possible change in key
assumptions that could cause carrying amounts of
the above CGUs (or groups of CGUs) to exceed the
recoverable amounts.

FHREBRERERAA

16

/\\\ﬁ/ﬁg (#&)
(a) FEBRERMAUEAFHN
BREENRENR (&)

(b)

HE2024F 12 A31HIEFE -
8 2 5 1B &5 18 & 77,940,000 78
TL (20234 - ) Bt AGZRE R
HRARABILZYHIERE
BEEMEERE -

HAGFRBENREELE
NEBBRRITESBHZE

MR R AR A A T8 - Ik
B  RHEBER RARIEE
R EEAEEMPATIKE 5B
HHE R HAREE -

¢ RREBRRGELEM
ME - HARAFERS
TR B3.0.2% BB 86

E FFIBIB13%  FiA %
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mE BEWAFIERERK
TE#BIB0.5% S FE A AL IR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Impairment assessment on other intangible
assets

Details on the impairment assessments are disclosed in
Note 13(a) and Note 16(a).

For the year ended 31 December 2024, impairment
loss on other intangible assets amounted to
HK$1,931,000 (2023: Nil),of which HK$371,000 is
included in cost of revenue and HK$1,560,000 is
included in impairment loss on non-current assets
presented separately in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Accounting policies of intangible assets
(i) Goodwill

Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is
included in intangible assets. Goodwill is
not amortised but it is tested for impairment
annually, or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that it might be
impaired, and is carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. Gains and losses on the
disposal of an entity include the carrying amount
of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to CGUs for the purpose
of impairment testing. The allocation is made to
those CGUs or groups of CGUs that are expected
to benefit from the business combination in
which the goodwill arose. The units or groups of
units are identified at the lowest level at which
goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes, being the operating segments.

R MR

16 BEEE®)

(c)

(d)

H i E & E R E RS

ERRETENFEBREE
13(a) KB 5¥ 16(a) P I EE ©

HE2024% 12 A31HILFEE -
EmEREEEMNREBEA
1,931,000 7T (2023 : &) -
H fF 371,000 7T 51 A 5 & K
2K - 11,560,000 TTEF AR A
EEBARABILEFOIER
BB ERMEEIE -

BREENSTEE

(i) B#E
WHEMHE AR WEETA
BYRE -BmESTHE

HEFETRERNR =X
EBEEMFHRNBERAE
BURF BE LR ER - F
HE SRR, AWIRAAR
B REREE R -
EERNBESEEMD
EERAHNEEREE -

BREANEME  mES
RKEReELEU-FHA
DEDHEHBKELER
BNEBEMTESRNR
TELAEUNRCELE
fLABRIMEH - X BBk
BRI AR E R B
MMREREENRIEE
RERI (B ZEDER) »
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eI mRMEE

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(d) Accounting policies of intangible assets
(Continued)

(i)

(iii)

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

Brand name

Brand name acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and
are initially recognised at their fair value at the
acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, brand name
acquired in a business combination with
indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Brand name is derecognised on disposal, or
when no future economic benefits are expected
from use or disposal. Gains and losses arising
from derecognition of a brand name, measured
as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset,
are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets mainly comprise acquired
computer software. Acquired computer
software licenses are capitalised on the basis
of the costs incurred to acquire and bring the
specific software into usage. These costs are
amortised using the straight-line method over
their estimated useful lives of 5 to 10 years. Cost
associated with maintaining computer software
programmes are recognised as an expense as
incurred.

FHREBRERERAA

16 BEEE @
(0 EAMEPEEBERNME )

(i)

(iii)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MR

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 16 BEEE @)
(d) Accounting policies of intangible assets () HtEEEENBETMS (@)
(Continued)
(iv) Impairment on non-financial assets (iv) ¥t@HEEHE

Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite
useful life are not subject to amortisation and
are tested annually for impairment, or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that they might be impaired. Other
assets are tested for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount

B R 4 R 28 T 45 R 45 B
KT A BE N - (B
BEEETREMNR - &
HAEHRIEREHET
E A 4R - BT AT
BRI, - A
REEHRIEREDET
B T 18 1 B 48 % 1 5 3
TRERR - R EERR

by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its EEFREEBLEETRE
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount SR AR A
is the higher of an asset’s FVLCOD and VIU. For CHEAEEZ AFERD
the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are EXARFERAEBEMRE T

grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash inflows which are
largely independent of the cash inflows from
other assets or groups of assets (CGUs). Non-
financial assets other than goodwill that suffered
an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal
of the impairment at the end of each reporting
period.

Z8EE - R HRER -
BERANEE LBURNE
fEEXEEMAMNNR S
MACREEEEMN) A
B AR RERANRE
BRHHE -FREEIN B
FHRENFFERMEEL
EREMRIBEET A
BEREETTIRET ©

INVENTORIES 17 RFE
As at 31 December
R12A831H
2024 2023
2024 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Pharmaceuticals and medical consumables %% [z 52 & 3% 47 30,286 22,668
Vision aid products B OEBE SR 16,959 16,181
47,245 38,849
The cost of inventories and consumables recognised as HZE2024F12A31BEFE BR
expense and included in cost of revenue amounted to REBAAFHEXNEINFE RFEM
approximately HK$344,204,000 (2023: HK$395,133,000) X AR 49 /5 344,204,000 7% 7T (2023 £
for the year ended 31 December 2024. 395,133,000/ 70) °
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mEMKRRME
18 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORIES 18 BRERHESTHERMTIA
As at 31 December
MW12831H
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
HKS$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
Financial assets at amortised cost SRR BR Y
— Trade receivables — & Sl FIE 57,763 53,371
— Deposits and other receivables *Tﬁéﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ 61,968 57,834
— Amounts due from associates — JE Ui B 5 N B FROB 5,221 5,077
— Cash and cash equivalents —Re ke wf,ﬁ% 423,083 512,762
— Short-term deposits — R HTE 28,976 32,908
Financial assets at FVOCI BEAFEFAEMEZA
WA S RLE E 183,708 83,665
Financial assets at FVPL BERFEFABRRZD
TREE
— Listed equity investment — ETRAEE 15,192 11,748
— Contingent consideration receivables — YA RAE 9,836 12,610
785,747 769,975
Financial liabilities at amortised cost WA BREY
TRARE
— Trade payables —B S EMNHIA 55,810 54,916
— Accruals and other payables —EEEA &E?ﬂ
JE A 3R 133,508 134,077
— Amounts due to non-controlling — e IEE HXT =K
interests 4,440 3,331
— Amounts due to related party — FE A 7 IR 7,701 -
— Loans from non-controlling interests —IEFERRE R B K 19,922 21,412
— Borrowings — & 29,162 1,725
— Lease liabilities —-HEBE 388,707 339,853
Financial liabilities at FVPL BATFEGTAEBERN
TRAR
— Contingent consideration payables —ENSARE 2,594 -
641,844 555,314
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19 TRADE RECEIVABLES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MR

19 BESEWKE

As at 31 December
M®12831H

2024

2024 F
HK$’000

2023
2023
HK$'000

Trade receivables g 5 WA

FET

57,763 53,371

The carrying amounts of trade receivables approximate their
fair values.

The trade receivables are due when services are rendered
and goods are sold. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023,
the ageing analysis of the trade receivables based on invoice
date was as follows:

"

2 5 EWGRIA M AR E A EE A F(ER

BZEBGERREEREMEEEY
W5 B & B B e 5 o 722024 F 122023
F12A31H BEZRRRFREBEEE
HERERE D AT T

As at 31 December

MR12831H
2024 2023
2024 & 2023 F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
0-90 days 0Z90H 38,132 31,947
91-180 days 91%& 180 H 4,882 9,376
Over 180 days i 180 H 14,749 12,048
57,763 53,371

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. Details in
determining the loss allowance are set out in Note 3.1(b).

As at 31 December 2024, all the trade receivables balances
were not impaired (2023: same). These relate to a number
of independent clients, commercial companies and local
government to which no credit terms were granted.

AEERAEEVHREEDFE IR
BEIDAFERYEERE  RAE
B 5 RUGRIAR A= HEHEERE -
EEERBRENFRENME3 D) -

R2024F12A31H FTEE S EIK
BRI ARB(E (2023 4F - AHRA)
ZEEBBETEERTEERNZ S
BYEF BEAQRNMMAIBNEE -
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REMBRRME

19 TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 19 ESEWRKIE@
The carrying amounts of trade receivables are denominated B HRWRIBNREENIENUNTEE
in the following currencies: FTE -

As at 31 December

R12A31H
2024 2023
2024 2023 F
HK$°000 HK$ 000
FET FAET
HK$ BT 44,930 38,225
RMB AR 12,833 15,146
57,763 53,371
20 DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 20 BT AAREREMERK
RECEIVABLES 18
As at 31 December
M®12H831H
2024 2023
2024 5 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FAET
Non-current JERNER
Prepayments for property, plant and ME - BB RFETER
equipment FKIE 34,155 7,462
Prepayments for employee 1B BmEENRIE
compensation 2,014 2,644
Rental deposits Heke 26,200 23,496
Contingent consideration receivables FE Wk AR B (BHEEG))
(Note (i) 569 4,404
Others H At 6,459 -
69,397 38,006
Current BDHA
Prepayments for inventories EREENIE 4,693 3,123
Prepayments for rental expenses ENEEEA 718 1,907
Prepayments for operating expenses BNEEER 16,071 15,717
Prepayments for employee BB WMEENE
compensation 705 2,130
Rental and other deposits HekHtiZe 21,669 25,559
Contingent consideration receivables FEW Sk AR E (B EEG))
(Note (i) 9,267 8,206
Others H At 7,640 8,778
R 60,763 | 65,420
Total deposits, prepayments and other e BRRIEREM
receivables FEUWGRIEA & 130,160 103,426

174 C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

20 DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Note:

(0

Contingent consideration receivable mainly represents the
profit guarantee given by the counterparties to the Group
in relation to the acquisition of subsidiaries in prior years.
Contingent consideration receivables have been designated
as financial assets at FVPL upon initial recognition and are
measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period.
The movement of the fair value of contingent consideration
receivables is disclosed in Note 3.3(b).

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreements (“the
SPAs”) in relation to the acquisition of subsidiaries, the
counterparties have given guarantees to the Group that
the audited net profit/annual qualified revenue/profit as
defined in respective agreements (“Guaranteed Sum”) in
the specified period (“Guaranteed Period”) would be not
less than a specified amount for each of the corresponding
guaranteed period (“Profit Guarantee”).

If the Profit Guarantee is not fulfilled for the corresponding
period/year, the counterparties shall compensate the Group
in accordance with the terms of the agreements.

The fair value of the contingent consideration receivable
is determined based on the forecast prepared by the
management, by using the discounted cash flow approach
and a gain arising in fair value change of approximately
HK$226,000 (2023: HK$12,610,000) was recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

The carrying amounts of deposits and other receivables
approximate their fair values.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is
the fair value of each class of receivable mentioned above.
The Group does not hold collateral as security.

20
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e B RMTE

20 DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 20 #®E - BEARERHEAMERK
RECEIVABLES (Continued) " (&)
The carrying amounts of the deposits, prepayments &~ AR IR K& H M8 W IE R BR
and other receivables are denominated in the following HETIRATE®EEE -
currencies:

As at 31 December

R12A831H
2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAETT FET
HK$ BT 46,685 48,597
RMB AR 83,475 54,829
130,160 103,426
Except for contingent consideration receivables, other PrIE M S AR ABHN - E M E Y FRIE )
receivables are recognised initially at fair values and FURFEER  HEHBERF X
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective SRR ARG R o

interest method.

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND SHORT- 21 BEeRBESEEYREHERT

TERM BANK DEPOSITS (2

Cash and cash equivalents represent cash and short-term RekReEEWERINBALS=E
bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or ASA TR & REHRITHER -
less.

As at 31 December

MW12A31H

2024 2023

2024 F 2023 %

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Cash at banks (Note (7)) R17IR & (MTEEG)) 206,378 241,791

Cash on hand FHEES 1,980 2,015
Short-term bank deposits with maturities R 2|81 H 318 5 LA &)

of less than three months (Note (ii)) %G BRSR 1717 3% (BT Gi)) 214,725 268,956

Cash and cash equivalents RekReFEED 423,083 512,762
Short-term bank deposits with maturities RZ|E A RE 318 A K

of more than three months (Note (iii)) 52 HA R 7717 3% (B 5 (i) 28,976 32,908

452,059 545,670
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND SHORT-
TERM BANK DEPOSITS (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents and short-term bank deposits are
denominated in the following currencies:

R MR

21 BEeRBESEEYREHERT
ERu
He RBESEEYREHRTERD
BT EHE -

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$000
FETT FET
us$ ETT 203,920 236,756
HK$ BT 124,803 90,189
RMB AREE 123,260 218,644
Others Hith 76 81
452,059 545,670

Notes: I3 -

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Cash at banks generates interest at prevailing market interest
rates ranging from 0.10% to 0.36% (2023: 0.01% to 0.30%)
per annum as at the year ended 31 December 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, the effective interest rate per
annum on short-term bank deposits with maturities of less
than three months was 4.11% (2023: 4.74%).

As at 31 December 2024, the effective interest rate per
annum on short-term bank deposits with maturities of more
than three months was 3.91% (2023: 5.02%).

Cash and cash equivalents of HK$123,111,000 (2023:
HK$214,751,000) were held in Mainland China as at 31
December 2024 and were subject to local exchange control
regulations. Those local exchange control regulations provide
for restrictions on exporting capital from the country, other
than through normal dividends.

() RWITBESNEZE2024F 12 A 31
BEFEEANFNEDENT
0.10% £ 0.36% (20234 : 0.01% =
0.30%) BV iBIT IS EREFTE -

(i)  F2024F12831H  REHA3ME
BUTHEHBRTFERNEEREFR
RHA11% (20234 : 4.74%) °

(i) F2024F 128318 RENEHAEB
BIEAMBEEHRTERNERF
& 3.91% (20234 : 5.02%)

(iv)  R2024F12 A31 BERENMIEE
MIRe RASEEYR123,111,000
7T (20234 : 214,751,00058 7T) °
ZEFIBXEHINEE SERBRR o
ZEEHWINEE T ERE P EHE
& S MABR S - MELEF D ALBRIN ©

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 ==& F3f

177



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eI mRMEE

22 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 22 RAFEFAHMEZEHBAN

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME THEE
Financial assets at FVOCI represent unlisted equity BEAFEFAEMEZEARANERE
investments which are denominated in HK$ and US$. These EE LB T RETFHERNIE LMK
are strategic investments which are not held for trading and WE - ZERBERRBURE W I
the Group considers this classification to be more relevant. BEEE MAEBERABLSBERA
Its fair value is analysed as follow: 1B - ERFES AT
HK$000
FAET
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1H81H 74,167
Addition NE 9,454
Change in fair value NEEES 44
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 A2023F12A318K%20245181H8 83,665
Addition wNE 13,995
Disposal & (49,339)
Change in fair value RNEEES 135,386
At 31 December 2024 M2024%12A31H 183,708
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22 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)

Nature of financial instruments:

Company name

LAER

Avalon Global Holdings Limited
("Avalon”)

Avalon Global Holdings Limited
(IAvalon])

BELKIN Vision Ltd. ("Belkin")

BELKIN Vision Ltd. ([ Belkin )

Health Hope Pharma Limited
("Health Hope Pharma”)

e

Place of incorporation/
establishment and
kind of legal entity
EMRL/ RLBER

LRREER

British Virgin Islands

RERARS

Israel

A3

Hong Kong

FEBREARLA(HEBR]) Th

Particulars of

issued share capital/
registered capital
BRITRE/
R

129,654,053
ordinary shares of
no par value

129,654,053 5%
REEOTER

930,923

ordinary shares of
NIS 0.01 each;
3,897,845

preferred shares of
NIS 0.01 each
BREE0.01
MBRBN
930,923 R & #f :
BRAEE0.01

#h B1803,807,845
RELR

11,000,000

ordinary shares of
HK$62,046,838; and
2,241,003 ordinary
shares of
US$12,224,641
62,046,838 B LAY
11,000,000 & B :
212,224,641 £ TTH)
2,241,003 RE @R

R MR

22 BAFEFTAHMEZEBAN
EWMEE®
SR T AME

Effective interest
held by the
Group directly
RAR
BREL

2024
2024 %

2023
20235

4.0% 4.0%
- 10.7%
24.0% 30.0%

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Principal activities/
place of operation
TN/

Development of next generation
healthcare solutions across biopharma,
diagnostics, medical devices and other
area of healthcare, Hong Kong

RREENHE D8 BREEWR
AnBEREEHAET -REE
REBANF B

Development of automated one-second
glaucoma laser treatment, Israel

REBBRYERRARE A
=

Development of innovative drug projects
in ophthalmology and oncology, Hong
Kong

ERRMLERMAN BN EINE
B

—EomEER
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eI mRMEE

22 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 22 RAFEFAHMEZEHBAN

180

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)

On 6 July 2023, the Group entered into an investment
agreement with Dr. Dennis LAM to set up a limited liability
company incorporated in Hong Kong, namely Health Hope
Pharma Limited. The Group is committed to subscribe for
a total of 3,000 ordinary shares of Health Hope Pharma,
settled by way of cash injection of HK$3,000 and additional
capital injection up to US$2,000,000 (approximately
HK$15,699,000), when such capital needs arise in the
course of Health Hope Pharma’s business. As at 31
December 2023, the Group has completed the subscription
by injecting HK$3,000 and US$1,212,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$9,451,000) to Health Hope Pharma.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
further injected approximately US$788,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$6,248,000) to Health Hope Pharma
pursuant to the investment agreement.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, Health Hope
Pharma has resolved a 1000-for-1 share splits to subdivide
each existing issued share into a thousand subdivided shares.
The number of shares in Health Hope Pharma became
10,000,000. After the share split, Health Hope Pharma
allotted and issued 1,000,000 shares and the shareholding
of the Group was diluted to 27.3%.

On 31 December 2024, as one of the participants in
Health Hope Pharma’s series A financing round, the Group
entered into a subscription agreement with Health Hope
Pharma, under which Health Hope Pharma allotted and
issued 183,318 shares and 2,057,685 shares to the Group
and other investors, respectively, at a per share issue price
of US$5.455 (equivalent to approximately HK$42.5).
After completion of the above allotment of shares, the
shareholding of the Group was diluted to 24%. As at
31 December 2024, the investment amount of US$1
million by the Group has not been settled and was settled
subsequently in January 2025.

For further details about the fair value estimate and
movement of the financial assets at fair value, please refer
to Note 3.3.

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED FHHEEHFIZERERA A

SREE W

MR2023F7A6H - A& F K E
BATTUIRERE KL —HREE
AR MERAR - A EELS
RAE - ANEBEFABRARES 3,000
AR s T Bt WA S EELEE
BBREPHBEESTRE  UREF
& 3,000/% 7T & 3B hi = # 2,000,000
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MR

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 23 BAVEFAEZNEREE

PROFIT OR LOSS

Financial assets mandatorily measured at financial assets at
FVPL include the following:

Current assets mENE E
Hong Kong listed equity securities BB ETRAE 5

BHRAFEFABRSNESREER
ETA&IA

As at 31 December
M®12H31H
2024 2023

2024 F 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT F#T

15,192 11,748

During the year, the following losses were recognised in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income:

Gains/(losses) on financial assets at FVPL R A FEzF AR

THFEABERGES 2EBRARER

Year ended 31 December
HZ12A31BLEE
2024 2023

2024 F 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAETT

(Note 7) RMEEWZ (E8)

(MF3E7)

3,444 (10,736)

Details of the key assumptions and inputs used in the fair
value measurements are disclosed in the table in Note 3.3.

AFEAFEEANEIZRELBAE
FHIEMERAME33ME -
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REMBmRMET
24 SHARE CAPITAL AND TREASURY SHARES 24 BRAEREFRSG
(a) Share capital (@) B=K
Number of Nominal value
ordinary of ordinary
shares shares
EEREE EEREE
‘000 HK$000
FKR FHET
Authorised: EE
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, R2023F1818 -
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 2023%12A318 -
202451818 K
2024128310 8,000,000 800,000
Issued and paid: ERIRER:
At 1 January 2023 R2023F181H 1,266,559 126,656
Cancellation of shares (Note (i)) SR (EE ) (10,998) (1,100)
At 31 December 2023, 1 January 2024 and R2023F 128318
31 December 2024 20241818 K
2024% 128310 1,255,561 125,556

Note: ffsE -

(i) On 12 December 2023, the Company cancelled a (i) R2023F 1281280 AR
total of 10,998,000 shares that were repurchased on- AlFE 8 A 2023F 97 - 10 A
market in September, October and November 2023. M1 AEMS LERNE H
The cancellation resulted in a decrease of share capital 10,998,000 &A% 17 © T B 5K
and share premium by approximately HK$1,100,000 IR AR R B 5 5 (B 5 Bl 2 49
and HK$40,531,000, respectively. 1,100,000 7% 7T % 40,531,000

BT o

(b) Treasury shares (b) EERG
Number of Aggregate
ordinary shares price paid
ZTERHE ZEREE
‘000 HK$000
Fiz FET
At 1 January 2023 A2023F181H 7,174 29,927
Shares repurchased B R 5 15,420 58,294
Cancellation of shares (Note 24(a)(i)) LR (B 5 24(a))) (10,998) (41,631)

At 31 December 2023 and M2023F 128318 K

1 January 2024 20241 H1H 11,596 46,590
Shares repurchased 2 E R GH 23,512 59,140
Shares vested (Note 27) BB G, (MFE27) (80) (244)
At 31 December 2024 72024912 831H 35,028 105,486
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REMBmRMETE
24 SHARE CAPITAL AND TREASURY SHARES 24 BRAERBEFRD (5

(Continued)

(b) Treasury shares (b) EEFERMT ()
During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, HE2024F %2023F 12 31 HIEF
the Company repurchased its own ordinary shares & RARRIEERFERBA R ARG R
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, both Bt EIRTEARB BB EXIMAER
directly and through the trustee of the Company’s NEEEHEEREER  FFBEOT

share award scheme, as follows:

Lowest Highest
Number price paid price paid Aggregate
Month/Year of shares per share per share  price paid
28R B8R

A/ F6 R BE BIEE BEE CEBfN#E
‘000 HK$ HK$ HK$'000
TR BT BT T

Year ended HZ2024%12 A

31 December 2024 B1ALEE

January 2024 2024F 1 A 1,590 2.80 3.43 4,842
February 2024 2024F 2 A 942 2.52 2.77 2,504
March 2024 202443 A 514 2.78 2.89 1,463
April 2024 20244 4,094 2.65 3.04 11,705
May 2024 202445 A 2,686 2.93 3.26 8,282
June 2024 202456 A 1,400 2.68 3.00 3,932
July 2024 20247 R 684 2.50 2.68 1,776
August 2024 2024F 8 A 820 2.22 2.35 1,891
September 2024 202449 A 2,806 1.85 2.19 5,660
October 2024 2024410 A 1,418 2.23 2.42 3,302
November 2024 202411 A 3,678 2.00 2.36 7,961
December 2024 202412 A 2,880 1.97 2.07 5,822
23,512 59,140

Year ended BZE2023F12 8

31 December 2023 31HLEFE

January 2023 20231 A 390 5.10 5.15 2,004
May 2023 202345 A 510 3.81 3.95 1,979
September 2023 2023F9 A 6,038 3.47 3.82 22,288
October 2023 2023410 A 4,048 3.67 3.98 15,605
November 2023 2023411 A 3,264 3.59 3.98 12,391
December 2023 2023512 A 1,170 3.32 3.59 4,027
15,420 58,294
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eI mRMEE

25 STATUTORY SURPLUS RESERVE 25 EERERFEME
The balance represents statutory surplus reserve. In BRI LATERHARHE BREET
accordance with articles of association of certain subsidiaries 7 H B A R A B SZ A BT B A B Y
incorporated in Mainland China, the subsidiary is required ABEREMA - BENBRREKE
to transfer 10% of the profit after taxation prepared BB ERHEENRTEFEDN
in accordance with China accounting standards to the 10%FHEEATERES  EEHEKE
statutory reserve until the balance reaches 50% of the MR AN B 50% A 1E - % E R A
registered share capital. Such reserve can be used to reduce T HOREE A Y B 18 S AR A o
any losses incurred and to increase share capital.

26 SHARE OPTION SCHEME 26 RGO HBERBOMNK

The Company approved and adopted a share option
scheme pursuant to shareholder’s resolutions passed on
13 December 2017 (the “Share Option Scheme”). Share
options were granted under both schemes to incentify
the Company’s certain directors, senior management,
ophthalmologists, physicians, employees and consultants.

The following table discloses details of the Company’s share
options granted under the Share Option Scheme held by
eligible participants and movements in such holdings in
relation thereto during the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023:

BIE2017F12 A 13 @A KRE R
FHEART AL RMERET
B ((BRETE] - AREIRIEZM
2R BEREABES TES
BRERE RR24L BE - ES
Mg o

TEBEEREGERSEEFAENER
BEEEATHREN AR A B BREFS
AR #2024 2 2023F 12 A31 H
IEFENEBFREE :

Number of share options ‘000

EREHETH
Exercise At Granted Exercised Lapsed At
price per 1 January during during during 31 December
Grant date Expiry date share 2024 the year the year the year 2024
R2024F R20245F
REAH EwA S SR1TEE 118 ERERE  EABAE  FREXAM 124318
HKS
AT
The Share Option Scheme B R iE3T &
2 November 2021 1 November 2027 173 i) 200 - - - 200
1411428 007511718
Number of options RERTTENERE
exercisable at year end £ 200
Weighted average evercse ~ JIEF 115 E(ET) N/A N/A N/A
price (HKS) 173 TEH TER TER 173
Weighted average remaining  IIETIIH T AN
contractual life fears) (%) 1.84
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R MR

26 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 26 URHBAEBRNSR @

Number of share options ‘000
R ES A T
Exercise At Granted Exercised Lapsed At
price per 1 January during during during 31 December

Grant date Expiry date share 2023 the year the year the year 2023
20235 R2ABE
RiAH ERAS SRTEE 1A1E FRERM  ERER  FREAR 12A3NA

The Share Option Scheme ~ B R iE3T 8l

18 July 2019 16 November 2023 518 () 2,855 - - (2,855) -
201957F18H 03511168
14 September 2020 13 September 2023 634 (i) 1,140 - - (1,140) -
2020F9F14H WBEIF13A
2 November 2021 1 November 2027 173 (i) 200 - - - 200
01511 AR 07511 AR
4195 - - (3,995) 200

Number of options RERTTENERE

exercisable at year end EfE 133
Weighted average exercse ~ METHHFEE(F1) N/A N/A

price (HKS) 5.62 MR EH 551 173
Weighted average remaining TR T A HEH

contractual life fears) (%) 284
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26 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Notes:

0

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

On 18 July 2019, 6,540,000 options were granted under
the Share Option Scheme to a total of 40 grantees, which
include certain Hong Kong ophthalmologists, consultants and
an executive director.

The options were vested over periods of one to three
years. The vesting of these options to the Hong Kong
Ophthalmologists were subject to performance targets in
terms of revenue generated during the vesting periods.
No performance condition existed for the consultants, and
executive director who shall remain in their engagement,
employment or office over the vesting periods under the
service condition.

The exercise price of each option was HK$5.18. Once vested,
the options remain exercisable but not to exceed the period
of five years from the date of grant. All unexercised post-IPO
share options lapsed by the end of the exercise periods or
upon the cessation of service of the grantee.

On 14 September 2020, 1,140,000 options were granted
under the Share Option Scheme to the executive director of
the Company, Ms. LI Xiaoting.

The options were vested over one year. No performance
condition existed for the executive director who shall remain
in office over the vesting periods under the service condition.

The exercise price of each option is HK$6.34. One vested, the
options remain exercisable until three years from the date of
grant. All unexercised post-IPO share options lapsed by the
end of the exercise periods or upon the cessation of service
of the grantee.

On 2 November 2021, 200,000 options were granted under
the Share Option Scheme to the independent non-executive
director of the Company, Dr. Rex AUYEUNG Pak-Kuen.

The options were vested over periods of one to three years.
No performance condition existed for the independent non-
executive director who shall remain in office over the vesting
periods under the service condition.

The exercise price of each option is HK$7.73. One vested, the
options remain exercisable until three years from the vested
dates. All unexercised post-IPO share options will lapse by the
end of the exercise periods.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, share-based
payment expenses of approximately HK$63,000 (2023:
HK$159,000) were recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income in relation to the share options.

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED FHHEEHFIZERERA A

26 URDAEBRNTRE

Lop:

U]

(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

H4

201947 B 18 H - 1R 5 B I i =t
gmeRI0BEBEAN(BEETA
EBRBEE BEHE—ERTES)
% H 6,540,000 17 B PR FE -

ﬁ%ﬂﬂié BEMA—E=F - -BBZ
ERTAERMBENBREAR
%Eﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁ?iﬂﬁl?\ﬁ’]%%fﬁh%ﬁ

CHRERRATEZLERE
%iafl o mixEREBHNAD
BRI GRS RERBE -

B BRENITTEERSI8ET -
—ERE BRETREGLAHE
T ENEBEFH B RTT
B ERAFESRBEESRNT
EHRR RO AR AL I IRF 1R KK -

%2020¢9H 148 REBERERT
BRARRAITESTEEL LR
s, 140 000 {7 fE B # -

ﬁ%ﬂx% J;'HHF% FoHRWTE
EUEEEXRAKRT MEREE
,Hﬂl?\?/,\m};zﬂ”ﬂﬁ%ﬂ FEE-

BhERENTEERE34ETT -
—BERBE BRETREL AR
ZFRITFE -FIBERTENEBRLA
e B 5 1% BB AR R A 1T {5 HA 7R A
AR IE RIS B RFR -

2021511 A28 - BIEEREST
BMARRBILIERITEEREA
1B 5% 1 200,000 1) B BLHE o

BRERENS —Z2=F -HNE
UIEMITTERUERE XA GRS
i 18 70 B a8 B P9 7B A0 4% B8 AR 7% fiR
BiE-

BOBRENITTEERTIIET
—ERE BRERNERGLASE
ZFRTE-ABERITENERR
F 3 SR BT R IR R L

HZE2024F12A318LFE B
B8 B M MO LABR 15 B A B RO 1+ FR B
2 #4963,000% 7T (2023 4 : 159,000
BIL) N A 2 E R AKRTER
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27 SHARE AWARD SCHEME

Futu Trustee Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong
and authorised to undertake trust business in accordance
with the laws of Hong Kong, was appointed as the trustee
(the "Trustee”) for the administration of the share award
scheme (the “2022 Share Award Scheme”). The Trustee
will hold the shares on trust for the selected participants.
The Trustee and its ultimate beneficial owners are third
parties independent of, and not connected with, the Group
or its connected persons.

The aggregate number of new shares granted by the Group
currently permitted to be awarded under the 2022 Share
Award Scheme is limited to 10% of the total number of
issued Shares as of the Adoption Date.

Under the 2022 Share Award Scheme, the employees or
consultants for providing services to the Group (”Selected
Participants”) are entitled to receive shares in the
Company.

When a Selected Participant has satisfied all vesting
conditions, which might include service and/or performance
conditions, specified by the Board at the time of making the
award and become entitled to the shares of the Company
forming the subject of the award, the Trustee shall transfer
the relevant vested share awards to that Selected Participant
employee at no cost.

The Trustee shall not exercise the voting rights in respect of
any shares of the Company held under the Trust, including,
inter alia, the share awards and further shares of the
Company acquired out of the income derived therefrom.

On 28 June 2023, the Group granted 80,000 share awards
to certain consultants, with first batch of 40,000 share
awards to be vested on 2 July 2024, and the second batch
of 40,000 share awards to be vested on 2 July 2025.

On 7 November 2024, the Group granted 160,000 share
awards to certain ophthalmologists and consultants, with
the following vesting schedule: 40,000 share awards on
7 November 2024, 20,000 share awards on 31 July 2025,
50,000 share awards on 1 September 2025, 30,000 share
awards on 1 September 2026 and 20,000 share awards on
1 September 2027.

R MR

27 BpEEEEE

ERELERAR (—EREBTM
B WAREE B LA ERELCEET
E¥BNAR)EZETREETA(ER
A AE B 42 E)ET & ([2022 F &
EEBETE]) c EEABUEFEER
RETLHEERERD - EEXARE
BRIRBERBEAEASBYIRANEERE
BMEATNE=ZH BAEEKREH
AT HmEE -

RI% 2022 F i) BB - ANEER
X BT AR D AR B UEE R
MBEMEHITRDBEM10% BR -

RIFE2022F Iy REFHE - RAE
ERERGNESER ((BE2H
&) BRWEA AR

EERT2EENAESTSEFLER
5P RT BAEY PR A 67 BB R 1 (RT B8 R
B,/ HERGENE) AR BFHE
MERZEBIESORRRED - 5
AARAZEE2EERBEEEER
RN BB A 228 -

EREATBERBEETEFBNERA
REBDITERRE  BRETRR
Betn K 2B E B A ) SRE) P15 WA B
AR E AR B

M2023F6 A28H @ "&EBERHE THE
i 5 1 80,000 % J& 17 22 + & #£40,000
B% B 1 22 B 15 7 202457 A2 H 5
JB - M5 — #40,000 B A% 15 22 Bh 15 7
202557 A2 REB -

MR2024F 11 A78 AEEM@EE TR
Tl 88 & & B 1% H 160,000 A% f% 17 42
B SEBERRNT - 40,000 B A% 15
HEENR 202411 A7 H ~ 20,000 ML
7 8B 202597 A31 8 ~ 50,000 f%
[i% 17 22 E) 72 20259 A 1 H + 30,000
f% B% 15 B 7Y 2026 F9 A1 B &
20,000 &A% (0 2€@IA 2027 F9 A1 H ©
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27 SHARE AWARD SCHEME (Continued)

The following table discloses details of the Company’s share
awards granted under the 2022 Share Award Scheme held
by eligible participants and movements during the year:

27 BB E @)
TEREBERAEKRAHERSH2022
ERRD EEEET BT TR H AR R
1A IEEEHE RN E R S

Outstanding Vested Outstanding

at Issued Forfeited during at

1 January during during the year 31 December

2024 the year the year (Note 24 (b)) 2024

12024 F R2024 %

1A1H FRHEE  12A31H

Grant date ERTEN FRERS FREW (ME240b) BRITEN
28 June 2023 2023F6A28H 80,000 - - (40,000) 40,000
7 November 2024 2024511 A7H - 160,000 - (40,000) 120,000
80,000 160,000 - (80,000) 160,000

Outstanding
at

1 January
2023
12023
1H1H
BEITEI

20236 F28H -

Grant date

28 June 2023

FREET

Outstanding

Vested at
during 31 December
the year 2023
72023 F
12A318
BETHIN

80,000

Forfeited
during
the year

Issued
during
the year

FREB
(Pt £ 24 (b))

FRER
80,000 - -

80,000 share awards were vested during the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: None).

The fair value of the share awards was calculated
based on the market price of the Group’s shares at the
respective grant date. During the year ended 31 December
2024, share-based payment expenses of approximately
HK$286,000 (2023: HK$114,000) were recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income in relation
to the share awards.

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED HEEEZERERAD T

HZE2024F12A318BIEFEE -
80,000 & % 10 #2E) 2 57 )& (2023 4F -
) o

& 2R e A FEREAEERG P
HEEEHEBOMETE - 5122024
F12A31MHILEFE EHEHREE
RErE 2 HE A KR 49286,000%
70 (20234 : 114,000/ 70) AR D B
EWNFHFAS -
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e BRI
28 DIVIDENDS 28 BE
The Directors of the Company recommend the payment of a RAREERZHEIBE2024F12 A
final dividend of HK$2.0 cents per share for the year ended BTHIEFEIRN KRR ETR2.0E
31 December 2024 (2023: Nil). The proposed final dividend il (20234 : ) ~ R AR B AR
is subject to the approval of the Company’s shareholders at AR BI PR 202545 A 19 HERITH)
the annual general meeting to be held on 19 May 2025. RERBFE RS LR - FAEE -
29 DEFERRED INCOME TAX 29 EIEFREB
As at 31 December
MW12831H
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FHET
Deferred income tax assets EIEFTS I E E 4,714 6,821
Deferred income tax liabilities BEEMEMEE (64,153) (66,224)
(59,439) (59,403)
The net movements on the deferred income tax assets/ BEMBHEE,/ (BRFE) 28 FHEN
(liabilities) are as follows: T

2024 2023

2024 % 2023 F

HK$000 HK$'000

FET FET

At 1 January ®W1A1H (59,403) (65,593)
Charged to the consolidated statement of A 4R 4 2 EWR A KK

comprehensive income (Note 11) (KF&E11) (2,253) (103)

Exchange differences E X =% 2,217 6,293

At 31 December ®W12 A31H (59,439) (59,403)
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29 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued) 29

The movements in deferred income tax assets and liabilities ERNRLEMEMEENABENEE (K
during the year, without taking into consideration the HER-—HMBREERANBNSHRIEKE)
offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, are as mE

follows:

EEFTBH (@)

Deferred income tax assets

EEFBREE

Decelerated
tax

depreciation Tax losses Leases Total
HEFE EROCTR BIEEE |5
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FET FEr
At 1 January 2023 7M2023F1H18 1,495 5,484 399 7,378
Credited/(charged) to the REE2ERARE
consolidated statement of A (k)
comprehensive income 989 (1,293) - (304)
Exchange differences =R - (104) (11) (115)
At 31 December 2023 72023%F12H318 2,484 4,087 388 6,959
At 1 January 2024 7H2024F1818 2,484 4,087 388 6,959
Charged to the consolidated REEEERAL
statement of comprehensive HiBR
income (1,115) (1,117) - (2,232)
Exchange differences (ER - - (13) (13)
At 31 December 2024 720245128318 1,369 2,970 375 4,714

Deferred income tax liabilities EEFENRERE
Accelerated tax
depreciation
ok

BlAE
HK$000

FET

Brand name Total

i 7R G

HK$'000
FET

HK$'000
TR

As 1 January 2023 R2023F1H1H (493) (72,478) (72,971)
Credited to the consolidated REEE2ERARE

statement of comprehensive A

income 201 - 201
Exchange difference =R - 6,408 6,408
At 31 December 2023 R2023%F12831H (292) (66,070) (66,362)
As 1 January 2024 R2024F1H1H (292) (66,070) (66,362)
Charged to the consolidated REEEEERARE

statement of comprehensive A

income (21) - (21
Exchange difference bE =% - 2,230 2,230
At 31 December 2024 R2024%12A31H (313) (63,840) (64,153)
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29 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses
carry forward purposes only to the extent that realisation
of the related tax benefits through future taxable profit
is probable. As at 31 December 2024, the Group has not
recognised deferred income tax assets of HK$133,767,000
(2023: HK$121,990,000) in respect of accumulated losses
amounting to HK$429,644,000 (2023: HK$501,462,000)
that can be carried forward against future taxable income.
As at 31 December 2024, in respect of the accumulated
losses, HK$58,119,000, HK$69,016,000, HK$131,984,000
and HK$75,556,000 will be expired in 2025, 2026, 2027
and 2028 respectively (2023: in respect of the accumulated
losses, HK$45,883,000, HK$54,910,000, HK$81,152,000
and HK$181,901,000 will be expired in 2024, 2025, 2026
and 2027 respectively).

As at 31 December 2024, deferred income tax liabilities
of approximately HK$9,383,000 (2023: HK$7,010,000)
have not been recognised for the withholding taxation that
would be payable on the unremitted earnings of subsidiaries
in Mainland China of approximately HK$187,654,000 (2023:
HK$140,205,000), as the directors considered that the
timing of the reversal of the related temporary differences
can be controlled and the related temporary difference will
not be reversed and will not be taxable in the foreseeable
future.

29

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

RE MR RMEE
EEFTBH (@)

EEAMEREEEREENTE
5B HERR 0 W LA ] RE B 1B K 2K FE AR
MABEREENBNEE BR -
MR20249F12 A31 8 KEE W £ 5
AEEDEERRERTIMANR
5t E#8133,767,000%8 T (2023 4 -
121,990,000 ) R IELEFTISH
& E 429,644,000 7T (2023 F -
501,462,0008 7T) ° 2024 F 12
A318 ' 25 &1 A&58,119,000%
JC * 69,016,000 JT * 131,984,000%
7T } 75,556,000 % 7T #& 7 Bl 722025
20264 ~ 2027 F 2028 &
(20234 : 25H/E 18 &45,883,000%
JC * 54,910,000, 7T * 81,152,000/
7T % 181,901,0007% 7T # 7 Bl KA 2024
£~ 20254F ~ 2026 FF ]2 2027 Ff@im) ©

R2024F12831H BAREER
BRI AR EEYREENN
MEEBERSZ88TRA R#
R E &g B B R
MAPEANMKE AR RKENEFD
9,383,000 7T (20234 : 7,010,000
BT BN R TENMRERIRLEREH
B & 49187,654,0007 7T (2023 4 :
140,205,000 7T) °
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30 TRADE PAYABLES 30 EZENRIA

Trade payables, based on invoice date, were aged as REZHH2I|NE RN FIERE
follows: mE

As at 31 December

M®12831H
2024 2023
2024 & 20234
HK$°000 HK$000
FET FET
0-30 days 0230H 33,350 32,841
31-60 days 31£260H 11,338 11,211
61-90 days 61290 H 6,952 4,318
Over 90 days HBiBo0H 4,170 6,546
55,810 54,916

The carrying amounts of trade payables are denominated in B O RNRIBNREEDZUNTER
the following currencies: EIRERE

As at 31 December

MR12831H
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$°000
FETT FET
HK$ BT 8,786 10,517
RMB AREE 47,024 44,399
55,810 54,916

il

The carrying amounts of trade payables approximate their
fair values.

BHRMNFRENKREELZE QX FER

4

+
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R MR

ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 31 BtERARHEMBENKE
As at 31 December
R12A31H
2024 2023
2024 2023 F
HK$°000 HK$ 000
; FET
Non-current FERE
Consideration payable for investment in & & B ¥ E
a joint venture (Note 41) RAE (FFEE41) 50,963 49,638
Provision for long service payment RERB S BE 850 784
Reinstatement costs payable JETE B AR 2,969 2,921
Contingent consideration payable JERSSHARE 2,594 -
57,376 53,343
Current mE
Accruals for employee benefits EEFETEAE 54,260 49,542
Accruals for operating expenses FEEH BRI 28,368 29,622
Accruals for listing expenses EsrETMER = 3,591
Payables for doctors’ consultation fees EREEDS 48,865 46,649
Payables for property, plant and [EH%% = K
equipment BRI 2,520 2,816
Consideration payable for acquisition of R EEMRK A
subsidiaries 1,027 1,027
Reinstatement costs payable WEE I B A Al R B 1,349 1,436
Others HAit 2,531 1,703
R, 138,920 - 136,386
Total accruals and other payables FEET B PR I Eh & < 5RIE
a7 196,296 189,729

The carrying amounts of accruals and other payables are

denominated in the following currencies:

BRIATE®FHE

FEAtE M R AN REMREETD

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT F#ET
HK$ BT 72,985 71,669
RMB AREE 123,311 118,060
196,296 189,729

The carrying amounts of accruals and other payables

approximate their fair values.

HRFEMEE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

FEAHE M R B M A SRR R E R

—EomEER

193



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eI mRMEE

32 BORROWINGS

RITER

Bank borrowings

32 ‘fﬁ'a')k

As at 31 December
M®12831H
2024 2023

2024 F 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

29,162 1,725

The carrying amounts of bank borrowings are denominated
in the following currencies:

TERNEEERATERE -

As at 31 December

MR12A831H
2024 2023
2024 5 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
HK$ BT 781 1,725
RMB AR 28,381 -
29,162 1,725

The carrying amounts of bank borrowings approximate their
fair values.

As at 31 December 2024, there is no variable rate borrowing
and the carrying amount of fixed rate borrowings is
HK$29,162,000 (2023: no variable rate borrowing and the
carrying amount of fixed rate borrowings is HK$1,725,000).
The effective interest rate of borrowings of the Group was
3.24% (2023: 2.75%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2024, bank borrowings of HK$781,000
(2023: HK$1,725,000) are repayable on demand.

The Group had credit facilities from banks of
HK$356,562,000 (2023: HK$424,792,000) and
approximately HK$29,162,000 (2023: HK$1,725,000) was
utilised as at 31 December 2024.

Information on non-current assets pledged as security for
borrowings of the Group are disclosed in Note 36.

194 C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED #FIEEEIZRAERA A

RITERNERAERE A FERESE

M20244%12 8318 & F A =
B MEEMNEREFROEmMES
29,162,000 7T (20234 : #f & Z &
FIEEH MEEFEEROEREE
£1,725,000870) - AEBEERHE
BREERIR A3.24% (20234 :2.75%) °

M2024F 128318 HITER
781,000 7t (20234 : 1,725,000
JO) BIRERKIER -

AEBEREBETESHNEEREE
£356,562,000% T (2023 4 :
424,792,000 7T) + 7202412 A
31 HE &) A 429,162,000 7T (2023
£ : 1,725,000 7T) °

BRER/AEBEESERNIERSE
EMEM R E36 PR -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI
33 CASH FLOW INFORMATION 33 REREEH
(a) Cash generated from operations (a) REXEKFBRE
Reconciliation of (loss)/profit before income tax to net BRETISBIAT (B518) /F B
cash generated from operations: LEBFTSIR S/ FENEER

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2024

2024 5
HK$'000
FET

2023
20234
HK$°000
FET

(Loss)/profit before income tax BRETER A (BE) /FE (76,221) 124,269
Adjustments for: FLAT S IR{E L FH%E -
Amortisation of intangible assets EREEEH (P 16)
(Note 16) 1,438 1,537
Depreciation of property, mE - BERSERE
plant and equipment (Note 13) (F7E13) 71,285 77,637
Depreciation of investment properties BEMENE (H5E15)
(Note 15) 843 335
Depreciation of right-of-use assets PREEERE (M14)
(Note 14) 140,057 141,481
Losses on write-off of non-current assets HEHFRBEEERE
(Note 7) (M5E7) 2,259 2,504
Losses on disposal of property, plant and HEME - FE &RER
equipment, net (Note 7) BEBFE(MET7) 1,459 121
Gains on disposal of intangible assets HEJm B ER E
(Note 7) (Bf3E7) (30) -
(Gains)/losses on early termination of AR ANk,
lease (Note 7) (Eﬂa) (K35E7) (2,360) 1,373
(Gains)/losses on financial assets at FVPL BATEFABRZN
(Note 7) SREEMNKE
(B#8) (F5E7) (3,444) 10,736
Gains on fair value change of contingent FAREBORTEEHNK
consideration, net (Note 7) =58 (fH5E7) (226) (12,610)
Share-based payment expenses PARR1n R BB R
(Notes 26 and 27) (MTE26&27) 349 273
Share of losses/(profits) of associates and PEBEDNRRE
joint venture (Notes 41 and 42) m%ﬁiﬂ,@/(ﬂm)
(FfisE41 R 42) 975 (3,164)
Finance income (Note 10) BB (F13E10) (14,574) (19,890)
Finance costs (Note 10) BsRA (32 10) 23,659 18,122
Impairment loss on other intangible HiEYEERNERSR
assets (Note 16) (Ftzx16) 1,931 -
Impairment loss on goodwill (Note 16) AEREERE (i 16) 77,940 -
Impairment loss on property, ME - BERSBREES
plant and equipment (Note 13) 18 (M5E13) 60,288 -
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets FREEENESE
(Note 14) (Mﬁ 14) 57,565 -
Changes in working capital: $EF -
Inventories T—‘b (8,428) 11,868
Trade receivables E 5 RN EIE (5,516) (6,527)
Deposits, prepayments and Be  BENREREM
other receivables U IR (6,064) (6,614)
Trade payables 2 S ENHE 1,968 10,566
Accruals and other payables BB R K H A0 3R (5,430) 24,351
Contract liabilities BHEE 4,897 15,673
Balances with associates i N R 7,701 1,662
Cash generated from operations REmERe 332,321 393,703

ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eI mRMEE

33 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued) 33
(b) Proceeds from disposal of property, plant

and equipment

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds
from disposal of property, plant and equipment

comprise:

BEREER (@)

(b) HEVE BERRKEMRS
EQ]
RitBeneRd LEY
¥ R KRB TS RIERIE

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLLEE

2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET
Net book amounts (Note 13) BREFE (FFEE13) 4,716 14,642
Losses on disposal of property, plant ~ HEWE « BiE &
and equipment, net (Note 7) RSB ETE
(BzE7) (1,459) (121)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE - HE R
plant and equipment BE=RIESE/ e 3,257 14,521
C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED FEEEIZERERA T



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MR

33 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)

(c)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities

33

BEREER (@)

(0 BMEZHELNEBENYHER

Loans
from non-
controlling Lease
Borrowings interests liabilities Total
FER
EEA ERER REGE b
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET TET
At 1 January 2023 R2023%181H 34,257 21,215 397,015 452,487
Cash flows BengE
— Proceeds from borrowings ~EHFETE 10,780 - 10,780
— Repayment to borrowings -BERET (43,278) - - (43,278)
— Principal elements of lease payments —HE [ A AS HH - - (131,308) (131,308)
~ Interest paid on leases - AREFE - - (16,712) (16,712)
Non-cash movement FREEY
- Exchange differences -EREE (34) (199) (7,914) (8,147)
- Other non-cash movement -Ef3#Re 8 - 39 98,772 99,168
At 31 December 2023 R2023%12831A 1,725 21412 339,853 362,990
Cash flows Beneg
—Proceeds from borrowings ~BRFBHE 258,268 - 258,268
~ Repayment to borrowings —-BEET (230,844) - (230,844)
— Principal elements of lease payments —HE RN AL HH - - (116,668) (116,668)
~ Interest paid on leases ~YRHEFE - - (19,524) (19,524)
Non-cash movement FREEH
~ Exchange differences -ERESR 13 (376) (9,557) (9,920)
- Other non-cash movement -EFRe %Y - (1,114) 194,603 193,489
At 31 December 2024 R2024512A318 29,162 19,922 388,707 437,791

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

—EomEER

197



198

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBmRMET
34 COMMITMENTS 34 EE
(a) Capital commitments (a) EBEAXEE
Significant capital expenditure contracted for at the RERDEHTNERERBAERE
end of the year but not recognised as liabilities is as BWBEREARRAZNT
follows:

As at 31 December

R12A31H
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
HK$°000 HK$000
FET FET
Property, plant and equipment W - WEREE 31,910 101,115
Acquisition of financial assets at W IR N EF A A
FVOCI (Note (7)) PEHBRANTREEE
(B RE @) - 6,119
31,910 107,234
Note: ffsE -
(i)  The amount represents unpaid capital injection of (i) ZHKHEEN2023F12
US$788,000 (equivalent to HK$6,119,000) to Health 31 8 A A s (M sE22)
Hope Pharma (Note 22) as at 31 December 2023. SEE 788,000k T (HHER

6,119,000/8 70) B RS FRIA ©

(b) Operating lease commitments (b) REHEEHRIE
At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group had R2024F K% 2023F 128318 -
future aggregate minimum lease payments under non- REEBR A HELEHEER
cancellable short-term leases as follows: THARKRKEEES N REEN
T

As at 31 December
M®12H31H
2024 2023

2024 F 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FH#ET

Not later than one year TER—F 1,893 1,045

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED HEEEZERERAD T
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35 OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The Group leases its investment properties (Note 15) under
operating lease arrangements, with leases negotiated for
terms of three to seven years (2023: seven years). The
terms of the leases also require the tenants to pay security
deposits.

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group had total future
minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable operating
leases with its tenants falling due as follows:

R MR

35 ReEHERH
REBBELEHETHHBAEREY
¥ (Hix15)  KEmHARAE=—Z=tF
(2023F : 79F) - HEKRIMREM
FALNRES -

R2024F & 2023F 12 A31H » A&
BERBEEEB P 2 TR BELE
AERTYHEIBZz A RRERE
RGN T

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2024 2023
2024 & 2023 £
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FET
Within one year —F R 497 458
Between one to five years —ZRF 1,308 1,733
1,805 2,191

36 ASSETS PLEDGED AS SECURITY

The carrying amount of assets pledged as security for
borrowings are:

Property, plant and equipment (Note (i)

WE - B N (EEG>)

36 FRIEHFNEE
ERERERNEENREEDN T

As at 31 December
MW12A31H
2024 2023
2023
HK$ 000
FET

2024 F
HK$’000
FET

61,049 -

Note:

(i) As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s buildings in Mainland
China with carrying values of HK$61,049,000 were pledged
to bank to secure for bank borrowings with outstanding
amount of HK$28,381,000.

BAE

) FR2024F 128318 AEERK
AR A b R (B 61,049,000 7 T
MEFERFRITURSESEA
28,381,000 T I ERITIE K ©
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eI mRMEE

37 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 37 BEBARS
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the W— A BN EESEEESN S -7
ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or NS TEM G R EEAKRER
exercise significant influence over the other party in making EAFEN AEFHRBE@EE -
financial and operating decisions. Parties are also considered WEFXLAREHHZTHAZTATEE
to be related if they are subject to common control or RIS 75 TR 4R /5 B R e -

common significant influence.

The Group is controlled by C-MER Group Limited MN2024F 128310 AEEX &L
(incorporated in the BVI), the ultimate holding company, ERAGFEEBRAGR LA (REE
which owns 54.2% of the Company’s shares as at 31 BB EMA ) 2 EEAE AR
December 2024. The ultimate controlling party of the Group NE)542% B o A K B R &I
is Dr. Dennis LAM and Ms. LI. 7RIS E R .

Name of related parties Relationship with the Company

L BB AR A B B R

C-MER Group Limited Ultimate holding company

FHEEFRAA = Fe Sl ¢/NE]

Maida Medical Software Development = Common controlling shareholder (Dr. Dennis LAM)
(Shenzhen) Limited
BERBERYHERAE(CRIDBERAT  EHEIERRE (RIBEE L)

Project Vision Charitable Foundation Common directors (Dr. Dennis LAM)

Limited

SREIRERSESERAA HRAE = (MRIERE4)

Health Hope International Medical Common directors (Dr. Dennis LAM and Ms. LI) and an associate
Laboratory Limited company of the Group

FERA (B AR AR HAZE MEHREERTLZ ) RAEE O ZE QT

Health Hope Pharma Limited Common controlling shareholder (Dr. Dennis LAM) and common

directors (Dr. Dennis LAM and Ms. LI)
HEERRR R (MBS E) RERES (RIBEHEE RS2 L)

+
ot

el

HEBEARAT
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R MR

37 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 37 BEBARS ®
(a) In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the (a) BREEAEUBEREREMBOE T
consolidated financial statements, the Group has the BEN AEEHEBBSET
following transactions with related parties: S

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLLEE

2024 2023
2024 2023 F
HK$°000 HK$ 000
FETT FET
Ophthalmic services provided to a ) — M A A AR
related company AR AR 75
— Project Vision Charitable —mBEIREEES
Foundation Limited BRAA 252 135
Management fee income from a P=hdiil ok NS0
related company BEREBRA
— Project Vision Charitable —mBEIREEESR
Foundation Limited BRATA 114 114
Management fee income from an ke —EEE R FR
associate ERBRA
— Health Hope International Medical ~ — = #48 (B %)
Laboratory Limited ERATA - 2,487
114 2,601
Interest income from a non-controlling  FE#%° % 18 25 49 &1 &
interest WA
— Non-controlling shareholder of — R FHBEREORE
Shenzhen C-MER Aikangjian SEERAAIRIE
Dental Group Co., Ltd. (Note (i)) i ENCIEI0) 708 -
Interest expenses to non-controlling S F — & JEE IR iR AY
interests (Note 39 (b)) B (H5E39()
— Non-controlling shareholder of — B EEBT Y FEIE
Huizhou Hospital A% A% 3R 146 396
— Non-controlling shareholder of —HBBRKRFES O
Hong Kong Center for Clinical AR QAR IEER
Research Limited AR = 116 -
262 396
Lease payments to a related company 21 ¥ — B A &) &)
HES
— Maida Medical Software —EERERR
Development (Shenzhen) Limited CFRI) BR A 5,670 8,258
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eI mRMEE

37 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 37 BEARE (5
(a) (Continued) (@) &)
The management fee income is received for the BB WA TR S B A B
administrative services provided by the Group to T3 IR AL EO 1T BUE 1R AR 7% i HAUER o
the related parties. The ophthalmic service income, BRERBURA BEBRAR
management fee income and lease payments were MEERIIRE A S = R
determined based on the terms mutually agreed 77 R GRRETE °

between the Group and the related parties.

Note: ff3E -

(i)  The interest is paid on a loan to a non-controlling (i) FE TR M — B FEHE R
interest which was fully repaid as at 31 December HRENERIN  TER
2024. The interest was charged in accordance with the 2024F 12 A3 ABEEE -
terms of a loan agreement entered into between the FEBTIRBEAEEEZIEE
Group and the non-controlling interest. MR =T LB B e 815

FRURER
(b) Key management compensation (b) EEEBAESHM

Year ended 31 December
HE12A31HLEE

2024 2023

2024 F 20234

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Fees, wages, salaries, bonus e ITE - FHe - fes 14,314 14,634
Retirement benefits costs — defined R URAE T B A — & RE LK

contribution scheme FTEl 71 72

Allowances and benefits in kind B KRB YE A 806 793

Share-based payments VAR 1 7% BB 9 1~ 3K 63 159

15,254 15,658

202 C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED #FIEEEIZRAERA A
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REMBmRMETE
37 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 37 BEBARS ®
(c) Year-end balances with related parties (c) EERBAMFERER
As at 31 December
R12A318
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
HK$’000 HK$000
FETT FETT
Amounts due from associates FET — & BARSE 75 5IR
— Health Hope International Medical ~ — % 45 8 (B[R
Laboratory Limited (Note (i) AR A (FEEx) 3,973 3,973
— C-MER RainsOptics Limited —C-MER RainsOptics
(Note (ii)) Limited (BT 5% (ii)) 1,248 1,104
5,221 5,077
Amount due to a related party FE AT A B 77 FRIR
— Health Hope Pharma Limited —FEBEFRAA
(Note 22) (Ff&E22) 7,701 -
Notes: B 5
(i)  The balances are unsecured, interest-free and () FEREHRAEER RERA
repayable on demand and are denominated in HK$. BRERER  WABITEHE -
(i) The balances are unsecured, repayable on demand and (iy FERAEHRAEIER AREX
are denominated in HK$. The balances are interest- BERABITE ZFHE
free, except for principal of HK$240,000 (2023: #% A% B - MR £ 240,000
HK$96,000) with interest rate of 1-month HIBOR+2% 7t (20234 : 96,000 7T) LA
per annum. TEABBRITRZEFRESMN2%
ZEREET BRI
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eI mRMEE

38 SUBSIDIARIES

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31

December 2024:

Place of incorporation/

establishment and
kind of legal entity
Company name

AFER REERERER

Particulars of issued
share capital/
registered capital
BRTRE/

Rl U

C-MER Eye Care Medical The BV, limited liability 2,000 ordinary
Group Limited company shares US$2,000
(2023: 2,000 ordinary

shares US$2,000)

ARBMBREEEARLR RERNEE: 2,000k % Bk
ERELRT 2000%7

(2023% + 2,000

LR 2,000% )

C-MER Eye Care Group The BVI, limited liability 2,000 ordinary
Limited company shares US$2,000
(2023: 2,000 ordinary

shares US$2,000)

AREMEERRAT  RERXES: 2,000k % Bk
EREERA 2000%7

(20235 + 2,000

LR 2,000%7T)

Hong Kong (Intemnational) ~ Hong Kong, limited liability 10,000 ordinary
Eye Care Group Limited company shares HK$10,000
(2023: 10,000 ordinary

shares HK$10,000)

BR(ER)BHEREE BE BRAEMLA 10,000 R E @R
ARAF 10,000/ 7C
(2023 + 10,0008

ZiBHk10000%7)

Hong Kong C-MER Hong Kong, limited liability 500,000 ordinary
International Eye Care company shares HK$500,000
Group (China) Limited (2023: 500,000 ordinary
shares HK$500,000)

BEARARRNERSE TR ARAMLT 500,000%
(FE)BRAR LR 500000% T
(2023 + 500,000

fR &40 500,000 L)

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

FHBRZERARAA

38 BT
AT AR2024F12 A3 BT EH
BARAE :

Effective interest held

by the Company
RAR i
ERER
Directly Indirectly Principal activities/
B 5 place of operation
2024 2023 2024 2003 TEER/
045 0BFE WUE  ABF EEHG
100% 100% - - Investment holding,
Hong Kong
RAER B4
100% 100% - - Investment holding,
Hong Kong

RERK BB

- - 100% 100% Provision of ophthalmic
service, Hong Kong
REBRMRS B8

- - 100% 100% Provision of ophthalmic

service, Hong Kong

RERMRS - £



38 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Company name

AAEH

Shenzhen C-MER Dennis Lam
Eye Hospital*

RN AR

Bejjing C-MER Dennis Lam
Eye Hospital Co., Ltd.*

IRABRIESRNBR
BRAR

Shenzhen Xinan C-MER
Dennis Lam Eye Hospital*

Y% A IE IR R

E& =
U

Shenzhen C-MER Optical
Trading Co., Ltd.*

MIFEELERER

A7
Shenzhen Xinan C-MER
Optical Trading CO., Ltd*

RFZFBRLE S
BRDA*

Place of incorporation/
establishment and
kind of legal entity
REERRER

Mainland China, wholly
foreign owned enterprise

TEML HEFELR

Mainland China, wholly
foreign owned enterprise

hERL HEEELE

Mainland China, wholly
foreign owned enterprise

hERL HEEELE

Mainland China, wholly
foreign owned enterprise

hERL HEBELE

Mainland China, wholly
foreign owned enterprise

hERL HEEELE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MR

Particulars of issued
share capital/
registered capital
ERfTRE/
EMERFE

RMB112,500,000

(2023: RMB112,500,000)

AR 112,500,0007T
(203%F: AR
112,500,000 7T)

RMB60,000,000
(2023: RMB60,000,000)

ARHE60,000,0007
(203 :
AEH60,000,0007)

RMB20,000,000
(2023: RMB20,000,000)

ARH20,000,0007
(203 :
AEH20,000,0007)

RMB1,000,000
(2023: RMB1,000,000)

ARE1,000,0007T
(203 :
AE%1,000,0007)

RMB2,000,000
(2023: RMB1,000,000)

AR2,000,0007T
(203 :
AE#1,000,0007)

38 MIBAT @

Effective interest held

by the Company
ARAME
BRER
Directly Indirectly

J=E: 3
2024 2023 2024 2023
045 0BF  0UF  0BF
- - 100% 100%
- - 100% 100%
- - 100% 100%
- - 100% 100%
- - 100% 100%

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Principal activities/
place of operation
TERE/

Provision of ophthalmic
service, Mainland
China

TRUERR R - hE
Mt

Provision of ophthalmic
service, Mainland
China

REBRRE - &
Mt

Provision of ophthalmic
service, Mainland
China

REBRRE - &
Mt

Sales of eyewear and
eye care products,
Mainland China

HERBERBHER
Eq- REmD

Sales of eyewear and
eye care products,
Mainland China

HERBERBHER
Eq- REmD

—EomEER
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eI mRMEE

38 MIBAT @

Effective interest held
by the Company
RAR i

Particulars of issued BRER

38 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Place of incorporation/

establishment and share capital/ Directly Indirectly

Principal activities/
place of operation

Company name

AAEH

Kunming Eye Hospital*

RABHER (BRAR)*

Huizhou C-MER Dennis Lam
Eye Hospital Co., Ltd*

ENFBEHERBHER
NG

Shanghai Lucida Medical
Scientific Ltd.*

LERBRRERERME
BRAA*

Shanghai C-MER Vision Eye
Hospital Co., Ltd.*

LERERARHNER
BRAR

Zhuhai C-MER Dennis Lam
Eye Hospital Co., Ltd.*

KAFEHEARNER
BRAR

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

kind of legal entity
REegRRn

Mainland China, wholly
foreign owned enterprise

TEML HEBELE

Mainland China, wholly
foreign owned enterprise

hERL HEEELE

Mainland China, wholly
foreign owned enterprise

hERL HEEELE

Mainland China, wholly
foreign owned enterprise

hERL HEEELE

Mainland China, wholly
foreign owned enterprise

hERL HEEELE

registered capital B 3
2024
2004

BRTRA/
g HE

RMB51,400,000
(2023: RMBS51,400,000)

ARHES1,400,0007
(203%:
AEH51,400,0007)

RMB30,000,000
(2023: RMB28,500,000)

ARH30,000,0007
(203%: AR
28,500,0007C)

RMBS32,474,100
(2023: RMB74,474,100)

ARH82,474100 7
(203 :
ARH744741007)

RMB54,500,000
(2023: RMB48,000,000)

ARHE54,500,0007
(203 :
AR 48000,0007)

RMB17,429,234
(2023: RMB17,429,234)

ARHE17429234 7
(203 :
AEH17.42923470)

FHBRZERARAA

80%

70%

100%

100%

100%

EgRH/
1Y

Provision of ophthalmic
service, Mainland
China

TRUERR R - hE
Mt

Provision of ophthalmic
service, Mainland
China

REBRRE - &
Mt

Sales of medical
products, Mainland
China

REBRER F
Mt

Provision of ophthalmic
service, Mainland
China

REBRRE - &
Mt

Provision of ophthalmic
service, Mainland
China

REBRRE - &
Mt



38 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Company name

AAEH

Guangzhou Yue Xiu
Economic Development
Ltd.*

BNEFEELRAR

2"

C-MER Dental Limited

HETHBRALA

C-MER Family Medicine
Center (Shatin) Limited

CAD/CAM Restorative Dental
Centre Ltd.

CAD/CAM Restorative Dental
Centre Ltd.

Pro-Dental Group Limited

EON Healthcare Holdings
Limited

BRERRRAR LA

Place of incorporation/
establishment and
kind of legal entity
REERRER

Mainland China, wholly

foreign owned enterprise

hE NEEELE

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

Bt ARAT

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

Bt ARAT

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

Bt ARAT

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

Bt ARAT

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

Bt ARAF

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MR

Particulars of issued
share capital/
registered capital
ERfTRE/
EMERFE

RMB10,000,000

(2023: RMB10,000,000)

ARH10,000,0007
(203 :
AE#10,000,0007)

HK$10,000,000

(2023: HK$10,000,000)
10,000,000 7
(203%:
10,000,000 7)

HK$10,000,000
(2023: HK$10,000,000)

10,000,000;5 7
(2035 :
10,000,000 7T)

HK$100

(2023: HK$100)
10037

(203 1005 7T)

HK$5,800,000

(2023: HK$5,800,000)
5,800,000 77
(203%:
5,800,000 )

HK$100
(2023: HK$100)

10057t
(2023 : 100%70)

38 MIBAT @

Effective interest held

by the Company
ARAME
BRER
Directly Indirectly

J=E: 3
2024 2023 2024 2023
045 0BF  0UF  0BF
- - 100% 100%
- - 100% 100%

- - 80% 80%

- - 60% 60%

100% 90%

- - 70% 70%

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Principal activities/
place of operation
TERE/

Property holding,
Mainland China

RENE nERS

Provision of dental
service, Hong Kong

RETHERS - B3

Provision of family
medicine service,
Hong Kong

REFERRRE
B

Provision of dental
service, Hong Kong

Bt ARAT

Provision of dental
service, Hong Kong

RETHERS - B

Provision of medical
aesthetic service,
Hong Kong

REBEXTRE
)

—EomEER
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mEMKRRME
38 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 38 MBAT @
Effective interest held
by the Company
RAR i

Place of incorporation/ Particulars of issued ERER

establishment and share capital/ Directly Indirectly Principal activities/

kind of legal entity registered capital B 3 place of operation

Company name HRAYL/ R BRARE/ 2024 2023 2024 2023 TEEE/

NGRS REEERER TMERHE  20M4F 20BF  0UF 0BT LEHY
Guangzhou C-MER Dennis - Mainland China, wholly RMB 68,500,000 - - 100% 100%  Provision of ophthalmic
Lam Eye Hospital Co., foreign owned enterprise  (2023: RMB62,500,000) service, Mainland

Ltd.* China
BNAERIEARRERE =EM NEBEELE  AR¥68,500,0007 RERRRY - RE
NG (2023% At
AR 62,500,0007C)
Jieyang C-MER Dennis Lam  Mainland China, wholly RMB43,500,000 - - 100% 100% Provision of ophthalmic
Eye Hospital Co., Ltd. * foreign owned enterprise  (2023: RMB41,000,000) service, Mainland
China
ERAEEHERRRER  RERM HEBELE  AK®43500,0007T BRI - &
BRAA (2035 At
AR 41,000,0007C)
Foshan C-MER Dennis Lam ~ Mainland China, wholly RMB44,200,000 - - 100% 100%  Provision of ophthalmic
Eye Hospital Co,, Ltd.* foreign owned enterprise  (2023: RMB39,000,000) service, Mainland
China
BUEENEERNEBR  FEAN HEBELE  AR442000007 BRI - &
BRAA (2035 At
AE%39,000,0007C)
C-MER Family Medicine Hong Kong, limited liability HK$100,000 - - 80% 80% Provision of family
Center (Taiwai) Limited company (2023: HK$100,000) medicine service,
Hong Kong
FEZREREHL(RE) FE BROA 100,000 7 RUFRERERE
BRAE (20234 :100,000% T) %
The Optometry (OPT) Hong Kong, limited liability HK$125,000 - - 60% 60% Sales of eyewear and eye
Centre Limited company (2023: HK$125,000) care products, Hong
Kong
RATBBEHLERLE B8 BRARF 125,000 T HERERRTEEE
(20234 : 125,000%7T) m &R
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38 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Place of incorporation/

Particulars of issued

establishment and share capital/

kind of legal entity registered capital

Company name HRAL/ RubE BRTRE/
ACEL: REegRRn AfERGE
Champion Eye Centre Limited  Hong Kong, limited liability HK$2,400
company (2023: HK$2,400)

RERMPLERLE AR BRAA 2400587

(2023 : 2,400%7)

C+ Health CKJ (Shenzhen)  Mainland China, Limited RMB50,000,000
Hospital* (Formerly known  liability company (2023: nil)
s AEREERER)

RIFERRRER " mER - BRAR AR 50,000,00070
(HBARIERR (203% : &)
EEER)

Shenzhen C-MER Aikangjian ~ Mainland China, wholly RMB2,000,000

Dental Group Co., Ltd.* foreign owned enterprise (2023 RMB62,836,647)
REEEZXROEER  RERY IEBELE AE#2,000,0007
BRAA (2003%:

ARH62,836,6477)

English translation is for identification purpose only. The
English names of the group companies incorporated in
Mainland China represent the best efforts by management of
the Group in translating their Chinese names as they do not
have official English names.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MR

38 MIBAT @

Effective interest held
by the Company
RAR i

ERER

Directly

B L
04 03 24

Indirectly Principal activities/

place of operation
2023 TEEE/

0145  0BF  04EF 203F LEHY

- - 100% 100%  Provision of ophthalmic

service, Hong Kong

RERMERS - £

- - 90% - Provision of medical
services in Mainland
China

RAERBERY - REA

i

61.5% 61.5% Provision of dental
service, Mainland
China
AT - REA
i

* RXEREEBR - mRERE R
s 5 B ST ) S 2 S A B
FEE REXABAAEEEE
BEEASNRERS X LEEE
Tk -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B RMTE
39 NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST 39 FERER
(a) Summarised financial information of (a) EARFEERER VBT E
material non-controlling interest &H
Set out below are summarised financial information ATEYRYF B FERE R
for Shenzhen C-MER Aikangjian Dental Group Co., SEERA RN BER
Ltd. which has non-controlling interest (“NCI”) that REHEBEHAEBMEBERX
is material to the Group. The amounts disclosed are RIFEIERR i =S ([ IR R MR ) -
before inter-company eliminations. TREENSBEAETAFM
HHAMETF ©

Shenzhen C-MER Aikangjian Dental Group Co., R #BEEROBEEEER
Ltd AT

As at 31 December

M®12831H
2024 2023
2024 £ 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
F & T FET
Assets and liabilities EERERE
Total non-current assets ERBEELRTE 584,201 444,789
Total current assets mENE E AR 142,450 173,754
Total non-current liabilities BB ERTE (151,310) (124,133)
Total current liabilities MENBELER (109,640) (107,033)
Net assets BEFE 465,701 387,377
Accumulated NCI 25T IEE R 179,295 149,140

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
HKS$’000 HK$°000
FET FET

Profit for the year FRFHE
Revenue A 464,580 384,734
Total comprehensive profit e WAINE FEt 78,325 65,584
Profit allocated to NCI D ELE FEIE AR AE 25 A ) 30,155 25,250
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHwRERMEE
39 NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST (Continued) 39 FEIERMER (5
(@) Summarised financial information of (a) A IEE AR AE S HO L BE B 75
material non-controlling interest (Continued) e 16
Shenzhen C-MER Aikangjian Dental Group Co., F#BFEEROEEEER
Ltd (Continued) 2 E (1)

Year ended 31 December
HE12A31BLLEE
2024 2023

2024 F 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FETT

Cash flows generated from operating &2 /EHFIERESRE

activities 114,042 124,507
Cash flows (used in)/generated from & & &8 (FTA) A5
investing activities REME (176,629) 3,904
Cash flows (used in)/generated from — B&E®) (FTR) 5
financing activities BeRE (15,808) 9,030
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and RERREFEY
cash equivalents CRD),/ e (78,395) 137,441
As at 31 December 2024, all the cash and bank 2024612 A318 XY FBE R
balances of Shenzhen C-MER Aikangjian Dental Group EOREEEBRAARIMBERE KIRT
Co., Ltd were held in Mainland China. These cash and EHREIRPEAMES  -ZERe Rk
bank balances are subject to the rules and regulations HRAT A5 B8R IR 7O FR B A 3 5T 28 6 Y
of foreign exchange control promulgated by Mainland SNE B IR Al S 48 51 (2023 4F - #H[A]) ©

China Government (2023: same).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eI mRMEE

39 NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST (Continued)
(b) Transaction with non-controlling interest

In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements, the Group has the
following transactions with non-controlling interest:

Interest expenses to non-controlling
interests (Note 10)
— Non-controlling shareholder of

39 FEERER )
(b) EEFEREZKS

Brir e M5 E A 5 0 P
BEIN AEEEIFEFIED
BTARS :

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31ALEE
2024 2023
2023
HK$000
FET

2024
HK$’000
F# T

A F IR AR
FERMZ (s 10)
— BN EPT A IEIE

Huizhou Hospital i 146 396
— Non-controlling shareholder of —BBBERFERP O
Hong Kong Center for Clinical ER AR
Research Limited AR AR R 116 -
262 396

These transactions were conducted in the normal
course of business at prices and terms mutually agreed
between the parties involved.

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED HEEEZERERAD T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

39 NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST (Continued)

() Year-end balances with non-controlling ()

interest

R MR

39 FEERER )

FEIE IR R FF R BRER

As at 31 December

MW12A31H8
2024 2023
20234
HK$°000

FET

2024 %
HK$’000
F & T

Non-current JEBPHA
Loans from non-controlling interests ~ 3FZ xR E X
— Non-controlling shareholders of —RAEBRBR LA
The Optometry (OPT) Centre (NI =2 S
Limited (Note (ii)) &SR (B (i) 12,424 13,800
Current B HA
Loan from non-controlling interest IR = E R
— Non-controlling shareholder of — BN BB BT Ay FEHE AR
Huizhou Hospital (Note (i) e (MEEG)) 7,498 7,612
Amounts due to non-controlling JE 15T 2= s e 2 R IR
interests (Note (iii)) (B Gii)) 4,440 3,331

Notes:

(i) The loan bears interest at a fixed rate of 6% (2023:
6%) per annum. It is unsecured, repayable on demand
and denominated in RMB.

(i) The loans are unsecured, interest-free, repayable in
2026 and denominated in HK$.

(i) The balances included salary payable and advances.
The advances are unsecured, repayable on demand
and are denominated in HK$ and RMB. The balances
are interest-free, except for principal of HK$2,400,000
(2023: HK$800,000) with interest rate of 1-month
HIBOR+1.4% per annum.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

GEE

EEERNBETFANE6%
(20234 : 6%) 51 B ZF 1B
AEIAE AR BIEE R
ARMBHE -

ERERAEKR 28 A
72026 F1EE M IABITTEHE ©

EBAEGBRREENEED S
KR G RE KA S
BRBEREBRABTE
AREHE - BREHRASR
B0 M AN 4 %8 2,400,000 7 7T
(20234 :800,0007% 7T) bA1
AABBRITRAEREME
FIE1 4% 5H BRI
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBmRMET
40 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 40 REELTFMNER
The amount recognised in the consolidated statement of REFEMBRARERNSEAT -

financial position is as follows:

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 %
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FAET
At 1 January m1B1H 44,814 41,962
Dividend received B Wiz B (28,107) -
Share of (loss)/profit 2 (E8) /58 (2,555) 2,852
At 31 December M12A831H 14,152 44,814
The associates are private companies and there is no quoted BERNABILART  EROWED
market price available for its shares. (B -
Management assessed that the Group has significant EREENGAEREHMEAREE
influence but not control over the associates, as such, they EENEBEERE At 25
are accounted for associates of the Group under equity ERRINEREARAEREER A
method. Al e
There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s MEmEREENEE AR LA
interests in the associates. 2 ARBIE -
As at 31 December 2024, the balance due from associates MR2024F12831H » EBUEE & D
amounted to HK$5,221,000 (2023: HK$5,077,000). A 4 #8 /5,221,000 7T (2023 4 :

5,077,000/ 7T) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE

The amount recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position is as follows:

R MR

41 R—EEeELENER

REFAMBARKER 2 BT

2024 2023

2024 F 2023 £

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAET

At 1 January B1A18 47,848 -
Addition wNE - 47,536
Share of profit S E R 1,580 312
At 31 December M12A31H 49,428 47,848

On 6 October 2023, the Group completed the acquisition
of 55% of the equity interest of a company in Hong Kong
("Joint Venture”). Under the acquisition agreement, an
unanimous consent in the board is required in relation
to decisions about the relevant activities. Management
assessed that the shareholders have equal voting rights and
joint control over the Joint Venture, as such, it is accounted
for joint venture of the Group under equity method.

The consideration was settled by way of an issuance
of a long-term bond of RMB50,490,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$53,772,000), which bears interest of
2% per annum and repayable in three years. As at 31
December 2024, long-term bond payable with carrying
amount of RMB48,124,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$50,963,000) is included in non-current other payables.

The Joint Venture is a private company and there is no
guoted market price available for its shares.

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s
interest in the joint venture.

R2023F1086H  AEB TR UK
BE-—EEEAR([EELE])55%K
o RBWE R BEEEESN
REBARKEESE—HRAE -EREREE
IR REAECEREE T ERER
KA EIERIE - Al - HIRE#ERE
ARALEBEEDRE -

B LA 217 A R 50,490,000 7T (48
B R #953,772,0008 T) 2 REIE S
ARSI ZEFHFIRFEFE2%5T
B WER=FAEIE - 12024F 12
A318  FREEAAR48,124,000
7t (F8 % 7 4950,963,000 % 7T ) #) & Hf
FERTESH AT ASE M B A b FET5RIE o

BECERLARR  EROILED
BRE -

AEERAGERE BRI EARK
REE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eI mRMEE

42 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 42 7N EH B AR R &

COMPANY
As at 31 December
M®12H31H
2024 2023
2024 & 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
ASSETS EE
Non-current asset IRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RETBRARRIKE 59,522 59,522
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JiE Uk B B8~ B 308 1,638,046 1,699,800
Financial assets at fair value BERAFEFABRD
through profit or loss TREE 15,192 11,748
Prepayments and other receivables 81 5t IE & E ) i U 5k 1H 1,223 2,453
Cash and cash equivalents RERBLFEY 273 369
e iceiceciccecicccecccaaeoeae... 1,654,734 1,714,370
Total assets BWEE 1,714,256 1,773,892
EQUITY DR
Equity attributable to equity KAEEREEAEMWL
holders of the Company =
Share capital f& A< 125,556 125,556
Reserves % 42(a) 1,553,941 1,609,992
_Totalequity wE=m 1679497 1735548
LIABILITIES =L
Current liabilities REBEaE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEAFB B A B FA 34,444 34,444
Accruals and other payables FERTE A I E b FE A 5R0E 315 3,900
_Total liabilities ] mem| 34759 .. 38,344
Total equity and liabilities HWEZREE 1,714,256 1,773,892
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42 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

(a) Reserve movement of the Company

42

(C) YN

R MR

FiNUNEIE:OL0b 37 O S

ANHEZE

Contributed  Share-based

Share Treasury surplus payment  Accumulated
premium shares (Note (i) reserve |osses Total
ARG NROAER
ke  EERG (W@ WORRE  RSER st
HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$ 000
As at 1 January 2023 R20BE1A18 1733130 (29.927) 57,617 28,283 (107970) 1,681,133
Loss for the year FRER - - - - (14,220) (14,220)
Cancellation of shares (Note 24(a)i) s8R (2 24(0)) (40,531) 41,631 - - - 1,100
Purchase of own shares (Note 24(0) % BRI (M 24(0)) - (58.294) - - - (58.294)
Share-based payment expenses WD BERN AR
(Note 26 and 27) (k26 ] 27) - - - m - m
As at 31 December 2023 and RABENANAR
1 January 2024 2024%1518 1,692,599 (46,590) 57,617 28,556 (122,190) 1,609,992
Profit for the year Eatilh - - - - 2,740 2,740
Purchase of own shares (Note 24(b) % BF R (M3 24(0)) = (59,140) = = = (59,140)
Share-based payment expenses WD BERN AR
(Note 26 and 27) (326 27) - - - 349 - 349
As at 31 December 2024 R2024E128318 1,692,599 (105,730) 57,617 28,905 (1194500 1,553,941
Note: BI5E -
(i)  As part of the reorganisation in preparation for (i) ErREHBLTAETHNEAR

listing, the Company acquired interests in subsidiaries
comprising the Group and assets and liabilities of
the operating business from Dr. Dennis LAM and
Ms. Li in 2016. As the reorganisation was regarded
as a continuation of the operating business under
the subsidiaries comprising the Group, no fair value
was applied to the acquired subsidiaries interest
and assets and liabilities. The difference between
the consideration paid to the equity holder and the
original investment of the equity holder was recorded
as a contributed surplus.
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1) R B B A T B A - U EE
REEETHBAREZS R
KEEBMEERBE - BN
BB ABAEEETHE
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eI mRMEE

43 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING 43 H gt BERHE
POLICIES
43.1 Principles of consolidation and equity B1EEANRRAREZETE
accounting b3
(a) Subsidiaries (a) HEBLE
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured MEAREAEEHEZE
entities) over which the Group has control. The FIEMNEETE (BELS
Group controls an entity when the Group is BHERE) E45H
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns SEEEMEANBEE
from its involvement with the entity and has the SR # R BHEemiER
ability to affect those returns through its power HXrBERFINRE I
to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries 250w AAEHERE
are fully consolidated from the date on which HZERE WEARIBE
control is transferred to the Group. They are FlIEEBEAEEEAR
deconsolidated from the date that control FisEHEEE AR L E
ceases. PEHI AR E B Bl AR 4R
PN
The acquisition method of accounting is used to REBRAWB AR
account for business combinations by the Group ¥BaMt AR (F20M
(refer to Note 43.2). F£43.2) ©
Intercompany transactions, balances, and SEANRRAZENKZS
unrealised gains on transactions between group HEHR RS ARER K=
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are BT AL BRIFZIER
also eliminated unless the transaction provides SR TEEEERRE
evidence of an impairment of the transferred B BAIREREET
asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have FTUEE WEAREE
been changed where necessary to ensure BERRMBERELES
consistency with the policies adopted by the VA T R B2 7R 55 B R AN B I
Group. T—H
Non-controlling interests in the results and EERIFERER LB
equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in NEAINERDIRGE R
the consolidated statement of comprehensive HRAEX GeaEzE
income, consolidated statement of changes in xR EUBRAKRAE
equity and consolidated statement of financial B2 .

position respectively.

218 C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED FHHEEHFIZERERA A



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

43 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

43.1 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)

(b) Associates

(9]

(d)

Associates are all entities over which the Group
has significant influence but not control or
joint control. This is generally the case where
the Group holds between 20% and 50% of
the voting rights. Investments in associates
are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting (see (d) below), after initially being
recognised at cost.

Joint arrangements

Under HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements
investments in joint arrangements are classified
as either joint operations or joint ventures. The
classification depends on the contractual rights
and obligations of each investor, rather than
the legal structure of the joint arrangement. The
Group has a joint venture.

Interests in joint ventures are accounted for
using the equity method (see (d) below),
after initially being recognised at cost in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the
investment is initially recognised at cost. The
Group’s interests in associates and joint ventures
include goodwill (net of any accumulated
impairment loss) identified on acquisition.
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost
of an acquisition over the fair value of the
Group’s share of the net identifiable assets of
the acquired associates and joint ventures at
the date of acquisition. Goodwill arising on
acquisitions of associates and joint ventures
is included in interests in associates and joint
ventures and are tested for impairment as part
of overall balance.

43
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eI mRMEE

43 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

43.1 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)

(d)

Equity method (Continued)

The Group's share of the post-acquisition
profits or losses of the investee in profit or loss,
and the Group’s share of movements in other
comprehensive income of the investee in other
comprehensive income. Dividends received or
receivable from associates and joint venture are
recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount
of the investment.

When the Group’s share of losses in an equity-
accounted investment equals or exceeds its
interest in the entity, including any other
unsecured long-term receivables, the Group
does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on
behalf of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the
Group and its associates and joint venture
are eliminated to the extent of the Group's
interest in these entities. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity
accounted investees have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED FHHEEHFIZERERA A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

43 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

43.1 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)

(e)

Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-
controlling interests that do not result in a loss of
control as transactions with equity owners of the
Group. A change in ownership interest results
in an adjustment between the carrying amounts
of the controlling and non-controlling interests
to reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary.
Any difference between the amount of the
adjustment to non-controlling interests and any
consideration paid or received is recognised in
a separate reserve within equity attributable to
owners of the Company.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity
account for an investment because of a loss of
control, joint control or significant influence,
any retained interest in the entity is remeasured
to its fair value with the change in carrying
amount recognised in profit or loss. This fair
value becomes the initial carrying amount for
the purposes of subsequently accounting for the
retained interest as an associate, joint venture
or financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are accounted
for as if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. This may mean
that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit
or loss or transferred to another category of
equity as specified or permitted by applicable
HKFRSs.

If the ownership interest in a joint venture
or an associate is reduced but joint control
or significant influence is retained, only a
proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.
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C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eI mRMEE

43 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

43.2 Business combination

The Group applies the acquisition method to account
for all business combinations, regardless of whether
equity instruments or other assets are acquired. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a

subsidiary comprises the:

. fair values of the assets transferred;

° liabilities incurred to the former owners of the

acquired business;

o equity interests issued by the Group;

o fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a

contingent consideration arrangement; and

o fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in

the subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are, with limited exceptions, measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The
Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquired entity's net

identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

43 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

43.2 Business combination (Continued)

The excess of the:
° consideration transferred;

o amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity; and

o acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity
interest in the acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are
less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets
of the business acquired, the difference is recognised
directly in profit or loss as a bargain purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration
is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are
discounted to their present value as at the date of
exchange. The discount rates used is the entity’s
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which
a similar borrowing could be obtained from an
independent financier under comparable terms and
conditions. Contingent consideration is classified either
as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a
financial liability are subsequently re-measured to fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquired entity is
re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any
gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eI mRMEE

43 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

43.3 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets
including goodwill.

43.4 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating
decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the executive
directors who make strategic decisions.

43.5 Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’'s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HK$, which
is the Company’s functional and the Group’s
presentation currency.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MR

43 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING 43 HMEFBREHME @)

POLICIES (Continued)
43.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

43.5 SMNEEAE (&)
(b)) XBRAEE

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange

SEXHRZHE BB
TEEREAD LN -

rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. INERZ G HEERIRFRE
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting EMB NS ERN T
from the settlement of such transactions and BENMBEMESENIMNE

from the translation at year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings are presented in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, within
finance cost. All other foreign exchange gains
and losses are presented in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income on a net
basis within “other losses, net”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using
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value was determined. Translation differences EEZQF&EJ 2 T =
on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are ERARNFERZHE

reported as part of the fair value gain or loss.
For example, translation differences on non-
monetary assets and liabilities such as equities
held at FVPL are recognised in profit or loss as
part of the fair value gain or loss and translation
differences on non-monetary assets such as
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eI mRMEE

43 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

43.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the
Group's entities (none of which has the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy), that
have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

() assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated
at the closing rate at the date of that
statement of financial position;

(i) income and expenses for each statement
of comprehensive income are translated
at average exchange rates (unless this
average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are
translated at the dates of the transactions);
and

(i) all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive
income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of any net investment in
foreign entities, and of borrowings and other
financial instruments designated as hedges
of such investments, are recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign
operation is sold or any borrowings forming
part of the net investment are repaid, the
associated exchange differences are reclassified
to the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, as part of the gain or loss on sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

43 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

43.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(©

(d)

Group companies (Continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated
as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity
and translated at the closing rate. Currency
translation differences arising are recognised
in consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

Disposal of foreign operation and partial
disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that
is, a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in
a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of
joint control over a joint venture that includes
a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of significant influence over an associate
that includes a foreign operation), all of the
currency translation differences accumulated in
equity in respect of that operation attributable
to the owners of the Company are reclassified
to consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

In the case of a partial disposal that does
not result in the Group losing control over a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the
proportionate share of accumulated currency
translation differences are re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in
profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (that
is, reductions in the Group’s ownership interest
in associates or joint ventures that do not result
in the Group losing significant influence or
joint control), the proportionate share of the
accumulated exchange difference is reclassified
to consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eI mRMEE

43 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

43.6 Investment properties

Investment properties, principally comprising leasehold
land and buildings, are held for long-term rental
yields, and that are not occupied by the Group.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including related transaction costs.

Subsequent expenditure is charged to the carrying
amount of the asset only when it is probable that
future economic benefits associated with the asset will
flow to the Group and the cost of the asset can be
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance
costs are expensed in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income during the financial period in
which they are incurred.

Investment properties are stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment loss, if any.
They are depreciated using the straight-line method
over their estimated useful lives or over the unexpired
periods of the leases, whichever is shorter.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

43 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

43.7 Investments and other financial assets

(a)

(b)

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income, or through profit or loss); and

. those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s
business model for managing the financial assets
and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or
other comprehensive income. For investments in
equity instruments that are not held for trading,
this will depend on whether the Group has
made an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment
at FVOCI.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when
and only when its business model for managing
those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Financial assets are derecognised when
the rights to receive cash flows from the financial
assets have expired or have been transferred and
the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership. Receivables are
subsequently carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eI mRMEE

43 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING 43 HMHEEHRE @)
POLICIES (Continued)
43.7 Investments and other financial assets 437 RERHMWESRMEE (&)
(Continued)
(c) Measurement (0 FE

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case
of a financial asset not at FVPL, transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition
of the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial asset carried at FVPL are expensed in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’'s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held
for collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. Interest
income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition is recognised
directly in profit or loss and presented in
“other losses, net” together with foreign
exchange gains and losses. Impairment
losses are presented as separate line
item in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

43 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

43.7 Investments and other financial assets

(Continued)

(c) Measurement

Debt

instruments (Continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows and for selling
the financial assets, where the assets’
cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest, are measured at
FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount
are taken through other comprehensive
income, except for the recognition of
impairment gains or losses, interest
revenue and foreign exchange gains
and losses which are recognised in
profit or loss. When the financial asset
is derecognised, the cumulative gain
or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss and recognised
in “other losses, net”. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective interest
rate method. Foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented in “other losses, net”
and impairment expenses are presented
as separate line item in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the
criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are
measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt
investment that is subsequently measured
at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss and
presented in “other losses, net” in the
period in which it arises.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eI mRMEE

43 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

43.7 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(9]

(d)

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

Measurement (Continued)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in other
comprehensive income, there is no subsequent
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to
profit or loss following the derecognition of the
investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in profit or loss as
other income when the Group’s right to receive
payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial asset at
FVPL are recognised in “other losses, net” in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income as applicable. Impairment losses
(and reversal of impairment losses) on equity
investments measured at FVOCI are not reported
separately from other changes in fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its
debt instruments carried at amortised cost and
FVOCI. The impairment methodology applied
depends on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9,
which requires expected lifetime losses to
be recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables, see Note 3 for further details.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MR

43 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING 43 HMEFBREHME @)
POLICIES (Continued)

43.8 Offsetting financial instruments

438 EEESMT A

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the consolidated statement
of financial position when the Group currently has
a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
amounts, and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

43.9 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-
in, first out (“FIFO") method. Net realisable value is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less applicable variable selling expenses.

43.10 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from clients,
commercial companies and local government for
services rendered and goods sold in the ordinary
course of business. If collection of trade and other
receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer),
they are classified as current assets. If not, they are
presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair values
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less allowance for
impairment.

43.11 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with
financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months
or less that are readily convertible to known amounts
of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts
are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eI mRMEE

43 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

43.12 Share capital

43 HMEHBERHBE @)

43.12 B A&

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of
new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of
tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company’s
equity instruments, for example as the result of a
share buy-back or a share-based payment plan, the
consideration paid, including any directly attributable
incremental costs (net of income taxes) is deducted
from equity attributable to the owners of the
Company as treasury shares until the shares are
cancelled or reissued. Where such ordinary shares are
subsequently reissued, any consideration received, net
of any directly attributable incremental transaction
costs and the related income tax effects, is included in
equity attributable to the owners of the Company.

Shares held by the Company Employee Share Trust are
disclosed as treasury shares and deducted from equity.

43.13 Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Trade and other payables
are classified as current liabilities if payment is due
within one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are
presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

43 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

43.14 Other payables

Other payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

43.15 Borrowings and borrowing costs

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently carried at amortised cost; any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and
the redemption value is recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income over the period
of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of
the reporting period.

General and specific borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the
cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income in
the year in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eI mRMEE

43 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

43.16 Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including
non-monetary benefits that are expected to
be settled wholly within 12 months after the
end of the period in which the employees
render the related service are recognised in
respect of employees’ services up to the end of
the reporting period and are measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities
are settled. The liabilities are presented as
accruals and other payables in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Pension obligations

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan
under which the Group pays fixed contributions
into a separate entity. The Group has no legal
or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient
assets to pay all employees the benefits relating
to employee service in the current and prior
periods. A defined benefit plan is a pension plan
that is not a defined contribution plan.

For defined contribution plans, the Group
pays contributions to publicly or privately
administered pension insurance plans on a
mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The
Group has no further payment obligations
once the contributions have been paid. The
contributions are recognised as employee
benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid
contributions are recognised as an asset to the
extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the
future payments is available.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MR

43 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING 43 HMEFBREHME @)
POLICIES (Continued)
43.16 Employee benefits (Continued) 316 EEER (&)
(b) Bonus entitlements (c) TFEALEF

The Group recognises a liability and an expense
for bonuses, based on a formula that takes
into consideration the profit attributable to
the Company’s shareholders after certain
adjustments. The Group recognises a provision
where contractually obliged or where there is
a past practice that has created a constructive
obligation.

43.17 Share-based payments
(a) Equity-settled share-based payment

transactions

The Group operates equity-settled, share-
based compensation plans, under which
the entity receives services from grantees as
consideration for equity instruments (options) of
the Group. The fair value of the services received
in exchange for the grant of the options is
recognised as an expense. The total amount to
be expensed is determined by reference to the
fair value of the options granted:

o including any market performance
conditions (for example, an entity’s share
price);

o excluding the impact of any service
and non-market performance vesting
conditions (for example, profitability,
sales growth targets and remaining an
employee of the entity over a specified
time period); and

o including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement
for grantees to save or holding shares for
a specified period of time).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eI mRMEE

43 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

43.17 Share-based payments (Continued)

(a)

(b)

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions (Continued)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options
that are expected to vest based on the non-
marketing performance and service conditions. It
recognises the impact of the revision to original
estimates, if any, in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company
issues new shares. The proceeds received net
of any directly attributable transaction costs are
credited to share capital.

Share-based payment transactions among
group entities

The grant by the Company of options over its
equity instruments to the senior management,
ophthalmologists, physicians, employees and
consultants of subsidiary undertakings in the
Group is treated as a capital contribution.
The fair value of services received, measured
by reference to the grant date fair value, is
recognised over the vesting period as an increase
to investment in subsidiary undertakings, with
a corresponding credit to equity in the parent
entity accounts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MR

43 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING 43 HMEFBREHME @)
POLICIES (Continued)
43.18 Provisions 43.18 B 15

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation; and the
amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not
recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class of
obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even
if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one
item included in the same class of obligations may be
small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to passage of time is recognised as
interest expense.

43.19 Provision for reinstatement cost

Provision for reinstatement cost is included in other
payables and represents the present value of the
estimated cost for the restoration work of the Group’s
leased premises agreed to be carried out upon the
expiry of the relevant leases using a risk-free pre-
tax interest rate. The provision has been determined
by the directors based on their best estimates. The
related reinstatement costs, upon initial recognition,
have been included as leasehold improvements in the
consolidated statement of financial position (Note 13).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eI mRMEE

43 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

43.20 (Loss)/earnings per share

(a) Basic (loss)/earnings per share

Basic (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by

dividing:

J the (loss)/profit attributable to owners
of the company, excluding any costs of
servicing equity other than ordinary shares

o by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the
financial year, adjusted for bonus elements
in ordinary shares issued during the year
and excluding treasury shares.

(b) Diluted (loss)/earnings per share

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share adjusts the
figures used in the determination of basic (loss)/
earnings per share to take into account:

o the after-income tax effect of interest
and other financing costs associated with
dilutive potential ordinary shares, and

o the weighted average number of
additional ordinary shares that would have
been outstanding assuming the conversion
of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

43.21 Interest income

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a

financial asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MR

43 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING 43 HMEFBREHME @)
POLICIES (Continued)
43.22 Leases 302HE

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to the lease and non-lease components
based on their relative stand-alone prices. However,
for leases of real estate for which the Group is a
lessee, it has elected not to separate lease and non-
lease components and instead accounts for these as a
single lease component.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable

o variable lease payment that are based on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the index
or rate as at the commencement date

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise that
option, and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising
that option.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eI mRMEE

43 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

43.22 Leases (Continued)

Lease payments to be made under reasonably
certain extension options are also included in the
measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in
the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is
used, being the rate that the individual lessee would
have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain
an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in
a similar economic environment with similar terms,
security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group:

o where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting
point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing
conditions since third party financing was
received

o uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-
free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for
leases held by the Group, which does not have
recent third party financing, and

o makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.qg.
term, country, currency and security.

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available
to the individual lessee (through recent financing or
market data) which has a similar payment profile to
the lease, then the group entities use that rate as a
starting point to determine the incremental borrowing
rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MR

43 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING 43 HMEFBREHME @)
POLICIES (Continued)

43.22 Leases (Continued) B0 HEEE

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in
variable lease payments based on an index or rate,
which are not included in the lease liability until they
take effect. When adjustments to lease payments
based on an index or rate take effect, the lease liability
is reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use
asset.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or
loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of
the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising
the following:

. the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received

. any initial direct costs, and
o restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset
is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.
While the Group revalues its land and buildings that
are presented within property, plant and equipment, it
has chosen not to do so for the right-of-use buildings
held by the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eI mRMEE

43 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

43.22 Leases (Continued)

43 HMEHBERHBE @)

43.22 HE (&)

Payments associated with short-term leases of
equipment and vehicles and all leases of low-value
assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an
expense in profit or loss without a purchases option.
Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of
12 months or less. Low-value assets comprise IT
equipment and small items of office furniture.

Land use rights are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, if
any. Cost represents consideration paid for the right to
use the land on which various plants and buildings are
situated for a period from 13 to 40 years. Amortisation
of land use rights is calculated on a straight-line basis
over the period of leases.

43.23 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders
is recognised as a liability in the consolidated financial
statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors,
where appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

43 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

43.24 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the
tax payable on the current period’s taxable income
based on the applicable income tax rate for each
jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets
and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and
to unused tax losses.

(a)

(b)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated
on the basis of the tax laws enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period in the countries where the
Group’s subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions
taken in tax returns with respect to situations
in which applicable tax regulation is subject
to interpretation and considers whether it is
probable that a taxation authority will accept an
uncertain tax treatment. The Group measures
its tax balances either based on the most likely
amount or the expected value, depending on
which method provides a better prediction of
the resolution of the uncertainty.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if they arise from
the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred
income tax is also not accounted for if it arises
from initial recognition of an asset or liability in
a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and
laws) that have been enacted or substantially
enacted by the date of statement of financial
position and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or
the deferred income tax liability is settled.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eI mRMEE

43 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

43.24 Current and deferred income tax

(b) Deferred income tax (Continued)

(9]

C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only
to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profit will be available to utilise those
temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not
recognised for temporary differences between
the carrying amount and tax bases of
investments in foreign operations where the
Company is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

Offsetting

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset
where there is a legally enforceable right to
offset current tax assets and liabilities and where
the deferred tax balances relate to the same
taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax
liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit
or loss, except to the extent that it relates to
items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBmRMETE
43 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING 43 HtE7tBERME @)
POLICIES (Continued)
43.25 Government grants 3255 BF#EBE
Grants from the government are recognised at their BN REE BREFES
fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that W AXREBEREMBHT
the grant will be received and the Group will comply &R LT ERER -
with all attached conditions.
Government grants relating to costs are deferred BRRK AR B B 8 BN B & R Bl
and recognised in the profit or loss over the period SRABEMENKRAMRESH
necessary to match them with the costs that they are A RN FE 18 2 N FERR o

intended to compensate.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 —ZE_-_EFER 247



Financial Information Summary
M ENRE

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, prepared on the basis as set
out herein, is set out below:

AREBRANHEHN 2 EEFHRBERE
MRFEMNCTRXE BERABEMEZ
o

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HLLEE
2023 2022 pAA 2020

2023 F 2022 F 2021 & 20204

HK$'

000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TAT TAET TAET TAT

2024
20245
HK$000
FET
Results E4
Revenue LON 1,913,162
Gross profit EF 527,619
Profit/(loss) for the year FRFE/ (FE) (108,314)
Profit/(loss) attributable to equity ARRERTEARE
holders of the Company ERFE/ (EB) (135,163)
Earnings before interest, taxes, BE B TEREH
depreciation and amortisation® RIZ O 146,487
Gross profit margin (%) EFE (%) 27.6%
Net profit margin (%) F I & (%) N/A
TEA

Earnings/(loss) per share for profit! £RAQFEREEA
(loss) attributable to equity GRS,/ (FE) M
holders of the Company during ~ SKREH,/ (F#8)
the year (expressed in HK cents ~ (LABRELZIR)

per share)

— Basic -EK (10.96)
- Diluted -8 (10.96)

Assets and liabilities EERBE

Total assets BELE 2,720,152

Total liabilities BELT 830,241

Total equity e 1,889,911

Note:

(1) This is not a measure of performance under HKFRS, but is widely
used by management for monitoring business performance of a
company from operational perspective. It may not be comparable to
similar measures presented by other companies.

248 C-MER MEDICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED FHHEEHFIZERERA A

1,923,
618,
86,

61,

9%4 1,731,903 1,112,577 699,545
962 447,697 358,228 194,077
335 (46,225) 16,230 (8,412)

998 (21,875) 21,861 (6,246)

343,491 225,351 183,976 121,362

32.2% 25.9% 32.2% 27.7%
N/A N/A

4.5% il 1.5% yiti
494 (1.77) 1.90 (0.57)
494 (1.77) 1.90 (0.57)

2,748,635 2,901,687 1955877 1,629,211
755,349 903,448 618,634 331,980
1,993286 1,998,239 1,337,243 1,297,231

GEE

Q)

BB BHBRELANORANE -
EEEREER  EEATRERAR
SELE RN P EE NS TE
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